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CORPORATE PROFILE
LT @5

China Fortune Holdings Limited (“China Fortune” or the “"Group”),
formerly named Fortune Telecom Holdings Limited, mainly sells
and distributes mobile phones and digital products in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Group was established in Hong
Kong in 1992. It was first listed on the GEM Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 8040) on 16 February
2000, and successfully transferred to the Main Board (Stock code:
110) on 26 January 2004. The Group has a strong shareholder
background and well operational and professional management
team.

In 2007, the Group acquired Zhuhai Reminda Telecom Equipment
Company Limited which was a company selling mobile phones
and telecommunication equipments in the PRC.

In 2009, the Group acquired a Strontium mining site in the PRC, as
its first step in entering the natural resource industry.

In 2019, Beijing Feiying accounted for as a subsidiary of the
Company and can consolidate Beijing Feiying’s results into the
Group’s accounts. The Group tap into the used mobile phones

and mobile app market in the PRC.

In 2020, the Group has stripped off the used mobile phones and
mobile app market in the PRC. Beijing Feiying no longer be
accounted for as a subsidiary of the Company and account for it
as an associate of the Company.

In 2021, the Group tap into eco-friendly bag automatic bag taking
machine together with the database traffic monetisation from
mobile application business called Beijing Daizhangmen, in the
PRC.

The corporate culture of the Group rests on the integration of the
West and the East, modern and traditional management
philosophy, with an aim to build up a “Continuous Learning
Enterprise”. The corporate spirit of China Fortune focuses on
“Human Enterprise”. Under the leadership of its aspiring and
energetic management, China Fortune's staff will team up and
move towards the Group's goal of ranking as one of the largest
and best wireless communication and data products and services
providers in the region.
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The Group has achieved a record
annual sale of 2.1 million sets of

mobile phones and a record net
FEB profit over HK60 million.
18 HREHTHE 00004 BHT:
The former trading arm of FIE1860,000,00078 CALR % °
the Group - Express Fortune
Limited ("EFL") was founded
by Mr. Lau Siu Ying and JUN
his brothers in Hong Kong.
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SEFT —— FEB

A US$16 million syndicated loan
was successfully arranged.

% HE— 816,000,000 T2

Contracted to acquire 51% stake in
Zhuhai Reminda Telecom Equipment
Company Limited (38T EBER
MEHERAF) and completed the

s
B acquisition in October 2007.
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Fortune Shanghai increased its
share capital from US$6 million to SEPT
US$25 million.
B EESHEE T . )
ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬂgébﬁﬁieﬁgomoim Formed a joint venture with
rihEeo UL TeleChoice International Limited for
the Nokia fulfillment business.
DEC £dTeleChoice International Limited
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Successfully completed the
acquisition of 100% shareholdings
of Synergy Technologies (Asia) oCT Tapinto the used
Limited, and the disposal of 46% 18 mobile phones and

shareholdings of Synergy Pacific.
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mobile app market

Name changed to China Fortune inthe PRC.
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Newly obtained the
nationwide distributorship of
Samsung mobile phones.
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SEPT

Successfully obtained the
Fulfilment Distributorship
for all Nokia Stores in the
PRC.
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Completed the
acquisition of 50.8%
interest in Sifa Mining
which has the right to
conduct mining
activities in a Celestite
(Strontium), Zinc and
Lead mining Site
situated in the Hubei
Province, the PRC.
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Tap into eco-friendly
bag automatic bag
taking machine and
database traffic
monetisation
business in the PRC.

RERERRSNT
BSRRYERRE
2HE -



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBEE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Fortune Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present to our shareholders the consolidated results and prospects
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

REVIEW

In 2023, the international geopolitical risks remain high and the
instability of economic environment brought unprecedented
impact and operation of various industries. As the global economy
has been in deep recession, the China economy was also suffered
from international trade plunged and financial market was
fluctuated. The mobile phone and electronic products market in
China has undoubtedly been hit hard.
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Customer’s focus is expected to shift gradually from the
functionality of mobile phone to the shopping experience and, in
this regard, the large mobile telecommunication chain stores have
advantages under the high internal consumption. In order to
diversify the business of the Group, we have been actively looking
for opportunities which will further enhance the shareholders’
value. Since we have been in the mobile phone industry for
decades, and the potential for mobile phone related business
development is surely enormous and sustainable. The Group will
continue to strengthen its major business area including big data,
mobile phone operating system and mobile internet.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023
increased by approximately 1.1% to HK$81.5 million when
compared with the year ended 31 December 2022. Loss for the
year decreased to HK$15.1 million when compared with loss of
HK$20.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 due to
strict spending budgets.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECT

The world becomes even more and more challenging nowadays,
5o as the mobile phone industry in China. As China is one of the
strongest countries in terms of economic performance, and with
its huge internal consumption and room for expansion. Although
there is keen competition in the industry, development potential is
still enormous. The Group will continue to strengthen our existing
relationship with the leading manufacturers and customers to look
for further cooperation opportunities.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBES

Apart from strengthening our current principal business in the
trading of mobile phone and electronic products business, the
Group has tapped into a new business in the PRC which mainly
involving eco-friendly bag automatic bag taking machine and
database traffic monetisation in September 2021. To cope with
the policy in reducing plastic waste and shopping bags in the PRC,
the Group is attempting to tap in the new business with an aim to
supporting the plastic ban, protect resources and seek for
shareholders’ return.

The recent global economy recession would foreseeably have an
adverse impact of the worldwide wholesale, retail environment
and as well as our business. There is an ongoing concern on
customers spending power and weakening the global economy.
In 2024, the Group will continue to actively seek and grasp market
opportunities and increase the depth and breadth of our sources
of revenue in order to generate satisfactory returns for
shareholders on a continuous basis.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all staff members and management team for their
dedication and contribution, and to our shareholders and business
partners for their support. Looking forward, the Group will keep a
closer watch on changes in the market and seize development
opportunities that can generate maximum value for the Company
and its shareholders.

Lau Siu Ying
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total
revenue of HK$81.5 million, which was approximately HK$0.9
million or 1.1% higher than the revenue of HK$80.6 million
reported in 2022. The increase in Group’s revenue was solely due
to the increase in revenue from mobile phone and electronic
products trading business in PRC and Hong Kong. The Group's
revenue was derived from mobile phone and electronic products
trading business in PRC and Hong Kong in both years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue from mobile
phone and electronic products trading business was HK$81.5
million, contribution from Shanghai and Hong Kong was HK$14.9
million and HK$66.6 million respectively, representing 18.3% and
81.7% of the total revenue of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue from mobile
phone and electronic products trading business was HK$80.6
million, contribution from Shanghai and Hong Kong was HK$41.1
million and HK$39.5 million respectively, representing 51.0% and
49.0% of the total revenue of the Group.

The low level of revenue was due to global economic slowdown,
which adverse impact the wholesale and retail of mobile phone
and electronic products markets in the PRC. Besides, China’s
consumers pulling back on spending have taken a toll on its
mobile phone retail market which is stalled and declining, the
sales of the Group were scaled back in both years.

Compared with 2022, the Group's revenue contribution from
Shanghai decreased from 51.0% to 18.3%, Hong Kong increased
from 49.0% to 81.7%. The main reason is the Group has adopted
a supply chain diversification strategies to maintain and strengthen
our mobile phone and electronic products business in the market
and Group's performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBWRES

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit and gross profit margin were HK$0.4
million or 0.5% and HK$0.3 million or 0.4% for the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively. The low gross profit
and gross profit margin were due to the scaled back in Group’s
performance on mobile phone and electronic products trading
business for both years.

The low gross profit margin was due to the increased bargaining
power from telecommunications chain stores and mobile carriers
which purchasing mobile phone and electronic products and
underperformance of promotion of the mobile application to
consumers business.

Other income

Other income was approximately HK$2.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, as compared to approximately HK$2.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group's other income mainly attributable to HK$1.8 million of
database traffic monetisation generated from our mobile
applications business for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$1.6 million).

Other gains and losses, net

We had a net gains of HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 and a net losses of HK$1.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net gains mainly
consisted of gain on disposal of a subsidiary of HK$1.9 million, fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
HK$0.6 million and impairment loss recognised in respect of
interests in associates of HK$1.1 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the net losses mainly
consisted of loss on disposal of a subsidiary of HK$0.9 million, fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value of through profit or loss
of HK$0.4 million and impairment loss recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables of HK$0.3 million.

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs were approximately HK$0.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to HK$0.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group’s selling and distribution costs were primarily composed
of logistics and transportation rental expenses and travelling
expenses.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by HK$3.1 million
or 14.9% from approximately HK$20.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 to approximately HK$17.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Balance mainly included salaries and
allowances, rental expenses, legal and professional fees and
travelling expenses.

The decrease of administrative expenses of HK$3.1 million was
principally attributable to the decrease in salaries and allowances
and promotion expenses incurred by Beijing Daizhangmen
database traffic monetisation of mobile application business due
to strict expenses policy implemented.

Finance costs

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, finance
costs were amounted to approximately HK$0.1 million and
HK$0.2 million, respectively. The finance costs solely represented
interest on lease liabilities for both years.

Income tax expense

As set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements,
income tax expense amounted to approximately HK$22 thousand
for the year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to income
tax expense of HK$3 thousand in last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBWRES

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

As a result of the factors set out above, the Group’s loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$12.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, as compared to loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$14.4 million in last year.

Loss per share
The basic loss per share was HK6.39 cents in current year as
compared to the basic loss per share of HK7.83 cents in last year.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group held various
unlisted equity investments (2023: nil; 2022: HK$67 thousand),
unlisted fund investment (2023: HK$1.3 million; 2022: HK$2.0
million) and listed equity investments in the PRC (2023: HK$0.6
million; 2022: HK$0.6 million) engaged in developing mobile
devices and operating system, manufacturing and distribution of
mobile devices in different jurisdictions and engaged in different
business.

Unlisted fund investment of approximately HK$1.3 million (2022:
HK$2.0 million) represented the investment of 13.3% in the
equity interest of a fund which focuses on the investment in the
property market, including a property development project carried
in PRC. Listed equity investments in the PRC of approximately
HK$0.6 million (2022: HK$0.6 million) represented the Group’s
listed equity investments in the ordinary shares of entities listed on
Shanghai/Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Details of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Inventories

As at 31 December 2023, HK$2.0 million of inventories were
recognised, while HK$0.9 million of inventories were recognised
as at 31 December 2022. The increase in inventories were due to
purchases of mobile phone and electronic products approximately
HK$2.0 million before the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables of the Group increased by HK$18.2
million from approximately HK$1.3 million as at 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$19.5 million as at 31 December 2023.
The increase in trade and other receivables was mainly due to the
increase in trade receivables of HK$17.3 million as at 31 December
2023 (2023: HK$17.3 million; 2022: nil), due to sales of
approximately HK$32.0 million before the year ended of 31
December 2023.

The entire trade receivables balances of HK$17.3 million have
been subsequently settled as at this report date.

Cash and cash equivalents

The total cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$11.9 million as at 31 December 2023 as compared to
approximately HK$6.2 million as at 31 December 2022, without
any deposit pledged to banks. The increase of cash and cash
equivalents mainly attributable to the subscriptions of new shares
under general mandate have been completed in July 2023, which
the net proceeds amounted to approximately HK$7.2 million. The
Group is financed by a combination of its equity capital, cash flow
generated from its operation.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its financial and treasury policies. During the
year, we were on track with this approach to maintain a healthy
liquidity position. The Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time. The Group may utilise the
balance of cash for appropriate investment in accordance with the
Group's strategic direction and development.
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During the year, there was no material change in the funding and
treasury policy of the Group. The Group considers there is no
material potential currency exposure as the majority of its revenue
and expenses are derived and incurred in Hong Kong dollars in
Hong Kong and Renminbi in PRC. It is the treasury policy of the
Group to manage its foreign currency exposure whenever its
financial impact is material to the Group. We currently do not
have a foreign currency hedging policy.

Trade and other payables

The trade and other payables of the Group increased by
approximately HK$20.5 million from approximately HK$21.1
million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$41.6 million
as at 31 December 2023.

The increase in trade and other payables was mainly due to the
increase in trade payables of HK$18.1 million as at 31 December
2023 (2023: HK$19.1 million; 2022: HK$1.0 million), due to
purchases of approximately HK$31.8 million before the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Balances also consisted of value-added-tax payables (2023: HK$2
thousand; 2022: HK$22 thousand), prepayment from customers
(2023: HK$1.0 million; 2022: HK$1.2 million), other payables and
accruals (2023: HK$9.6 million; 2022: HK$7.1 million) and
provision for close down and restoration costs of Sifa mine (2023:
HK$11.8 million; 2022: HK$11.8 million).

Other payables and accruals mainly consisted of accruals for
directors’ emoluments, staff costs, auditor’s remuneration, legal
and professional fees and rental payable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and gearing ratio

The net asset value of the Group attributable to owners of the
Company as at 31 December 2023 amounted to HK$28.0 million
or HK$0.14 per share when compared to HK$35.7 million or
HK$0.19 per share as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December
2023, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$21.8 million when compared to net current liabilities of
HK$15.5 million as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a current ratio of 0.61
times (31 December 2022: 0.37 times). The gearing ratio of the
Group, defined as the ratio of the total long term liabilities to the
equity attributable to owners of the Company, was 0.02 and 0.01
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any capital
expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of leasehold improvements (31
December 2022: Nil).

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities or guarantees (31 December 2022: Nil).

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries or
associates

On 30 June 2023, Fortune Wayal Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Fortune Telecom Retail Chain Holdings Limited,
“Fortune Wayal”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an agreement with a non-controlling
shareholder of Bk /& M E R Z B &KX E A B 2 7 (“Zhuhai
Reminda”), pursuant to which Fortune Wayal agreed to sell the
entire equity interest of Zhuhai Reminda for a total consideration
of RMB1 (the “Disposal”). The Disposal was completed on 6 July
2023.
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Other than the disposal of Zhuhai Reminda, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries or
associates during the year.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has in total 34 employees as
compared to 38 employees as at 31 December 2022. All
employees were remunerated according to the nature of their job
duties and market trend. The Group provided staff welfare and
fund contribution to its employees in accordance with the
prevailing regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

During the year, there was no change in the remuneration policy,
bonus scheme and share option scheme. The Group has a share
option scheme under which the Company may grant share
options to the participants, including directors and employees, to
subscribe for shares of the Company.

Significant investments held by the group

As at 31 December 2023, the Group maintained an unlisted fund
investment and three listed equity investments in the PRC at fair
value through profit and loss with a total fair value of
approximately HK$1.9 million. Details of the Group’s significant
investments as at 31 December 2023 are set out as follows:
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Percentage of

the fair

value of the

Percentage of  investment

shareholding to total Fairvalue  Gain/(Loss)
heldby ~ assets of ofthe infairvalue  Unrealised  Dividend
the Group  the Group investment forthe loss for the for the
as at as at asat yearended  yearended  yearended
31December  31December  Investment 31December 31December 31December 31 December
Name of the investee fRERLR 2023 a3 Cost plIVE} 2023 203 pl1VE}
RE
DyER Bz Bz
A58 AZE BRIz CRIZE BE
R-BZZE MoBozE i t2AR R R =t
.: I ECZE - =t-A =
-8 =1-H t2R LLFE L8 =1-8
fEhE  HEE2 =t-H AYE AYE 834
AAl EAl  REAK REATE WE/(FE) AEREE RS
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
FEn T Fién FEn T
Unlisted fund investment FruBéRg
FuDing He Equity Fund Management ~ ERARERAEEER  1330% 3.34% 2,00 1,300 (694) (900) -
(Tianjin) Limited (S & AR B & (X#)ERAT
ESEE(XR)ARAR)
Listed equity investments in the PRC  RePELZ L RERE
Caissa Tosun Development Co, Ltd.  SIERBREERRHER 0.11%00 0.19% 667 IE; (45) (594) -
A
Visionox Technology Inc. BEEMBROERAT  027%« 1.20% 1,000 469 206 (531) -
Qinghai Spring Medicinal Resources ~~ ERFRERE R 0.20%a0 0.26% m 100 (60) (172) -
Technology Co, Ltd RiAERAR
Performance and prospects of the investee HEREAFZERERAIS

Fu Ding He Equity Fund Management (Tianjin) Limited

The Group's unlisted investment fund represents an investment of
13.3% equity interest in a fund which focuses on the investment
in the property market, i.e. a property development project in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") (the “Fund”). The Fund is
managed by Fu Ding He Equity Fund Management (Tianjin)
Limited (B2 S F R EREEZ S ER(XRZE) FR A A) (the
“Manager”), an independent Fund Manager who was registered
under the Asset Management Association of China (1 BI#& % %
& E & ¥ % 2) and is also responsible to manage certain real
estate funds and schemes in the PRC.
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In view of the uncertainty of the PRC property market in 2023, the
Manager considered that the realisation of the property project
would be deferred and thus, the fair value of the unlisted
investment fund decreased from RMB2.1 million as at 31
December 2022 to RMB1.3 million as at 31 December 2023. The
fair values of unlisted investment fund were determined by
independent professional valuer engaged by the Company using
discount cash flow model. The directors of the Company intend to
hold these investments for long term strategic purpose.

Caissa Tosun Development Co., Ltd., Visionox Technology
Inc. and Qinghai Spring Medicinal Resources Technology
Co., Ltd

The Group’s listed equity investments in the PRC represents
investment of ordinary shares of entities, namely Caissa Tosun
Development Co., Ltd., Visionox Technology Inc. and Qinghai
Spring Medicinal Resources Technology Co., Ltd, which listed on
Shanghai/Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The directors of the
Company intend to hold these investments potential for return on
investment in terms of capital appreciation and dividend payment.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not hold any other
significant investment as at 31 December 2023.

Subscriptions of new shares under general mandate
On 27 March 2023 and 30 March 2023, the Company entered
into subscription agreements with independent third parties (the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 28,000,000 shares
of HK$0.26 each for a cash consideration of approximately
HK$7.3 million (“the Subscriptions”). On 4 July 2023, the
Subscriptions have been completed. The net proceeds (after
deduction of all relevant expenses) from the Subscriptions of
approximately HK$7.2 million will be applied as general working
capital of the Group as disclosed in the Announcements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Subsequent events

On 20 March 2024, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with independent third parties (the “Subscribers”),
pursuant to which the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue, a total 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash
consideration of approximately HK$7.8 million (“the 2024
Subscriptions”). At the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the 2024 Subscriptions have not been
completed. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other significant events
subsequent to the reporting period.

Charge on assets
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no charge on assets (31
December 2022: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year (2022: Nil).

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Market Overview
According to the statistics released by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the People’s Republic of China
("MIT"), there were approximately 1.7 billion subscribers to
mobile phone services in the PRC. While there are continuing
intense competitions among the major mobile phone
manufacturers in the PRC, they are trying to cut the distribution
layers by directly supplying to the provincial distributors and
leading retailers with a view to increase their profitability. Because
of this, leading vendors have developed multi-channel distribution
“national distribution”,

models which include “provincial

distribution”, “direct to retail” and “direct to operator”.
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On the other hand, mobile carriers are key participants in the
mobile phone industry chain. The restructuring of mobile carriers
in past years and the issuance of 5G licenses have led to more
intense competition among the mobile carriers. By cooperating
with retailers, especially large mobile telecommunication chain
stores, the mobile carriers can benefit from the retailers’ in-depth
understanding of customer behaviors and spending preferences.
Through such cooperation, the customers will experience more
professional, convenient and integrated customer services. Thus,
large mobile telecommunications chain stores are expected to
become the main sales channel for the mobile carriers for their
bundled mobile phones.

Although China, the world’s largest mobile phone market reached
a saturation point, the 5G economy has seen a huge growth. The
5G mobile phones comes as China launched 5G commercialisation
with the nation’s telecom operators rolling out their 5G data
plans. China has stepped up its pace of 5G development, telecom
operators had deployed 3.4 million 5G base stations at the end of
2023. Over 800 million mobile phone users who have adopted 5G
as of the end of 2023, represented over 50% of mobile phone
users are adopting 5G services, forming the world’s largest 5G
network and accounting over 60 percent of the global 5G base
stations. Moreover, China expected 600,000 5G base stations will
be installed this year to step up expansion of the country’s next-
generation mobile network, while preparing for the development
of the more advanced 6G wireless system in coming years, China
will strive to maintain its leadership in 5G, while planning and
laying the foundation for research and development on 6G
technology.

6G represents the mobile network technology that will succeed
5G, which is still being rolled out in many countries. China, with
the world’s biggest internet population and largest smartphone
market, has already deployed the biggest 5G mobile infrastructure
in the industry. China plans to have 26 5G base stations for every
10,000 people by the end of 2025, as the nation works hard to
build a new digital infrastructure that is intelligent, green, safe
and reliable, based on an estimated national population, means
that the nation aims to have about 3.64 million 5G base stations
by the end of 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Looking back at 2023, China’s mobile phone market declined and
scaled back due to the international trade conflicts escalated, the
uncertainties of economic development and China’s consumers
pulling back on spending, the decline is expected to continue in
the coming years but partially offset with the 5G and 6G
development.

We are pleased and confident to rebuild our network, business
strategy and development as well as improve the Group's financial
performance.

Business Review

Mobile Phone and Electronic Products Business

The Group was involved in the business of trading, wholesale and
retail of mobile phone and electronic products in China. As for the
PRC market, its economy was unstable to weak consumer
demand. Yet, the continuous development of mobile phone and
electronic products market business model intensifying
competition in the retail industry and the uncertainties arising
from the emerging US-China trade war presented challenges the
development of the Group’s operations and performance.

Customers focus is expected to gradually shift from the
functionality of mobile phone to the shopping experience.
Customers will normally require services such as function
presentations, digital phone books synchronization and pre-
installing software, etc, in purchasing a mobile phone. In the 5G
era, the convergence of mobile telecommunications and the
Internet also led to rapid development of value-added business
which requires the retail channels to advance from a pure sales
platform to an integrated service platform. In this regard, the large
mobile telecommunication chain stores have advantages.
Furthermore, we intend to continue growth by diversify the
trading markets, products and distribution channels.
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Mining Business

The Group has once commenced mining site exploitation system
in our Strontium mining site since 2010. After the expiration of a
5-year mining operating permit on 25 September 2012, Sifa
Mining obtained a renewed mining operating permit for 2 years
(the "2-year Permit 2012-2014") from the Ministry of Land and
Resources of the PRC (F1 3 A R 3 A1 T+ &R E)("MLR"),
under which Sifa Mining was allowed to carry out exploration
activities only, but not exploitation activities. The 2-year Permit
2012-2014 was expired on 25 September 2014.

On 27 April 2015, a mining operating permit was granted by MLR
for a term of 2 years from 25 September 2014 to 25 September
2016 under which a restriction was added that no exploitation
activities were allowed but only exploration activities. Such
restriction imposed on the renewed mining permit was basically
the same as the previous mining permit which was approved by
MLR in 2012 whilst the application for mining exploitation permit
is a continuing process.

In the course of applying for further extension after expiry on 25
September 2016, the Department of Land and Resources of Hubei
Province of the PRC (the “DLR") issued an announcement (the
“"DLR Announcement”) published on 29 December 2017 in
respect of the deadline of application for renewal of the expired
mining operating permit.

In the DLR Announcement, the DLR informed the owners of the
expired mining operating permits to furnish the application
procedures for the renewal before 28 February 2018. If the
owners fail to do so, they are responsible to deregister the mining
operating permits before 31 March 2018 by themselves or the
DLR will de-register the permits instead. The Group was unable to
furnish the application before the deadline and therefore,
instructed the Group’s lawyers to clarify with the DLR the Group's
situation as to whether the Group would be allowed to submit a
new application for the mining operating permit in future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Despite great efforts to ascertain with the DLR by the Group’s PRC
lawyers, the Group had been unable to receive a clear and
favourable reply in this regard. As a result and prudent measure, a
full impairment of the mining right of HK$174.6 million and
related plant and equipment of HK$9.0 million had been made
whist all the related deferred tax liabilities of HK$41.1 million had
been derecognised in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2017.

Despite the fact that the above mining right will no longer have
any bearing on the financials of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018, the Directors strived to pursue the ultimate
stance of the DLR in respect of the above mining right in the
interests of the Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group, through its
PRC lawyer, has tried to approach DLR by telephone calls and
resubmission of the letter sent in February 2018 for the
clarification of the Group's situation. However, DLR did not make
reply to the Group’s enquiries.

According to an online search made by the Group’s PRC lawyer to
the Ministry of Natural Resources of the PRC (FfF ¥ A R #
B %A & JR #F) on 20 February 2020, the status of the mining
operating permit has been displayed as “expired”.

Though the DLR is unlikely to grant the mining operating permit
extension to the Company nor mining operating permit to other
market participants at this moment, management will continue to
communicate with their lawyers in the future to resubmit a new
application on the extension of the mining operating permit in the
future.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there has
been no exploration, development or production activity under
Sifa Mining.
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Prospects and Outlook

The China economy is still showing a sign of slowdown resulting
from the US-China trade war that has simmered in current period.
The Group expect the consumption and retail segment will
continue to be affected from the blow of the US-China trade war
facing an uncertain future in the coming years. The mobile phone
market in China was still strong but its growth was obviously
slowing down which resulted from the trade pressure exerted by
the US in the trade war, denting the economic growth in China.

However, the continued economic growth in the PRC is fuelled by
a high internal consumption. As the world’s largest mobile
handset market, there were approximately 1.7 billion handset
subscribers in the PRC which benefit from preferential mobile
internet traffic policies. The significant increase in 5G users and
internet users implies that there are huge business opportunities in
both mobile application and mobile commerce. Since the Group
has been in the related mobile phone industry for decades, big
data, mobile phone operating system and mobile internet would
be surely the key business areas that the Group is interested in.

As the technology for 5G telecommunications networks matured
and was ready for takeoff demand for related equipment has
remained robust. Recent developments in the China market along
with anticipation of aggressive activity from the mobile phone
supply chain have caused us raised our Group short-term 5G
forecast and expect that China will become the lead market in
terms of 5G volume. In light of the increasing uncertainties in the
global economy, the Group will closely monitor changes in the
economic environment and will be proactive and seize
opportunities in Hong Kong and ASEAN trading markets.

With 5G Technology becoming an everyday reality soon, it will
also impact customer experience. With a ten times faster than 4G,
it will be able to fetch real-time intelligence or data, which 5G
might revamp certain customer experience such as smart homes,
smart cars and smart retail. As a result, 5G augments digitalisation
enabled the launch of many new software, applications and
related products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

There is an ongoing concern regarding the development of mobile
phone markets, which hinders customers making sales order.
Moreover, in view of the weakening wholesale and retail markets,
customers would tend to make orders with lower average selling
price, which would possibly lower our Group's gross profit.

Furthermore, the Group has expanded the trading market in Hong
Kong since 2022. Our teams have been making excellent progress
in explore various electronic products for trading. In 2024, we
intend to continue growth by diversifying the trading markets,
products and distribution channels in various overseas countries.

Increase efforts to promote environmental friendly bag
automatic bag taking machine and relevant database traffic
monetisation business (“Daizhangmen”)

“Daizhangmen” business is an integration of intelligent Internet
of Things (“loT") terminal that distributes environmentally friendly
bags for free to customers. By cutting into the demand of offline
environmental protection bags, using the IoT system plus free
model to obtain offline traffic, and completing the traffic
matching of advertisers, so as to realise the commercial closed
loop of database traffic monetisation. That is to complete the
social value of environmental protection, and realise the huge
commercial value under the new economic industry of
environmental protection.

In 2020, the PRC Environmental Protection Bureau issued a new
policy on strengthening the control of plastic pollution, which
made it clear that non-degradable plastic bags will be completely
banned by the end of 2025. It has issued several notices to
promote the implementation of local plastic ban orders, and
various places have issued plastic ban orders one after another,
demonstrating the confidence and determination of the PRC
government in plastic pollution control from the central to the
local level.
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In September 2021, the Group tap into environmental friendly
bag automatic bag taking machine and relevant database traffic
monetisation business to cope with the environmental policy, the
new business has cope with various hospitals, supermarkets,
shopping malls, hotels, clubhouses, residential areas, scenic spots
and pharmacy in the PRC to install such environmental friendly
bags taking machines, in order to generate income from database
traffic monetisation, advertising fees, trading of relevant machines
or maintenance operations.

Starting from June 2022, the database traffic monetisation
business have rebounded and has been growing steadily. In mid-
2022, we have set up own technical team to lay out bag taking
machines to test the new bag picking process, bag delivery data,
consumer feedback and revenue model through our own technical
team, as to set out an efficient bag picking process. When this
model runs through, our own technical team in Beijing will be
responsible for the layout of bag taking machines in the future.

In 2023, Daizhangmen was in the stage of refining and deepening
the market, target to integrate with various environmental friendly
bags brand agents and environmental friendly bags taking
machine manufacturers. As the company’s database traffic
monetisation business is developing in a positive direction as a
whole, which we strongly believe providing free products to
consumers with generating revenue business model enables us to
accumulate greater competitiveness in coming years.

We will continue to make pioneering efforts and pursue new
achievements and innovations in such areas as to seek for new
opportunities and more extensive strategic cooperation and lay a
solid foundation for the stable growth and performance of the
Company in the future. In the long-run, the Group remains
optimistic on the development of environmental related products
and services sector in the PRC.

Lastly, to prepare for future challenges, the Group will stay vigilant
and continue to maintain its prudent financial position and lean
operation. The Group will also keep a close eye on new business
initiatives and other opportunities in order to enhance business
growth and deliver long-term value to its shareholders.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Subscriptions of New Shares under General mandate

On 27 March 2023 and 30 March 2023, the Company entered
into Subscription Agreements with independent third parties (the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 28,000,000
Subscription Shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash consideration of

approximately HK$7.3 million (“the Subscriptions”).

The closing price per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
27 March 2023 and 30 March 2023, being the date of the
Subscription Agreements, were HK$0.295 and HK$0.295,
respectively. The net proceeds from the Subscriptions, after
deduction of relevant costs and expenses, is estimated to be
approximately HK$7.2 million. The net Subscription Price per
Subscription Share, after deduction of relevant costs and expenses,
is estimated to be approximately HK$0.256 per Subscription
Share.

On 4 July 2023, the Subscriptions have been completed. The net
proceeds (after deduction of all relevant expenses) from the
Subscriptions of approximately HK$7.2 million will be applied as
general working capital of the Group as disclosed in the
Announcements.

Subsequent to the reporting period, on 20 March 2024, the
Company entered into Subscription Agreements with independent
third parties (the “Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers
have conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 30,000,000
Subscription Shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash consideration of
approximately HK$7.8 million (“the 2024 Subscriptions”).

The closing price per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
20 March 2024, being the date of the Subscription Agreements,
was HK$0.235. The net proceeds from the 2024 Subscriptions,
after deduction of relevant costs and expenses, is estimated to be
approximately HK$7.76 million will be applied as general working
capital of the Group as disclosed in the Announcement. The net
Subscription Price per Subscription Share, after deduction of
relevant costs and expenses, is estimated to be approximately
HK$0.259 per Subscription Share.
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At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the 2024 Subscriptions have not been completed. Further details
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20 March
2024.

Up to 31 December 2023, approximately HK$3.3 million of the
net proceeds had been utilised by the Group, with breakdown as
follows:

RZERA M%#Ei%ﬁt/ﬁﬁﬂﬂ

L E%Eﬁ%lﬁrﬁﬂimﬁk //ailﬁ
EYINEAN/NYC IS HHF';*%?*P_TIE:H =+
SE:0FN I

HE-_E-_=F+_-_A=+—H  &x&
E 2 F 493,300,000 7 7T HY BT 1§ 30 T8 %
5 BRARIN T ¢

Utilised
Allocation of amount Unutilised
net proceeds for the amount
as disclosed year ended as at
inthe 31 December 31 December
Subscriptions 2023 2023

Z% S
RIBSER —BC=HF S
Fr#Ez t=AR=1t—H —E-=F
P8 sIE Lt¥Ez t=A=+—H
RS CBHASE ZABALE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR FAT FAT
General working capital (Note) —f&&EE % (Mfit) 7,160 3,259 3,901

Note: A further breakdown of the proceeds applied to general working

capital is as follows:

Bt R — B
W -

BeZREHRAZE—THA

HK$'000

FET

— Audit fees — ZHER 618
— Salaries and allowances — EHae NER 1,117
— Office expenses — RAEMAY 326
— Professional fees —HEER 881
— Rental expenses —HEeMAX 289
— Utilities — nAEE 7
— Others — Hftp 21
Total “Et 3,259
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Siu Ying, aged 60, is the founder, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company since 1992. Mr. Lau has
extensive working experiences in the telecommunications industry
for over 25 years and has established solid business contacts in
both Hong Kong and the PRC. Mr. Lau is responsible for directing
the Group’s overall business policy and strategies as well as
overseeing the Group’s business development in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Prior to setting up his business, Mr. Lau worked for
Hutchison Whampoa Group for approximately 5 years, in charge
of the business development of the telecommunications in the
PRC. Mr. Lau holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master degree of
science in Information Technology from the National University of
Ireland, Dublin.

Mr. Lau is currently the trustee in New Asia College of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong and the Board Councilor of China Mobile
Communications Association. In the aspects of social and economic
activities, Mr. Lau is devoted to promoting economic and
educational development. He served as the vice president of the
Hong Kong Association of Jieyang, the honorary president of
Shanghai Chaoshan Chamber of Commerce, Hong Kong and
Macau Director of the Dongguan City Youth Federation and the
vice president of Hong Kong Island Chaoren Association Limited.

Mr. WANG Yu, aged 58, joined the Group in April 2006 and was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in November
2009. Mr. Wang is the General Manager of a subsidiary of the
Company and in-charge of the mining business segment of the
Company. Mr. Wang graduated from Xi'an Jiaotong University
with a master degree and a bachelor degree in Computer Science.
Mr. Wang has more than 10 years working experiences in channel
and distribution management on computer products and mobile
phones with local and multinational companies in the PRC. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Wang was a General Manager of a listed
company in the PRC focusing on IT business.
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Mr. LI Jianwu, aged 41, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company since July 2023. He has over ten years of experience
in mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business administration and a master degree in business
administration from University of South China and Sun Yat-sen
University, in 2003 and 2008, respectively. Mr. Li is currently the
managing director of an equity fund management firm in Hunan of
the People’s Republic of China (the 'PRC’). He is also life associate
member of China Angel Federation (FF B X {# B & [E) and an
executive director of Software Association Blockchain of the PRC (1

BEEtHeRRESS).

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. LAW Chun Kwan, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2012. Dr. Law has
extensive working experience in various business fields including
advertising, telecommunications, information technology and real
estate development in both Hong Kong and the PRC. Dr. Law is
presently engaged in real estate development business in the PRC.
Dr. Law holds a bachelor degree of social science from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong, a master degree of e-business and a
doctorate degree of business administration in information systems
from the Edith Cowan University, Western Australia.

Dr. LO Wai Shun, aged 63, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2018. Dr. Lo holds
a bachelor degree in sciences and a master degree in philosophy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and a doctorate
degree in Physics from Brown University, United States of America
("U.S.A."). He is also Adjunct Professor of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong and Visiting Professor of Peking University (School
of Innovation and Entrepreneurship). Dr. Lo is currently a general
partner of DL Capitals, an angel investment fund focusing on
disruptive and exponential technologies and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in various business fields including intellectual
property commercialization, business models innovation and
technology transfer. Dr. Lo had served as a non-executive director
for various listed companies in Hong Kong from 2000 to 2005.
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Mr. LEUNG Wai Hung, aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee and remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee in July 2021.

Mr. Leung holds a bachelor degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong, and he has been a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Leung has more than 20 years
working experience in various listed companies in Hong Kong
mainly engaged in property business including Cheung Kong
(Holdings) Limited (now known as CK Hutchison Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 001). Mr. Leung also has extensive financial
experience in initial public offering (“IPO"), merger and acquisition
as well as fund raising and is familiar with the business
environment of both Hong Kong and the Mainland China. In
addition, Mr. Leung has extensive experience in real estate
investment trusts (“REIT"). He participated in the IPO setup of the
first private sector REIT, Prosperity REIT (stock code: 808) in Hong
Kong in 2005 and worked for the manager of Fortune REIT (stock
code: 778) as a Finance Director from 2011 to 2012. He has also
worked as the financial controller of Shougang Concord
International Enterprises Company Limited (now known as
Shoucheng Holdings Limited) (stock code: 697) from 2013 to
2018. Mr. Leung was an independent non-executive director of
Beaver Group (Holding) Company Limited (now known as State
Innovation Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8275), a listed company
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited from
September 2017 to February 2021. Mr. Leung has also been an
independent non-executive director of Fineland Living Services
Group Limited (stock code: 9978) since October 2017. Mr. Leung
has been appointed as the Company Secretary and authorised
representative of BeijingWest Industries International Limited
(stock code: 2339) on 11 April 2022. He has also been appointed
as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
audit committee and a member of the nomination committee of
Sino-Ocean Service Holding Limited (stock code: 6677) with effect
from 4 August 2022.
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EFEREREEARMAN

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. SO Chi Kai, was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company, the Financial Controller of the Group and the
authorised representative of the Company in April 2018. Mr. So
holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Honors) in Accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. So has
worked in an international audit firm and various public and
private companies in Hong Kong. In addition, Mr. So has extensive
professional and senior managerial experience in financial
reporting, financial management and company secretarial matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance with a view to assuring the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure to protect the interests of
all shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on the principles and code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices (the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with most of the Code Provisions of the CG Code,
except for the deviations as stated in paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” and “Re-election of
Directors”.

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure the
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner.

Code Provision C.2.1 and B.2.2

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual but Mr. Lau Siu Ying currently
assumes both roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

Code provision B.2.2 states that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at lease once every three years. However, Mr. Lau, being
the Chairman of the Board, does not need to retire by rotation.
Mr. Lau has been in charge of the overall management of the
Company since its incorporation.
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As a result, although Mr. Lau does not need to retire by rotation
and assumes both roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, the Board considers that such
arrangement at the current stage of development of the Group
can facilitate the execution of its business strategies and maximise
the effectiveness of its operations. Nevertheless, through the
supervision from the Board including the Independent Non-
executive Directors, the interests of the shareholders should be
adequately and fairly considered.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company during the year under
review.

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, each of whom has
confirmed that he has complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The Model Code also applies to other specified senior
management of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall accountability

Members of the Board are individually and collectively accountable
to the shareholders for the success and sustainable development
of the Company. The Board provides direction and approval in
relation to matters concerning the Company’s business strategies,
policies and plans whilst the day-to-day business operations are
delegated to the executive management. The Board is accountable
to the shareholders and in discharging its corporate accountability,
every Director of the Company is required to pursue excellence in
the interests of the shareholders and fulfill his fiduciary duties by
applying the required level of skills, care and diligence to a
standard in accordance with the statutory requirements.
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Board composition

The Board currently comprises three Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors of whom all are independent
as defined under the Listing Rules. Independent Non-executive
Directors constitute more than one-third of the Board. The
Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent. To the best knowledge of the Company, there is
no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the members of the Board. Brief biographical particulars of
the Directors are set out on pages 31 to 33.

Re-election of directors

All Non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for
a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company'’s Bye-laws. In accordance with the
relevant provisions in the Bye-laws of the Company, if the
appointment of Directors is made by the Board, the Directors so
appointed must stand for election by the shareholders at the first
annual general meeting following their appointments and all
Directors, except the Chairman, must stand for re-election by the
shareholders by rotation. Separate resolutions are proposed for
the election of each director.

Nomination of directors

The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to
determine the policy for the nomination of Directors, to set out
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
to select and recommend candidates for directorship.
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Board responsibilities and delegation

The Board collectively determines the overall strategies of the
Company, monitors performance and the related risks and
controls in pursuit of the strategic objectives of the Company.
Day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to the
Executive Directors or the officer in charge of each division and
function who is required to report back to the Board. Functions
reserved to the Board and those delegated to management are
reviewed periodically. All Board members have separate and
independent access to the senior management, and are provided
with full and timely information about the conduct of the business
and development of the Company, including monthly reports and
recommendations on significant matters. Should separate
independent professional advice be considered necessary by the
Directors or any Board Committee, independent professional
services would be made available to the Directors or such Board
Committee upon request. The Board has delegated some of its
functions to the Board Committees, details of which are set out
below. Matters specifically reserved for the Board include approval
of financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes in
accounting policies, material contracts, significant appointments
such as Company Secretary and external auditor, terms of
reference of Board Committees, as well as major corporate
policies.
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To implement the strategies and plans approved by the Board,
Executive Directors and senior management meet on a regular
basis to review the performance of the Group and make financial
and operational decisions. The Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover on directors and officers liability for its directors
and officers.

Details of the responsibilities, membership, attendance and
activities during the year of each Board Committee are set out on
pages 43 to 48.

Board meetings and attendance

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company and to discuss future strategy. Five
Board meetings were held in 2023. At the Board meetings, the
Board reviewed significant matters including the Company’s
annual and interim financial statements, proposals for final and
interim dividends (if any), annual report and interim report. At
least 14 days’ notice is given to all Directors for all regular Board
meetings and all Directors are given the opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. All minutes of the Board
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are available to
all Directors for inspection. During the year, the Chairman of the
Company has held a meeting with all the Independent Non-
executive Directors without other directors presented.
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The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings in 2023
is set out below:

R-ITB-=%F BREFHFREZSSH
ZECEFE T

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Directors E=E HE EEBRE
Chairman and Executive Director TERYITES
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2B E 5/5
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Yu T A&E4E 5/5
Mr. Hou Zhenyang BERFLE 0/3
(Resigned on 21 July 2023) (RZEZ_=F+ A= +—H#&T)
Mr. Li Jianwu* FERTE* 2/2
(Appointed on 21 July 2023) (RZEZ=F+HA=-+—HEZMH)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHTES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan FiRE LT 5/5
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BHEEEt 5/5
Mr. Leung Wai Hung REMELAE 5/5
* Two Board meetings were held after Mr. Li Jianwu was appointed ~ * REERELER-TE_=FLA=-+—H%E

as an executive director on 21 July 2023.

Chairman and chief executive

Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual but Mr. Lau Siu Ying
currently assumes both roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that all directors should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years,
Mr. Lau Siu Ying, being the Chairman of the Board, does not need
to retire by rotation.
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Mr. Lau Siu Ying has been in charge of the overall management of
the Company since its incorporation. As a result, although he does
not need to retire by rotation and assumes both roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, the
Board considers that such arrangement at the Group’s current
stage of development can facilitate the execution of the Group's
business strategies and maximise the effectiveness of its
operations. Nevertheless, through the supervision from the Board
including the Independent Non-executive Directors, the interests
of the shareholders should be adequately and fairly considered.

Directors’ continuing professional development

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of
the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his
responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and
regulations.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Company updates Directors on the latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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The individual training record of each Director received forthe REZ-_ZT - =F+_-_A=+—RHIFF

year ended 31 December 2023 is summarised below: EREZESESE 2 @R 50 %48 ut
o

Attending seminar(s)/
programme(s)/reading
relevant materials in
relation to the business
or director’s duties

HERERREEHE

HEAZHEE RE

Name of Directors EspE FEMEBER
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2B LA Yes
=

Mr. Wang Yu F B/E4E Yes
=

Mr. Hou Zhenyang BEEF LA Yes
(Resigned on 21 July 2023) (R=ZE_=FtA=+—HE1) &
Mr. Li Jianwu* LA Yes
(Appointed on 21 July 2023) (RZZEZ=F+tA=Z+—RHEZF) =
Dr. Law Chun Kwan e Yes
xE

Dr. Lo Wai Shun B EiEt Yes
=

Mr. Leung Wai Hung REERE Yes
xE

* Mr. Li Jianwu has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D  * FRRTAES IS LR AIE 3.09D 5Tl

of the Listing Rules and confirmed that he understood his HERBER  UTHRBER_Z_=%F+A1
obligations as a director of the Company upon his appointment as T RAEZERITESRE TMEER
an executive director on 21 July 2023. RAREENEE -
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees to oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the execution of
the Board's responsibilities. Sufficient resources are provided to
enable the Board Committees to undertake their specific roles.
The respective role, responsibilities and activities of each Board
Committee are set out below:

Remuneration committee

The principal role of the Remuneration Committee is to determine
and review, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management, including salaries, bonuses, the matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and other
plans. The Remuneration Committee reviews and approves the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board'’s corporate goals and objectives and considers salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group, so as to align
management incentives with shareholders’ interests.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors and an Executive Director.
The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Leung Wai
Hung, an Independent Non-executive Director. The Company
Secretary of the Company serves as the secretary of the
committee. Minutes for the meetings are sent to the committee
members within a reasonable time after the meetings. The full
terms of reference are available on the Company’s website and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the year
as well as the meeting attendance of the committee members are
as follows:
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Membership and Attendance BRERHERT
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Members RE HE 2BRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BEHITESE
Dr. Law Chun Kwan FEiREIE L 2/2
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BHEEEL 2/2
Mr. Leung Wai Hung (Chairman) REWFE(FE) 2/2
Executive Director HITES
Mr. Lau Siu Ying 2 NEEAE 2/2

Two meetings were held in the year in which the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration policies and approved the
salaries and bonuses of the Executive Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has communicated
with the Chairman of the Company about proposals relating to
the remuneration packages of other Executive Directors and senior
management.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Company by band
for the year ended 31 December 2023 were as follows:

FPMEEERFAEEITMAEHE €
FEEMFHER  TELATEENR
BREEANBZHE ML - FMEER
SREARAIFEREMATEELS
MEBRANB ZHMEBEHETER -

RIBECEERTA ZFRMEXENS » &K
N EEEEEZE T _=4+=_A4
Zt+—BIFEZFEFMNEENT -

Number of
individual

AE

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

Details of directors’ emoluments and retirement benefits are
disclosed on pages 206 to 207. Remuneration payable to
members of senior management is disclosed on page 243. At 31
December 2023, there were no outstanding shares in respect of
which options had been granted. Details of the Company’s share
option plan are disclosed on pages 237 to 238.
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Audit committee

The Audit Committee reviews financial information of the Group,
monitors the effectiveness of the external audit and oversees the
appointment, remuneration and terms of engagement of the
Company’s external auditor, as well as their independence. The
Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the financial
reporting process and the system of internal controls and risk
management. The Board also delegated corporate governance
functions to the Audit Committee, including the determination,
review and monitoring of (a) the development and review of the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
recommendations; (b) the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management; (c) the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (d) the code of conduct of the Company;
and (e) the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and its compliance with the CG Code and disclosures
in the Corporate Governance Report. The full terms of reference
setting out the committee’s authority and its role and
responsibilities are available on the Company’s website and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, with one of whom having the relevant
professional qualifications and expertise. The Chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Wai Hung, an Independent Non-
executive Director. The Company Secretary acts as secretary of the
Audit Committee. Sufficient resources are made available to the
Audit Committee when independent legal or professional advice
is required.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The external
auditors of the Company are invited to the meetings, take part in
the discussions and answer questions from the committee
members. By invitation of the Audit Committee, other Directors
and senior executives may also attend the meetings.

The Audit Committee held three meetings in the year. The
Company Secretary prepared full minutes of the audit committee
meetings with details of discussions and decisions reached. The
draft and final versions of minutes were sent to all committee
members within a reasonable time after each meeting.
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The composition of the Audit Committee during the year as well
as the meeting attendance of the committee members are as
follows:

ERREERFRAZEMNEREENK
BHESHZBERNT

Membership and Attendance KENHEEL
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Members RE HEEERE

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFEHTES

Dr. Law Chun Kwan FEfRIMIEL 3/3
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BB 3/3
Mr. Leung Wai Hung (Chairman) REWFRE(FE) 3/3

During the year, the Audit Committee has discussed with the
external auditor their independence and the nature and scope of
the audit; reviewed the interim and annual financial statements of
the Group, particularly judgmental areas, before submission to the
Board; reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Group, findings and management’s response; reviewed the
Group’s adherence to the code provisions in the CG Code. The
Audit Committee recommended the Board to adopt the 2023
interim and 2022 annual financial statements. The Audit
Committee has also performed the aforesaid corporate governance
duties as delegated to it by the Board.

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee is authorised by the Board to
determine the policy for the nomination of Directors, to set out
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
to select and recommend candidates for directorship. The
Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, and assessing the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.

46

FA- BREZE S0 EINEZERD T R
HBEYH UEREZRUEEREE: £2
REEFZHEFNASE 2R HALFREH
BwE LEHAHHE: SRAEER
HESIEHIE 2 e BEREERERE
EHNAEEETEEE AT ZFAME
NZIER  BEREECREBZESIRMN
CECI=FIHRRR T FETB
Wk - BREZESNERTESTERH
Lk Ei{bEERBE o

REZES
RAZECHESTERBEETIRAES

ZHE - HIEMRB 2 EEREBES
REAZRETE BFRGEF-RA

ZEENAEENEFTE LB AR
KA ARFHEBUIFMITEE 2T
ST e



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition of the Board regularly and makes recommendation to
the Board to complement the corporate strategy of the Company.
The appointment of a new Director is a collective decision of the
Board, taking into consideration the procedures for Shareholders
to propose a person for election as a Director of the Company and
the Board Diversity Policy. The Board believes that changes to the
Board composition shall be managed without undue disruption,
and shall continue to provide a balanced composition of the
executive Directors, the non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong
independent element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company, contribution to the
diversity of the Board and ability to effectively carry out the
Board's responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria and
the procedure are set out in the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members, a
majority of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors and is
chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The Company Secretary of
the Company serves as secretary of the Nomination Committee.
Minutes for the meetings are sent to the Nomination Committee
members within a reasonable time after the meetings. The full
terms of reference are available on the Company’s website and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website.

The composition of the Nomination Committee during the year as
well as the meeting attendance of the committee members are as
follows:
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LEEIBRES
Membership and Attendance BREREHEER
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Members RE HE BEXRE
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (Chairman) B NEERAE(E/E) 2/2
Mr. Wang Yu T REE 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFEHTES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan FIRHB LT 2/2
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BuEEE LT 2/2
Mr. Leung Wai Hung REHRE 2/2

During the financial year, two meeting were held, in which
members of the Nomination Committee have performed,
considered, and/or resolved the following matters:

— annual review on the structure, size and diversity of the
Board;

—  reviewing the existing Nomination Policy and Board Diversity,
and the implementations;

— discussion of appointment of executive Director;

— assessment on the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors and review of the annual confirmations
on their independence; and

—  review of the re-appointment of Directors who retired from

office by rotation at the past AGM and offered themselves
for re-election.

48

RMBFERNDBITMAGHE  BEE
EgXkEBERE LRT ERE U
RTFIEIR

HEFTERB MERZTEZF
&R

ERRAREBERAREFES LI
KBAITIEMR ;

AR ERTES
AHAEBYIFMTESE 2B ERE
B BB FERER 0 M

BN LERRBFAE LWER
ENBEEEEEE 2 EMEME -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD DIVERSITY AND WORKFORCE

The Company has formulated the board diversity policy aiming at
setting out the approach on diversity of the Board of the
Company. The Company believes that a diversity of perspectives
can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities. Board appointments
will be made on merit basis and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships between Board members.
Under the revised Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules that came into
effect on 1 January 2022, a single gender Board will not be
considered by the Stock Exchange to have achieved Board
diversity. The Company targets to comply with this new
requirement no later than 31 December 2024, being the end of
the transitional period as specified by the Stock Exchange, and the
Board will consider amending the Board diversity policy to include
appointment of at least a director of a different gender so that the
potential successors to the Board can achieve gender diversity.

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity)
across all levels of the Group. The employee gender ratio of the
Group (including senior management) as at 31 December 2023 is
58.8% male: 41.2% female. The Group when hiring employees
considers a number of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and education background, qualification, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and the Group will make sure achieving gender diversity across
the workforce. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Board was not aware of any mitigating factors or circumstances
which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring and
reviewing the implementation of the board diversity policy to
ensure its effectiveness and recommending any revisions of the
policy to the Board for consideration and approval.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged the responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the affairs
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The auditors are responsible
to form an independent opinion, based on their audits, on the
Group's financial statements and express their opinions.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 104 to 111.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

Pursuant to Code Provision D.1.3, the Board draws the attentions
of shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company to a
situation where the directors are aware of certain material
uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern which has been disclosed in note
3(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are advised to

refer to the Independent Auditors’ Report for the details of going
concerns issues.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company, Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited, in respect of audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2023 is
set out below:
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21t/
Service Category PR %5 % 5 ENER
HK$'000
FET
Audit services Fit R
— 2023 Annual audit — _E_=FFEHFT 880
Non-audit services e ARTE
— Reporting on Profit Forecasts, Statements — BRI RREGERSERARA 400
of Sufficiency of Working Capital and MER - BEEEREUEBRARE
Statements of Indebtedness and TR WE - RS ARK
Accountants’ report on Beijing Feiying
Changyou Technology Co., Ltd for
inclusion in the Circular
— Agree-upon procedures on 2023 interim — BT _=FHHUEER B 70
financial information EZFT
1,350
COMPANY SECRETARY DEHWE

Mr. SO Chi Kai (“Mr. So”), was appointed as the Group Financial
Controller and Company Secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) on 3 April 2018 and is responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting, financial management and company
secretarial matters.
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The Company Secretary is mainly responsible for assisting the
Chairman of the Board and its committees to prepare agendas for
meetings and to prepare and disseminate meeting material
to the Directors and committees’ members in a timely and
comprehensive manner; ensuring every Director complies with the
Board’s policy and procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations; and ensuring accurate records of Board/committee
meeting proceedings, discussions and decisions are recorded.
According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. So has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year. His biography is set out on page 34 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
FRAMEWORK

The Group's existing corporate governance framework and the
significant risks of the Group were summarized as follows:

Goals and Objectives

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring the implementation of
an effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Board acknowledged that the risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Group's risk governance structure and the main responsibilities
are summarised below:

Board

o To evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the risks
it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, and ensuring the implementation of an effective
risk management and internal control systems;

o To oversee the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis;
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To perform an annual review to ensure the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions; and

To oversee the management/responsible party (“responsible
management”) in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems.

Management

To design, implement and monitor the risk management
and internal control systems;

To perform risks identification assessment which might
threaten the strategic objectives set;

To review the risk and risk level and advise on any matters
which might be raised by employees and the Group;

To assist external consultant to analysis and appraise the
adequacy and efficiency of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems; and

To coordinate all the risks management and activities
process and in compliance with Listing Rules and report
periodically to the Board.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant

risks by the Group were summarized as follows:

Risk Identification

Identified the risks through discussion with the management.
Risk Assessment Questionnaire was used to document the
risk identified by the responsible parties.
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Risk Assessment

Identified the existing controls and analysing risks in terms
of consequence and likelihood in the context of those
controls. The risk analysis considered the range of potential
consequences and how likely those consequences were to
occur. Consequence and likelihood might be combined to
produce an estimated level of risk.

Risk Response

Categorised the risks into low risk, medium risk and high
risks;

Determined the strategy to handle the risk; and
Developed the risk register and internal control audit plan

and determined the frequency of review and control testing
on key controls.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

On-going communication of monitoring results to the Audit
Committee which enables it to assess control of the Group
and the effectiveness of risk management during the year,
including:

—  Risk questionnaires completed by the management,
risk register and internal audit plan; and

—  Fact finding report with recommendations on the
review and testing of internal controls on certain
operating cycles and areas.

Internal Audit Function
With the assistance of the external consultant, the Group’s

internal audit function is performed by the management of the

Company, including analysing and appraising the adequacy and

effectiveness of the Group'’s risk management and internal control

systems.
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The Company has engaged an external consultant to assist the
Company to:

o Perform the risk assessment based on management
evaluation on identified area and report the findings and
recommendations to the management;

o Conduct various agreed upon reviews, on a rotationaly
basis, on the Group’s existing internal control policies
regarding notifiable transactions and connected transactions
and identify any significant weakness in its controls; and

o Conduct various agreed upon reviews, on a rotationaly
basis, on material controls and perform testing of internal
controls on certain operating cycles and areas in accordance
with the Company’s Internal Control Audit Plan.

The Company has considered the recommendations on the
internal audit findings identified by the external consultant and
will be completed the implementation of the aforesaid
recommendations in the upcoming financial year.

During the year, the Board conducted an annual review on the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board concluded that the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company were adequate and
effective during the year.

In addition to the above, pursuant to Code Provision D.2.9, the
Company disclosed the following details of significant areas of
concern about internal control findings.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) published a statement
of disciplinary action (the “Statement”) on 31 October 2023 in
relation to breaches of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the direction
of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange, the Company
has appointed an Internal Control Advisor to conduct a thorough
review of, and make recommendations to improve, the Company’s
internal controls and to ensure compliance with Chapters 14 and
14A of the Listing Rules (“Relevant Listing Rules”). The key internal
control findings of the review on the Group’s the internal control
weaknesses of compliance with Relevant Listing Rules include,
among other things, the following areas:

— Improvements on the Group’s written compliance policies
and procedures,

—  Enhancement of monthly updates reporting procedures,

— Set up of system for tracking continuing connected
transaction,

— Implementation of processes to identify and discover
connected transactions,

—  Set up of ongoing training policy for directors and senior
management on listing rules compliance,

—  Enhancement of internal audit functions; and

— Improvement of Board Practices on internal control
monitoring

Details of the findings and recommendations of the review was

published in the Company’s announcement dated 20 March
2024.
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The Company submitted the written report of the Internal Control
Adviser containing its recommendations to the Listing Division of
the Stock Exchange and furnished the Listing Division with the
Internal Control Adviser’s written report on the Company’s full
implementation of the said recommendations within the
respective prescribed time requirements. The Board confirmed
that all the recommendations of the Internal Control Adviser have
been implemented and the Internal Control Adviser had
performed follow-up reviews on the enhanced internal control
measures adopted by the Group. The Board is of the view that (i)
the above key internal control findings have been remediated and
the related risks have been managed to a reasonably acceptable
level; and (ii) the remedial actions and improvement measures
implemented by the Group are adequate and sufficient to address
the above key internal control findings.

Moreover, pursuant to the direction of the Listing Committee of
the Stock Exchange, the Company also appointed Rainbow
Capital (HK) Limited, a licensed corporation under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as the compliance adviser of the Company on an on-going basis
for consultation on compliance with the Listing Rules for a period
of two years with effect from 31 October 2023. The Board is of
the view that such appointment will further enhance the Group'’s
Listing Rules compliance control functions in the future.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is fully aware of its obligations under the new Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 and
the Listing Rules. The Board has adopted procedures and internal
controls policy which contains the guideline to the Directors and
officers of the Company to ensure that the inside information of
the Company is to be disseminated to public in an equal and
timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations. Such policy provides guidance on the Company
conducting its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012.

ERELHWES

QA B AR AT E T RHE R RSP ES i
FHSEEEZNEE®RE  mEmE
RXABETEBEAERARAIRZER
FERMAZENIT O EROEZEHRE -
EEORR NMERBEMOEER
HEERE BERNSEZEBERAEE
e sa b MEPES I FE T I TIR E TR S
EEgRA LLIKW%W%%EE
JEALLE - $EF’§HF BIEd 25 i
K RN AEBEEHEHALET @&&
HEFE B R DABRR F il F B EES IR R IR o

BESh - IRIBB R LR B EMER
ARBINMBIELEERBR AR (FBHM
HIE GO (BB AEGIES571E) " T

FEB) BARRRIMFEASRER - phiE
SFEMRAETHER B E - =F+

A=ZT—HRERPMF -BEFERR -
ZEZAERE-—TMAAREERBED
EHARRIA R EEIERRAE o

RREHE

RRRTETHENRES REE KR (5
571 &) FEXIVAE R EMARBIIE T 2%
B EFZEEHEMHEBHESRARA
SMABZIEIIZHEER - LARERARR]
NEBHEBBRIBEREERERATE
REEZARMARALTEM  BEK
RAEAANTRESEHREMRES  mHZE
ELEMHRBRBEEHFRPEEHER
ZEER_ZT——_FRATEZ [REHE
BRI 2 BBEHRE -

57



2023 Annual Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRES

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company is committed to high standard of business ethics
and integrity. A code of conduct is enforced on all employees of
the Group. The employees at all levels are expected to act in an
honest, diligent and responsible manner. No personal gifts or
other forms of advantages from any person or organisation doing
business with the Group can be accepted by any employee.
Business partners and customers are reminded from time to time
that our policy forbids any employee or agent of the Group from
accepting any gift from them.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great importance to communications with
shareholders and investors as always, and is committed to
disclosing information that is important to shareholders and
investors in a timely and objective manner through multiple
channels. We actively and effectively communicate the Company’s
latest business development and strategies to the capital market.
To further optimize this communication, the Group has established
Investors (Shareholders Included) Communication Policy and
regularly reviews and assesses its implementation and
effectiveness. During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed
the Investors (Shareholders Included) Communication Policy and
considers it to be effective. Major means of communication with
shareholders of the Company are as follows:

Information disclosure on company website

The Company endeavours to disclose all material information
about the Group to all interested parties as widely and timely as
possible. The Company maintains company websites at
www.chinafortune.com and www.fortunetele.com where
important information about the Group’s activities and corporate
matters such as annual reports and interim reports to
shareholders, announcements, business development and
operations, corporate governance practices and other information
is available for review by shareholders and other stakeholders.
When announcements are made through the website of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the same information will
be made available on the Company’s website.
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General meetings with shareholders BRXE

The Company’s annual general meeting provides an useful $/“ﬂZH§$§E¢7(ATET — &5 B8 F
platform for direct communication between the Board and & @ EEFeHERFEEE® NIRE
shareholders. Separate resolutions are proposed on each Ae e KRIBARIBYZEHIER

substantially separate issue at the general meetings. BIORZER ©

The 2023 annual general meeting (2023 AGM") was held on 23 :%:_Eﬂx?ﬁﬁiﬁ’\(f_ = - =4
May 2023. The attendance record of the Directors at the 2023 MR HEEFAE N EN _E-_=FH A
AGM is set out below: TTH=HRT -EFHE_T-_=FK

RBFRgZH&EHIIMT

Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
Directors s HEEERE
Chairman and Executive Director FERHTES
Mr. Lau Siu Ying B NE e E 171
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wang Yu T BREE 11
Mr. Hou Zhenyang BEEFRE 0/1
(Resigned on 21 July 2023) (RZZEZ=F+tA=Z+—HFIT)
Mr. Li Jianwu* PR FAE* 0/0
(Appointed on 21 July 2023) (RZZ_=F+tHA=-+—HEZF)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Dr. Law Chun Kwan EREE LT 1/1
Dr. Lo Wai Shun BHEEL 171
Mr. Leung Wai Hung REWFE 171
* No general meeting was held after Mr. Li Jianwu was appointed as * REEREER T -_=FLA-+—HE
an executive director on 21 July 2023. ZERNTESE  BEBITRERS -
The Company’s external auditor also attended the 2023 AGM. ViN/NEE] Z$7|\EH—T?§5( MABEE ==
FRFRBAFERE
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Investor relations

The Company recognises its responsibility to explain its activities to
those with a legitimate interest and to respond to their questions.
Questions received from the general public and individual
shareholders are answered promptly. In all cases, great care is
taken to ensure that no price-sensitive information is disclosed
selectively.

BENEFIT PLAN

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes
vest fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, (i)
there was no forfeiture of contributions under the Defined
Contribution Schemes for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: approximately HK$146,000); and (ii) there were no
forfeited contributions available for the Group to reduce its
existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

For the details of the Defined Contribution Scheme, please refer
to note 31 of the consolidated financial statements for further
details of retirement benefit schemes.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the existing bye-laws
of the Company (the "“Existing Bye-Laws"”) be amended in the
manner as set out in the circular of the Company dated 27 April
2023 (the “Circular”) and the amended and restated bye-laws of
the Company (the ” Amended and Restated Bye-Laws”) in the
form of the document marked “A” and produced to the Annual
General Meeting and for the purpose of identification initialed by
the chairman of the Annual General Meeting, which consolidates
all the proposed amendments mentioned in the Circular, be
approved and adopted as the Amended and Restated Bye-Laws in
substitution for and to the exclusion of the Existing Bye-Laws with
immediate effect after the close of the Annual General Meeting
and that any one director of the Company or the company
secretary of the Company be and is hereby authorised to do all
things necessary to implement the adoption of the Amended and
Restated Bye-Laws of the Company.
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The adoption of the Amended and Restated Bye-Laws was
approved by Shareholders in the annual general meeting held on
23 May 2023. The Amended and Restated Bye-Laws is available
on the Company’s investor relations website (www.fortunetele.com
and www.chinafortune.com) and Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Shareholders’ rights

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders
of the Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirement under Part 1 Paragraph K of
the CG Code:

Convening of a special general meeting on requisition by
shareholders

Pursuant to clause 58 of the Company’s bye-laws, a special
general meeting may be convened by the Board upon requisition
by any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued
share capital of the Company and the securities being held
carrying the right of voting at any general meetings of the
Company. The shareholder shall make a written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at the head
office address of the Company, specifying the shareholding
information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and the
proposal regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two
(2) months after the receipt of such written requisition. Pursuant
to clause 59 of the Company’s bye-laws, the Company shall serve
requisite notice of the general meeting, including the time, place
of meeting and particulars of resolutions to be considered at the
meeting and the general nature of the business.

If within twenty one (21) days of the receipt of such written
requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene such special
general meeting, the shareholder shall do so pursuant to the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (the “Act”).
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at general

meetings by shareholders

Shareholders are requested to follow the Act for including a

resolution at an annual general meeting of the Company

("AGM"). The requirements and procedures are set out below:

(i)

(iii)

62

Pursuant to section 79 of the Act, shareholder(s) holding (i)
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all
shareholders having the right to vote at the general meeting;
or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, can submit a written
request stating the resolution intended to be moved at the
AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution
or the business to be dealt with at a particular general
meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by the
shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at the Company’s
registered office and/or principal office in Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Company Secretary, not less than six
weeks before the AGM in the case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution and not less than one week before the
general meeting in the case of any other requisition.

Pursuant to section 80 of the Act, if the written request is in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board (i) to
include the resolution in the agenda for the AGM,; or (ii) to
circulate the statement for the general meeting, provided
that the shareholder(s) concerned have deposited a sum of
money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient to
meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the
resolution and/or circulating the statement submitted by the
shareholder(s) concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered shareholders. On the
contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the shareholder(s)
concerned have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet
the Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the
shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be
included in the agenda for the AGM or the statement will
not be circulated for the general meeting.
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(iv) If a shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at  (iv) IR (HGEEEER L FEEIE

the general meeting convened to deal with appointment/ EELZE/RBRBREEERIZKREKX
election of director(s), wishes to propose a person (other eftine HIEE)EERZAE HIR
than the shareholder himself/herself) for election as a AT (GZIRERABRIN 2iBE =
director at that meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice By - BRI ARE B A= B BRI T~
at the Company'’s registered office and/or its principal office REDEREZAEBAZA+ME04)E
in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary, B mANAZEMESEE
not less than seven (7) clear days but not more than E/ R EETFENEREALEZMHE
fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general TR ARMEIRE - AZEAN
meeting. In order for the Company to inform all e BEREEEESE iE
Shareholders of that proposal, the written notice must state EEAMNENRIBR2REFTHN
the full name of the person proposed for election as a AT 2E2% - EHFHEAZE13.5102)
director, his/her biographical details as required by Rule BCREZERFEREEEALTZ
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the 23R Tm WHMBERKRENZEA
shareholder concerned and that person indicating his/her +T%=Zo

willingness to be elected.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the OEESEEIREEHESF

board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concernsto R A[RERE AZE A X BB AT WE -
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary whose [mEEZEeiE P EHREFEEH o A alM

contact details are as follows: EZBEEEIFIT -

The Company Secretary N

China Fortune Holdings Limited MEAE635ESET 0 AR 1505-06
Room 1505-06, Tower A, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, KR ITIE AR A A

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong NE)INE

Email: info@chinafortune.com B E - info@chinafortune.com

Tel No.: +852 2422 0811 BEEETRHS - +852 2422 0811

Fax No.: +852 2428 0988 EBEEIE © +852 2428 0988

The Company Secretary shall forward the shareholders’ enquiries  7Eig = # 15 R T A WE S ¥BIgE ~
and concerns to the Board and/or relevant board committees of R ZEHECEES K KA QD 74

the Company, where appropriate, to answer the shareholders’ Ry &E =X 52 » UMREHRE 7 I2R o
questions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”).
Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and payment of
dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board.
The Company’s ability to distribute dividends will depend on,
among others, the profits, operating results, cash flow, financial
condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements and other
factors of the Company which the Directors consider relevant, and
the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The remaining
profit will be used for the development and operation of the
Group. The Company’s distribution of dividends shall also comply
with any restrictions under the applicable laws of Bermuda, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the bye-laws of the
Company, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders of
the Company. The Company will continually review the Dividend
Policy from time to time. There is no guarantee that any particular
amount of dividends will be distributed for any specific periods.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

China Fortune Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to
present the Environmental, Social, and Governance (“ESG")
Report (the "ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group is committed to fulfilling its environmental and social
obligations while striving for economic growth and creating value
for the Company’s shareholders. We focus on strategic priorities
in terms of maintaining a peaceful natural environment, creating a
harmonized working environment and sustaining an ethical
business environment. Through this ESG report, we hope to
continually refine our corporate strategy for sustainable business
growth, and deliver long-term value for our stakeholders.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has the
overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting,
as well as overseeing and managing its ESG-related issues. The
Board is also responsible for setting targets and goals. In order to
better evaluate, prioritise and manage the Group’s ESG-related
issues, the Board discusses and reviews the Group's ESG-related
risks and opportunities, performance, progress, goals and targets
periodically with the assistance of the ESG working group. The
Board also ensures the effectiveness of ESG risk management and
internal control mechanism.

The ESG working group is comprised of senior management and
staff members with adequate knowledge on ESG. In addition, the
ESG working group also engage a third-party consultant for
assistance. The ESG working group facilitates the Board'’s oversight
of ESG-related issues and has the responsibility for collecting and
analysing ESG data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG
performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-related laws and
regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The ESG working group
arranges meeting periodically to discuss and review ESG-related
issues including but not limited to the effectiveness of current
Group's performance, ESG policies and procedures, ESG-related
performance, as well as the progress made against the Group’s
ESG-related goals and targets in terms of sustainable
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development. The ESG working group reports to the Board
periodically and assists the Board to discharge its oversight
responsibility.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report presents the Group’s ESG performance for the
financial year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period” or “2023").

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG report is prepared with reference to the Appendix C2 —
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The information
disclosed in this report is derived from the result of internal
statistics and analysis of the Group’s internal management
systems.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
structure and practices has been set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality, quantitative,
balance, and consistency during the preparation for this ESG
Report, the Group has applied these reporting principles in the
aforementioned ESG Reporting Guide as the following:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify
material issues during Reporting Period, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of this
ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed
by the Board. Please refer to the sections headed “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.
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Quantitative: This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the
ESG Reporting Guide and the key performance indicators (“KPIs")
are disclosed in a quantitative manner. Information regarding the
standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
references; and sources of key conversion factors used for KPIs is
stated wherever appropriate.

Balance: This ESG Report was prepared based on an objective and
impartial manner to ensure that the information disclosed
faithfully reflects the overall ESG performance of the Group.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies used in this ESG Report
are generally consistent with those used in the previous year for
meaningful comparisons. Any changes that may affect
comparisons with previous reports will be described in the
corresponding sections of this ESG Report.

SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group are distribution and trading of mobile
phone and electronic products, development of marketing and
after-sales service network (“Mobile Phone and Electronic Products
Business”) and mining and processing of celestite, zinc and lead
minerals (“Mining Business”). This report only covers which are
major components in the Group, namely China Fortune Holdings
Limited, Fortune (Shanghai) International Trading Co., Ltd, 1t &
REMBFERAA, IRERFIBMEERAR, RAOE
RESERBRAR, RE(HR)ERERAR and A
BB ERR A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

The Board considers ESG as part of the fiduciary duty and strives
to embed ESG considerations into daily operation and
management. The Board is responsible for and delegating the
Group’s management to timely discuss environmental, social and
governance issues and review the governance codes to enable the
Group to keep abreast of and comply with the latest regulatory
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requirements in prior to the approval of this report. This system
monitors the management to design, implement and continuously
monitor risk management and internal control systems and to
assure the suitability and effectiveness of the relevant systems and
to assure timely implementation of the Group’s sustainable
development measures, the accuracy and reliability of the data
presented. The Board also helps for formulating relevant strategies
in their respective areas and for the effectiveness of
implementation in accordance with the sustainable development
strategies and objectives. To fulfill the environmental responsibility,
the Board puts its green and sustainable development philosophy
into action by implementing an efficient Environmental
Management System to ensure energy efficiency, proper waste
management, and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in daily operations. Meetings are arranged regularly to evaluate
the effectiveness of current policies, systems, procedures and
formulate appropriate solutions to improve the overall
performance of ESG policies.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group continues to maintain the relationships and
communicate with its key stakeholders. We have identified our
employees, customers, suppliers, investors, shareholders and
communities at large as our key stakeholder groups. In daily
business, we communicate with different key stakeholders
through various channels such as conferences, electronic platforms
and public events so as to understand the concerns of various
stakeholders. To formulate the operational strategies and ESG
measures, the Group takes into account the expectations of
stakeholders and strives to improve its performance through
mutual cooperation with the stakeholders, resulting in creating
greater value for the community.

MATERIALITY

Materiality assessment was conducted by discussing the
expectation and feedback from the key stakeholders in respect of
ESG to understand their views, seriously considered and responded
to their needs and expectations, evaluated and prioritised their
inputs to improve the performance, and finally strive to provide
values to the stakeholders.
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Based on the result of the materiality assessment, the
management of the Group identified use of resources, product
responsibility and health and safety as key aspects of its long-term
sustainability. Effective risk management and internal control
systems on these aspects are reinforced with the aim of enhancing
efficiency of operations and generating the environmental and
social benefits to the stakeholders.

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

We value your feedback on this report. If you have any feedback
or suggestions, please contact us at info@chinafortune.com.

A. THE ENVIRONMENTAL

In order to seek long-term sustainability of the environment
and to fulfil our social responsibilities, the Group has its
policy to manage air and greenhouse gas emissions, energy
consumption and waste disposal throughout its daily
operations. Our policy towards the environment is to
minimize the impact on the environment with sustainable
operations. We place strong emphasis on environmental
protection by maximizing the efficiency of resources and
reducing pollution. Our sustainable practices encourage
employees to be more considerate of the environment by
savings on energy consumption and use of materials so that
impact on the environment and natural resources can be
minimized.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong and PRC relating to air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes. Such relevant laws and
regulations include but not limited to the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 311, Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354, Laws of Hong Kong)
the Energy Conservation Law and Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC.
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A1l.

Emissions

The Group recognized that consumption of electricity,
paper and petrol at workplaces account for our major
indirect GHG emissions.

During the year, business operations of the Group did
not result in the consumption of natural gas or diesel.
Due to the Group’s business nature, only an
immaterial amount of air emissions was generated
from the use of company vehicles. As such, there were
no material nitrogen oxides (“NOx"), sulphur oxides
(“SOx"), or particulate matters (“PM") emissions
during the report period.

Air and GHG Emissions

During the year, the Group's total greenhouse gas
emissions decreased approximately 10.79 tonnes from
21.19 in 2022 to 10.4 in 2023. The detailed summary
of GHG emission for the year is shown as below:
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CO,e Emission

(Tonnes) Intensity
—EtmEE
Scope of GHG BREREHE Bem () BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
= —ET-—F ZBI=ZHF —E-—F
Scope 1 Petrol consumption 3/ 1754 #E
(Direct Emissions) G=E:373:9) 0.15 - 0.004 -
Scope 2 Electricity HBE2ENERE
consumption (Energy (BRI R
Indirect Emissions) 10.25 21.19 0.301 0.558
Total GHG emissions AEREHNEE 10.40 21.19 0.305 0.558
Notes: Hiat -
1. Petrol consumption: according to purchase volume of 1. FUORBRE  RIEBEAARIAER

gasoline and diesel of company vehicle;

2. Electricity consumption: according to electricity bills
received by the Company;
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3. The unit used for 2023 intensity data has been
adjusted to improve relevance and comparability.

4. Intensity shall be calculated by consumption/emissions
per employee.

To reduce the energy consumption and the amount of
carbon emission, we have implemented a number of
measures to mitigate such consumption and emission,
we reinforced our management of energy
conservation in our offices through the ventilation
system with a stabilized room temperature at 25
degrees Celsius, as well as reminding employees to
turn off any computers, printers, light and other office
equipment that are not being used. We try to use
daylight wherever possible, and choose energy
efficient equipment during procurement. We
encourage our employees to travel by public transport
to reduce carbon footprint. We advocate a green
lifestyle by growing plants in the office. Awareness of
environmental protection among our staff was raised
through the promotion of green office culture.

To reinforce the Group’s commitment to reduce GHG
emissions, it has set a target of maintaining its total
GHG emissions intensity to be not more than the 2022
baseline.

Hazardous Waste

Given the nature of our businesses, the Group did not
produce the production of material amounts of
hazardous waste during the Reporting Period.

Although the Group does not generate significant
amounts of hazardous waste, the Group has
established guidelines on the management and
disposal of these wastes. In case there is any
hazardous waste produced, the Group would engage
a qualified chemical waste collector to handle such
waste in compliance with the relevant environmental
laws and regulations.
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To reinforce the Group’s commitment to reduce GHG
emissions, it has set a target of maintaining its total
GHG emissions intensity to be not more than the 2022
baseline.

To pursue the GHG emissions reduction target, we
have actively adopted electricity conservation and
energy saving measures to reduce the GHG emissions,
such measures are described in the section A2 Use of
Resources.

Non-hazardous Waste

The Group generates no hazardous waste in our
operation. Non-hazardous wastes are preferred to be
recycled, otherwise, they are sent for landfill or
incineration. Non-hazardous wastes from the Group's
operation are mainly the paper waste. During the
Reporting Period, the consumption volume of paper
waste generated by the Group is shown as below:

RREAEBR DR EREEE
ME G HERERBF - #
FREEREHNEETE TEB
BT _FOER-

RERAEREREEE &
PIFE 1R R FA &0 S B RE 8 1t LA
AR EREEHEN  ZERIE

FENA2EREM—EL -

AEEzEEYBRELBERE
2Y - BEREWERNET
Bl - gn AR Y - B E
B - REBEEEEL
CEEBREVIZHEKRER
Yo REIEHME - NEBEL
ZHFOBERBIIRT -

Quantity (Tonnes) Intensity
Category of BEBEY
Non-hazardous waste L] 22 (HF) BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
RCCF SR CRCCECTCCF
Paper Waste HIREEZEY) 0.14 0.23 0.004 0.006
Note: Bt

1. The unit used for 2023 intensity data has been
adjusted to improve relevance and comparability.

2. Intensity shall be calculated by consumption/emissions
per employee.

The Group has implemented paperless processing in
its internal communications. In order to reduce paper
consumption, we encourage employees to use duplex
printing and copying.
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To reinforce the Group’s commitment to reduce paper
waste, it has set a target of maintaining its intensity to
be not more than the 2022 baseline.

Use of Resources

Energy saving tips and guidelines are in place as a
direction on the efficient use of resources throughout
daily operations. Our strategy is to reduce resources
used in daily office operation, through wise use of
energy and water, wastage and paper consumption,
as well as promoting the practice of recycle, reuse,
reduce, and replace. We recognize the importance of
transitioning our operations to bring upon more
sustainable options.

Use of Resources
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ZREH

Fuel Efficiency

pRF K

We are committed to replacing old vehicles with more fuel-efficient vehicles.

BPBNBETEE R RE AN /TE -

We encourage employees to use telephone conference whenever possible to
reduce the carbon footprint of business travel.

BPEEERAITTER MERERSH

Materials

ke

» DURL A Z AV B R B -

We encourage to use automatic pencil leads and ball pen refills.

BPSEEREDWELCNERFRESRL -

We encourage employees to bring their own water bottles instead of using

paper cups.

B PSSR B [ AR o

We promote wise use of toilet paper.

RIS E BRI ©

We advocate the use of double sided printed to reduce paper wastage.

HFIREEEIT AR AR E R

Water

9K °

We make sure there is no leakage of taps to conserve water.

7K HAPIRECR /K BE AN SRR /KA BRI K
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Energy We maintain the room temperature at 25 degree Celsius to converse energy.
BEIR B E IR E A 25 AR AIBEIR ©

We keep the air ventilation system off if the room is vacant.

BN EREASERBRRL -

We encourage employees to save energy by turning off lights and electronics
when not in use.

B EEESOR YN TMERKEEELNER -

We remind employees to turn off lights, computers, printers and other office
equipment after work.
BPREREE N T EREIEREY - B - TR R E M AR -

We keep track on the power consumption record and take measures when
there is significant increase in consumption.

BERE ) E RS 8 S H IR B R H FE S NI EREVIE 6 ©
Resources We encourage employees to reuse plastic bags, recycle glass bottles and
aluminum cans.
BIR BMSEMEEERARBE - BYCKER L inw
Recycling of printer cartridges and toners is implemented.
B2 BEmOIT S R & -
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Energy consumption
During the year, the Group’s consumption in petrol
and electricity were:

FEFUHFE
FARAKEZUHNMENH

Quantity Unit Intensity
Energy Type RERER HE B BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—B-=F —E-—F B ZE-F
Petrol (Direct) A (E#) 645.74 - kWh FEE 18.89 -
Electricity (Indirect) &/ (f#) 23,355.23 31,626.22 kWh TEK 68692  832.27
Note: BtaE -

1. The unit used for 2023 intensity data has been
adjusted to improve relevance and comparability.

2. Intensity shall be calculated by consumption/emissions
per employee.

1. RRBEMERA LY Y
T = EE MR AR B AL
i -

2. BERSAEANERE B
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During the reporting period, the Group has decreased
approximately 8,270.99 kWh compared to that in
2022. Regarding the petrol consumption, the Group
has increased 66.63 litre, from zero litre in 2022 to
66.63 litre in 2023.

The Group's ability to use energy efficiently can be
revealed by its intention and measures for the
reductions in energy consumption. Energy
consumption has a direct effect on the environmental
footprint of the Group, its operational costs, and
exposure to certain risks (e.g. fluctuations in energy
supply and prices). The Group’s policies and measures
specific to managing energy use have been stated
above.

To reinforce the Group’s commitment to efficient
energy use, the Group has set a target of maintaining
its electricity consumption intensity to be not more
than the 2022 baseline.

To pursue the energy use efficiency target, the Group
has implemented various energy saving measures. The
Group's energy saving measures are described above.

Water consumption and use of packaging
materials

The Group’s water consumption is minimal and no
issue in sourcing water for the Group’s operation had
been noted in the reporting period. To further reduce
water consumption, the Group educates its employees
on conservation habitats, performs regular cleaning
and maintenance of refrigerators to consume less
electricity, and re-using the used water for watering
plants.

Besides, due to the nature of business, the Group did
not involve any use of packaging material and hence
the disclosure is not applicable to the Group.
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A3.

A4,

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group's policy on minimising its significant impact
on the environment and natural resources is
mentioned in A1 Emissions and A2 Use of Resources.

Since our core operations are confined to the office
environment, we do not make significant impact on
the environment and natural resources. Still, adhering
to our policy, we will review in due course to seek for
continual improvement, if any.

Climate Change

Climate change has been a worldwide growing issue
in recent years. The Group recognises the importance
of the identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues, therefore, the Group is
committed to managing the potential climate-related
issues which may impact the Group’s business
activities. The Group has established risk management
policy in identifying and mitigating different risks
including climate-related risks. The Board meets
periodically and co-operates closely with key
management to identify and evaluate climate-related
risks and issues and to formulate strategies to manage
them.Acute physical risk can arise from extreme
weather conditions such as flooding and storms and
chronic physical risk can arise from sustained high
temperature, while transition risk may result from the
change in environmental-related regulations or change
in customer preferences.

Upon evaluation of the potential acute physical risk
that may cause disruption to the operation,
precautionary measures have been implemented by
the Group, including work arrangements of extreme
weather conditions such as black rainstorm warning,
flooding and typhoon signal No. 8. While sustained
high temperature may result in an elevation of
electricity consumption, the Group has adopted
energy conservation measures in managing such risk,
which are detailed in the subsection of “Use of

A3.
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Resources”. As for the potential transition risk, the
Group continues to monitor the regulatory market
environment to ensure that our food and services

meet customers and regulatory expectations.

It is expected that potential extreme weather
condition, sustained high temperature, change in
environmental-related regulations do not directly
impose material threat to the Group’s operations.
However, the Group will continue to monitor the
climate related risks regularly and implement relevant
measures to minimize the potential impact of climate
change.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

We believe that our employees are valuable assets to
the Group. In order to build a harmonized working
environment, we recognize the importance of
fostering a supportive workplace for employees to
grow with the Group together.

We firmly believe in the principle of equal opportunity
for all employees and this is addressed in the staff
handbook as our employment policy. We ensure that
our recruitment, promotion, compensation, training
and dismissal practices are on a fair and equal basis.
We do not tolerate any discrimination based on race,
religion, sex, marital status, age, national origin, or
other considerations deemed inappropriate by local
laws. We strictly comply with relevant local laws and
regulations relating to hiring, compensation, dismissal,
working hours, rest periods and diversity.
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We respect and protect the legal rights of employees
by abiding to the local laws and regulations including
“Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
“Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, as well as “Employment Ordinance” in Hong
Kong.

During the Reporting Period, we were not aware of
any material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and PRC that
would have a significant impact on the Group.

a) Employee’s Distribution by Age

BB BETE AR MR
7l BREIFEARKNES
A RIFEARAMELE
BEREIARE BRI
MEE N RERBHEERER -

WEMA - BAIAL A B
BREERBELTEERRES
BAEER MR B U AEE
EEEBAFEZIRN -

a) RFRETHESD M

Age Group FiRAE B 2023 2022
—EC=E —ET-=
18-30 18-30 3% 7 10
31-50 31-50 5%, 23 22
>50 505 A 4 6
Total @t 34 38
b) Employee’s Distribution by b) EMFIBSHESS M
Gender
Gender 4 Bl 2023 2022
—E-=HF —EF-=
Male S 20 23
Female % 14 15
Total @t 34 38
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d)

e)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Employee’s Distribution by

BE -HEREIERE

o REREFETHESSD

Employment Type e
Employment Type EfEE R 2023 2022
—EZ=H —EF-—
Full-time £l 34 38
Part-time FH - -
Total st 34 38
Employee’s Distribution by d) #Z#ZEVEESHERSSD
Geographical Location i
2023 2022
—EZ=F —E-—
Hong Kong B 7 3
PRC a3 27 35
Total #ax 34 38

Employee’s Turnover Rate by

e) EMFIETHESRKL

Gender =
No. of Headcount Turnover rate
AE Fktb=
2022 2023 2022
TE-F B —FE-—F
Male B 8 25.00% 34.78%
Female pegis 8 21.43% 53.33%
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aRE

f)  Employee’s Turnover Rate by f) BFERAFZETHESR
Age Group K x
No. of Headcount Turnover rate
AE MR E
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECI=F —E--F ZB-=E —FE-—F
18-30 18-30 % 5 - 71.43% -
31-50 31-50 7% 3 16 13.04% 72.72%
>50 50 BRIA = - - - -
g) Employee’s Turnover Rate by g) BE#EBEVEZLZESR
Geographical Location K FE
No. of Headcount Turnover rate
Aﬂ I)Ibgittx
2023 2022 2023 2022
TZRBCZF T CF ZBIZHE _TOCF
Hong Kong i - - - -
PRC & 8 16 29.63% 45.71%
Health and Safety B2. REHZZ

Safety always comes first throughout the operation
and is the basis of success. Our health and safety
policy is to minimize occupational hazards and provide
a safe working environment. We have set up
procedures for our employees to follow in case of
typhoons and severe rainstorms to ensure their safety
during the journey from and to work. Access to and
egress from workplace is maintained unblocked. First
aid box with emergency contact is in place. We did
not find any work fatality cases or lost days due to
work injury in the past three years including the
reporting year.
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Apart from physical health, we also take care of the
mental health of our employees as well. Paid annual
leaves higher than the statutory requirement are
offered to enhance the work-life balance. In addition,
we have lunch gathering during special festivals such
as the winter solstice and the Christmas Eve. We
arrange birthday parties for our employees to maintain
their spirit in a pleasant working environment.

In order to comply with the “Employees’
Compensation Ordinance” and “Regulation on Work-
Related Injury Insurances”, all employees are covered
by insurance against any accidents. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material noncompliance with the health and safety-
related laws and regulations that would have a
significant impact on the Group.

Development and Training

The Group encourages continuous learning within our
employees and puts emphasis on their holistic
development. All new joiners are required to undergo
an induction briefing regarding corporate culture,
company’s policy and procedure, health and safety,
basic knowledge about the Group’s operation and
system. Measures on professional training, enhancing
leadership and talent team building are available for
employees to achieve their personal goals while
growing with the Group.

A performance appraisal is in place to review the
employees’ performance annually. This provides an
opportunity between the Company and the employees
to communicate so that we can meet employees’
expectations and objectives.
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The Group provides occasional on-the-job training and
on-the-spot guidance to enhance employees’ expertise
and productivity. Moreover, the Group values the
long-term development of its employees and strives to
provide them with different learning opportunities,
including external training and specific training
development programs. The Group also encourages
the culture of sharing knowledge and experience.

During the Reporting Period, the training rate of male
employees, female employees, senior management,
middle management and general staff were 20%,
0%, 100%,
Reporting Period, the average training hours of male

0% and 0% respectively. During the

employees, female employees, senior management,
middle management and general staff were 16.88
hours, 0 hour, 16.88 hours, 0 hour and 0 hour

respectively.

Labour Standards

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited in the
workplace. Stringent hiring procedures and processes
are enforced to verify the legal proof of age before
commencement of work. We also regularly review the
employees’ information to ensure no employment of
child labour and forced labour. The Group has strictly
complied with the Labour Contract Law of PRC, the
Hong Kong employment laws and other relevant laws
and regulations to avoid child or forced labour and
other potential irregularities. We do not adopt any
kind of forced labour including prison labour as
supplier.

If the responsible personnel identify the existence of
child labour or forced labour within the Group, the
work of such child labour or forced labour will be
terminated immediately.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on
employment and labour practices, including those
related to preventing child and forced labour.

Supply Chain Management

One of our procurement principles towards
sustainability is to ensure that our procurement system
can manage any environmental and social risks in the
supply chain. In order to maintain sustainability as well
as quality, our strategy is to build a long-term
relationship with suppliers. We continue to assess and
monitor the existing suppliers’ performances,
according to a series of quantitative indicators, which
include fundamental capability, cost competitiveness,
delivery fulfilment, quality control, customer service,
business innovation, and safety and environmental
protection, to ensure their quality and performance is
up to our standard. We encourage our colleagues to
cooperate with suppliers who have considered
environmental and social impacts in their products or
services, so as to control our risks and maintain the
quality and the healthy development of our supply
chain. New suppliers have to undergo assessment and
evaluation before being adopted.

The Group prefer local suppliers whenever possible to
reduce carbon emissions from transportation and to
support the local economy. During the Reporting
Period, the Group worked with 2 suppliers, 1 of them
was locally based at PRC while the other one was
locally based in Hong Kong. All suppliers were
assessed according to standard procedures.
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In order to manage potential environmental and social
risks in supply chain, the Group embeds environmental
and social considerations in the procurement process,
which implies the following:

o Complying with all relevant and applicable legal
and other requirements;

o Controlling the use of materials and resources
(e.qg. electricity, fuel, paper), minimising the
generation of all kinds of wastes; ensuring that
sewage is discharged in accordance with legal
requirements, and reducing, reusing and
recycling materials wherever possible;

o Requiring contractors to ensure that all waste
materials are properly handled, stored and
disposed in an efficient and sensitive manner to
avoid any contamination;

o Oversee the entire project cycle to ensure their
regulatory compliance to minimize potential
social risks;

o Reviewing the suppliers’ environmental, social
and governance policies; and

o Assessing suppliers’ performance in the aspects
of human rights, labor practices, health and
safety etc.

Environmentally and socially responsible suppliers will
be prioritised in the selection process.
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Green procurement has been our procurement
approach. In the process of sourcing materials, we
require that components used by the suppliers be in
full compliance with environmental protection
requirements, in accordance with national and
industry standards. The Group also arranges meetings
with the suppliers on a regular basis to ensure the
provision of quality products and services to customers
and to monitor the supplier’'s performance in business
ethics, environmental protection, human rights and
labour practices.

Product/service Responsibility

Product and service

Quality is the key component to take shape of
customer satisfaction. With regard to product quality,
we ensure that all products should comply with
national standards including China Compulsory
Certification (CCC) in terms of testing certificates
issued by accredited laboratory. In addition to
following national standards regarding product
quality, we abide by the internal principles to secure
the safety and quality of our products. We strictly
monitor the entire lifecycle of our products, from
sourcing materials to product recall, return and
replacement, so as to ensure the execution of
technical standards, operational safety, as well as
product and service quality. Each quality report and
product recall request, if any, from our customers will
be investigated and examined seriously by our
designated quality control team to determine
appropriate follow-up actions.

We value customers’ feedback, as this is the driving
force for our continual improvement. Once a
complaint is received, we will take prompt actions to
investigate the issue and carry out remedial action
plans.

During the reporting period, there was no product
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons and no
products and service-related complaints received.
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Customer privacy

Customer information is treated as confidential data in
the Group. Only core staff of relevant department are
granted permissions to access according to different
hierarchy and locations. The Group has the right to
executive disciplinary actions on employees who
violate the rules stipulated in the employee handbook.

Intellectual property

The Group endeavours to protect intellectual rights by
different measures. We actively monitor any
infringement in terms of counterfeit goods across the
country with people’s court and public bodies. In
addition, we renew the registration of any expiring
trademarks and patents based on the need of our
business. We strictly abide by relevant laws and
regulations, including the “Copyright Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and “Trademark Law of
the People’s Republic of China”.

Advertising and labelling

Systematic review and approval process is in place
before advertisement launch to the market to
safeguard accurate presentation and protect
customers. Appropriate safety warnings are attached
on the product packaging for consumers’ information.

We are in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations including “Advertising Law of People’s
Republic of China” and “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests”. There are no breaches of laws and
regulations relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters in connection with our
products and services provided during the Reporting
Period.
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Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption is the cornerstone of the business and
sustainability, which at the same time the most
material topics rated by our stakeholders. Stringent
policies are stipulated in the employee handbook in
relation to compliance with the “Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance”, such as soliciting or accepting any
advantages in the business operations, to ensure
employees’ actions abide by our internal regulations.
Procedures are established to minimize corruption risks
related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering in the business operation. Internal control
mechanism is in place for monitoring. To achieve and
maintain the highest standards of openness, probity
and accountability, the Group establishes the
whistleblowing policy which allows our employees to
report whistleblowing matters anonymously.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations or concluded legal cases
that has a significant impact concerning bribery,
extortion, fraud or money laundering.

The Group will provide training to our directors and
employees on anti-corruption practices in the ensuing
financial year.

Community Investment

As part of our’s strategic development, we are
committed to supporting social participation and
contribution, and to nurture the corporate culture and
practices of corporate citizen in its daily operation. We
aim to promote the stability of society, and support
the underprivileged to improve their quality of life. We
create job opportunities and promote economic
growth in the local communities through our business
and operation. We also endeavours to foster
employees’ sense of social responsibility, encouraging
employees to participate actively in voluntary services
during their leisure time to help people in need.
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The need of labour is the Group’s focus area. Various
channels such as appraisals and staff meetings etc.,
are provided to staff for sharing their response to the
Group about their needs and concerns.

Work-life balance is one of the important elements in
retaining employees in the Group. In this spirit, the
Group has organised various activities to help relieve
employees from work stress, as well as to foster
employees’ relationship, for example, the Group
organised weekly sports activities, annual dinners and
team buildings activities.

In order to seek further development opportunities
to maintain a harmonious relationship with
stakeholders, the Group will continue to explore the
possibility of investing available resources to the
community and uphold the principles of accountability
to shareholders, investors, suppliers, customers and
the public community.
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The directors present their annual report and audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 112 to 113 of the annual
report.

No interim dividend was declared during the year. The directors
do not recommend the payment of a final dividend. There are no
arrangements under which a shareholder has waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022 consisted of contributed surplus and accumulated
profits were nil.
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Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Yu
Mr. Hou Zhenyang

(Resigned on 21 July 2023)
Mr. Li Jianwu

(Appointed on 21 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Law Chun Kwan

Dr. Lo Wai Shun

Mr. Leung Wai Hung

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) and Bye-law 87 of the
Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Li Jianwu and Mr. Wang Yu shall retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election, respectively.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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The term of office of each of the non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors is the date up to his
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s bye-
laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
directors, the chief executive and their associates in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future
Ordinance (“SFO")), which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code"), were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company
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Percentage of
Number of the issued share

issued ordinary capital of
Name of director Capacity shares held the Company
FIFE®T WBERARSHIT
EEsnR 54 EEREAE BREBDLE
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (“Mr. Lau”)  Held by a discretionary trust (Note) 37,660,002 17.80%

2 NERE(TRIEE]D RN (M)
Beneficial owner 78,685,479 37.20%

EnlEAA

116,345,481 55.00%

Note: These shares are held by Future 2000 Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which in turn is held by a
discretionary trust, the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Lau, his
spouse and his children.
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The interest disclosed above represents long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company or its associated
corporations.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors, chief executives
nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any
shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO at 31 December
2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or their close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) has
any other interest in a business apart from the business of the
Group which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 28 May 2014 to
provide incentives to directors, eligible employees and other
qualified persons who in the opinion of the board of directors has
made or will make contributions which are or may be beneficial to
the Group as a whole.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share
option scheme:

(i) Purpose
The primary purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives
to directors, eligible employees and other qualified persons
who in the opinion of the board of directors has made or
will make contributions which are or may be beneficial to
the Group as a whole.

92

PR ER 2 HE am HE AN A A s AR R

Bz B tn MARRA R Dy B
%LY%&$%%'5$ TR AL 3K
BEZHEBAR_ZT-_=F+=A

E+—Ewﬂ%ﬁ$ Al 3k H (T (o] 4R Bt
EE(EERBHFRBPEGD) 2 E MK
e AR 2 HEZRSOKE o

EENEFERTNERS

BE_T_=—H+_A=t—RHLFE"
EFNEETHEA(ERL LTRA)
MENEAREBXBARAEEERERN
B F A XK (R EEEBRIN)
RHEA T E RS

BBhRE
ARABR-ZF—MFRA -+ /\BEH
—IEBEREE UREFER/E X

El% g & B IE SRR R E ]
EBRERZES GEBERRHEAM
AéﬂAim%ﬁﬁ

BREA S 2 T2 GBI T

(i) B®W
AEHZERENARESERAY
AEBEBN S IFH A MIELE
REAEBEBNRERMZES 5ER
BERHEMAERALIE T EE -



(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Who may join

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may,
subject to certain conditions, grant to any directors,
employees, suppliers, agents, customers, distributors,
business associates or partners, professionals or other
advisors of, or consultants or contractors to, any members
of the Group or any associated companies who in the
opinion of the board of directors has made or will make
contributions which are or may be beneficial to the Group
as a whole.

Maximum number of Shares and total number of
shares available for issue subject to options

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes of our Company (and to which the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
shall not exceed 21,155,588 Shares (representing 10% of
the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the date the Shares
commence trading on the Stock Exchange and on the date
of this report). As at 31 December 2023, no share option
had been granted and the number of share options available
for grant by the Company was 21,155,588.

Limit for each participant

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time.

Option period
Options granted must be taken up within the time period
set out in the offer letter.

Minimum period

There is no minimum period for which an option granted
must be held before it can be exercised unless otherwise
imposed by the Directors.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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(vii) Payment on acceptance of option offer
An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was
made, upon payment of HK$1.

(viii) Subscription price

Options to subscribe for shares in the Company at any price
but not less than the higher of (i) nominal value of a share,
(ii) the closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on
the day of grant, and (iii) the average of the closing prices of
the shares on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options,
subject to a maximum of 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

(ix) Present status of the Share Option Scheme
No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this annual report. As at 31 December
2023, the Company had no outstanding share option under
the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme wiill
expire on 28 May 2024.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed above, at no time
during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate. None of the directors, their spouses or children under
the age of 18 had any rights to subscribe for the securities of the
Company or had exercised any such rights during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, were entered
into or subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into
any contract of significance with a controlling Shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries, nor any contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed as at 31 December 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at 31
December 2023, the following shareholders had notified the
Company of relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

APBREREEN BT ZEEBR

Name of substantial

Percentage of
Number of the issued share
issued ordinary capital of

shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
e ®IT GEALQTASET
FTERRMR 14 HEBERHE RA&AB DL
Mr. Lau Held by a discretionary trust (Note 1) 37,660,002 17.80%
g2l bivta RREFTRE (1)
Beneficial owner 78,685,479 37.20%
BB A
116,345,481 55.00%
Mr. Lee Wai, Timothy Held by controlled entity (Note 2) 37,660,002 17.80%
FREE REtERsA (Fit2)
Notes: Hat -

These shares are held by Future 2000 Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which in turn is held by a
discretionary trust. The beneficiaries of the discretionary trust
include Mr. Lau, his spouse and his children.

Under the SFO, Mr. Lee Wai, Timothy is deemed to have interests in
the shares of the Company as he is entitled to exercise more than
one-third of the voting power at general meetings of Future 2000
Limited.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-

executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The

Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors

are in
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There has been no other change of information of Directors
during the year pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the listed securities of the Company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any concrete
plans for material investments or capital assets.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

(1)  The aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest
customers and the largest customer represent approximately
100% and 82%, respectively, of the Group’s total revenue;

(2) The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers and the largest supplier represent
approximately 100% and 82 %, respectively, of the Group’s
total purchase.
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At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a director
or a shareholder of the Company which to the knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, had a beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
35 to 64 of this annual report, the Company has complied
throughout the year with the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules which were then in force during
the respective periods.

Detailed information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is also set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Group has a share option scheme under which the Company
may grant share options to the participants, including directors
and employees, to subscribe for shares of the Company, details of
the scheme is set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group,
which are designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and provide reasonable assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Business Risk

The Group’s business risks include rapid change in the general
market conditions, downturn pressure on the overall economy of
the PRC and price competition from other market players. The
Board is responsible for the overall management of the business
and review of material business decisions involving material risks
exposures from time to time.

Financial Risk

The Board monitors closely the Group's currency risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Board also reviews monthly
management accounts, capital structure and key operating data
of the Group.

Compliance Risk

The Board monitor and ensure that the Group is in compliance
with the applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Group
engages professionals from time to time to keep abreast of the
latest developments in the regulatory environment, including
legal, financial, environmental and operational developments. The
Group also adopts a strict policy in prohibiting any unauthorised
use or dissemination of confidential or inside information.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control and risk management systems covering business, financial
and compliance risks of the Group and is satisfied that such
systems are effective and adequate for the current operations of
the Group.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance and risk management policies and
procedures, and members of the senior management are
delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor adherence
and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements. These policies and procedures are reviewed
regularly. As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES
AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its
businesses and the communities with which it engages. The
Group pursues this business approach by managing its business
prudently and executing management decisions with due care and
attention. The Group keeps on reviewing environmental issues in
its operations from time to time.

For details, please refer to section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 65 to 88 of this annual report.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS, OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no convertible
securities, options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries remained outstanding.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company had a permitted indemnity provision (as defined in
section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) in force for the benefit
of the Directors during the year and up to the date of approval of
this Directors’ Report, pursuant to which the Company shall
indemnify any Director against any liability, loss suffered and
expenses incurred by the Director in connection with any legal
proceedings in which he/she is involved by reason of being a
Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty
of the Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against
the Directors arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During the year, no
claims were made against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s Shares.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Group and discussed the Group’s risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters
with the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. Save in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has not
entered into any connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the above non-exempt connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this
report, based on the information available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 20 March 2024, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with independent third parties (the “Subscribers”),
pursuant to which the Subscribers have conditionally agreed to
subscribe, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue, a total 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash
consideration of approximately HK$7.8 million (“the 2024
Subscriptions”). At the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the 2024 Subscriptions have not been
completed. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other significant events
subsequent to the reporting period.
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AUDITOR

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 were audited by Yongtuo
Fuson CPA Limited.

A resolution for re-appointment of Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

APPRECIATION

The Group would like to express its appreciation to all the staff for
their outstanding contribution towards the Group’s development.
The Board wishes to sincerely thank the management for their
dedication and diligence, and they are the key factors for the
Group to continue its success in future. Also, the Group wishes to
extend its gratitude for the continued support from its
shareholders, customers, and business partners. The Group will
continue to deliver sustainable business development, so as to
meet its business objectives for 2024 and realise higher values for
its shareholders and other stakeholders.

On behalf of the Board
Lau Siu Ying
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA FORTUNE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Fortune Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to
255, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$12,616,000 and as at 31 December 2023, its
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$21,758,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements, indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The
directors, having considered the measures and plans being taken
by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group would be able to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matters described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matter described below to be the key audit matter
to be communicated in our report.
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Revenue recognition regarding to sales of goods

am 8 2 W S R R
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Key audit matter

BEEITEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EECERNMEEREER

As disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group's revenue was
derived from sales of mobile phone and electronic
products.

WINGR A BTSRRI EE 9 P EE -
AREHERHEZRETFEM °

BERENK

Revenue from sales of mobile phone and
electronic products is recognised when control of
the goods is transferred to the customers,
generally when the goods are delivered to and
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to customers.
BHERARETEMHERARNEREERTE
FzEREE(—RAEMRNTEF A KBR &
BRZEBEBREZTFR)BR -

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key
audit matter because of its significance to the
Group as a whole and errors in the recognition of
revenue could have a material impact on the
Group's results.
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Our audit procedures in relating to revenue
recognition regarding sales of mobile phone and
electronic products included, among others, the
following:
EERHERDEZNEFTEMNMARR 2 ST
BFafE(EhaiE) ATRE :

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iii)

(iii)

Inspecting sales and purchase agreements, on a
sample basis, to understand the terms of delivery
and assessing whether management recognised
the related revenue in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies, with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

MEREEE R - U TR ERRFEE
BERARE EEBZEBRALERT
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Assessing, on a sample basis, whether sales
transactions recorded during the financial year
had been recognised properly by inspecting the
transactions selected with relevant underlying
documentations;
METERMREEARZHERIEEER
R TARUEBAX A REMEEZRS

Assessing, on a sample basis, whether sales
transactions before and after the financial year
end had been recognised in the appropriate
period by comparing the transactions selected
with relevant underlying documentations; and
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Key audit matter

HRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEE2BERNMNEERRER

(iv) Reviewing if there are any significant adjustments
to revenue during the reporting period,
understanding the reasons for such adjustments
and comparing the details of the adjustments
with relevant underlying documentations.

(iv)

ERRERAZWREBIEHEMNERRE -

TRAMAE B - WA LR AR
F1S -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
35 3L 1% BBl 3R 5

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are also responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this
regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group'’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the directors of the
Company, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fok Tat Choi.

Yongtuo Fuson CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fok Tat Choi
Practising Certificate Number: P0O6895
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReRRRRAMI2ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E—= T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
Revenue Y &5 9 81,542 80,576
Cost of sales SHE AR (81,166) (80,273)
Gross profit EF 376 303
Other income H A 2,297 2,385
Other gains and losses, net Hithlam R E 18 - JF5E 10 569 (1,687)
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SRR (179) (405)
Administrative expenses THEHA (17,675) (20,829)
Finance costs BLE KA 11 (103) (160)
Share of results of an associate ME—REEBE R 2 EE 21 (362) 7
Loss before income tax BR PTG A& 18 12 (15,077) (20,386)
Income tax expense FT1S TR X 13 (22) 3)
Loss for the year FEEE (15,099) (20,389)
Other comprehensive Ht2m(BX) WA
(expenses)/income that may TMREZEBZER
be subsequently transferred
to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising B EEBREEES
on translation from BEE¥mMEACZELZE
functional currency to ]
presentation currency (4) (722)
Share of exchange differences of 9 —fEE & A R 2 [E
an associate HERE (65) (198)
Release of translation reserve & — M B A R AR
upon disposal of a subsidiary MR & R 33 (1,130) 148
Total comprehensive expenses for N4 € 2 [ [ 7 4258
the year (16,298) (21,161)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERRRRAMEZERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EB=F =
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Hiat FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: G EFEEE :
— Owners of the Company — ARRHEB A (12,616) (14,372)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (2,483) (6,017)
(15,099) (20,389)
Total comprehensive expenses for  JE{hH AN E 2 XX
the year attributable to: #eEE
— Owners of the Company — RNBHEA A (14,855) (18,166)
— Non-controlling interests — FEPE RIS (1,443) (2,995)
(16,298) (21,161)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BERREE GENM) 17 (6.39) (7.83)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

At 31 December 2023 W =—ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E—= T
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
HiaF FET FAET
Non-Current Assets FRBEE
Plant and equipment 5 M & 18 20 49
Mining right ERAEE 19 - -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 20(a) 1,596 980
Interests in associates B & R Z R 21 1,015 2,566
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAEBZZ
profit or loss W EE 22 1,300 2,109
Club memberships L 23 680 875
4,611 6,579
Current Assets REEE
Inventories rE 24 1,964 924
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 AR R EoA
e BR X 25 19,479 1,278
Amounts due from non-controlling ~ J& U Bt B8 22 7] 3E4%
shareholders of subsidiaries MR R 2 3B 26 340 184
Financial assets at fair value through R AFEFAEBZEZ
profit or loss MG EE 22 642 557
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFEEED 27 11,866 6,225
34,291 9,168
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FEN B SRR KR HA
JETRRX 28 41,589 21,051
Amount due to a related party e B A £ 2 5kI8 35(a) 11,663 313
Amounts due to non-controlling ANINIENGIE 224
shareholders of subsidiaries AR R 2 BIE 26 28 973
Tax payables JERT IR 1,706 1,759
Lease liabilities MEAR 20(b) 1,063 535
56,049 24,631
Net Current Liabilities RBEEFE (21,758) (15,463)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities R2EER GBI EE (17,147) (8,884)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RERBRAR

At 31 December 2023 W =—Z-—=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—EB—-= T

Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Hiat FET FET

Capital and Reserves EXRRE
Share capital A& A 29 2,116 1,836
Reserves i 25,925 33,852

Equity Attributable to Owners of AR FEE AELER

the Company 28,041 35,688
Non-controlling interests FEFE I M A (45,723) (45,038)
(17,682) (9,350)

Non-Current Liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HERE 20(b) 535 466
535 466
(17,147) (8,884)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 255 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28
March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lau Siu Ying

WHATEERERE

Mr. Li Jianwu

2 NERE ZEREE
Chairman Director
TE EE

FINRESSEZEAVBERREETERN
—E-NFE=A -+ N\BHEWRETE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
=g ¥4 IES

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREEAEE
Non-
Share Share Special Translation  Statutory Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve funds  reserve losses Total interests equity
BA  RGBE BHRE RERE  ieEE  HftRE  ZHER BEF FRGMEE  ERAE
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT AT TAT TiAT AT AT AT AT TAT TAT
(note (i) (note (i)~ (note (i) (note (iv) (note v)
below) below) below) below) below)
@  (BFTx (Bt  (BTx  (EFX
MEE))  MEE) W) MR BEG)
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE--%-A-H 1,836 463,439 2,481 69,275 30,132 1,667 (514,976) 53,854 (42,715) 11,139
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - (14370 (14372 (6017)  (20,389)
Exchange differences arising on EPEAES et
tranglation from functional curency ~ EEMELZER
to presentation currency EB - - - (3,744) - - - (3,744) 3,022 (722)
Release of translation reserve upon ~ tHE— B A T8
disposal of a subsidiary RRAERE - - - 148 - - - 148 - 148
Share of exchange differences of AMi—HBERAL
an associate ERER > = = (198) = = S (198) = (198)
Total comprehensive expenses AEERERN LS
for the year - - - (3,794) - - (14,372) (18,166) (2,995) (21,161)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HNEAR
(note 33(b)) (Hizt330)) - - - - - - - - 672 672
At 31 December 2022 NZFZZ
+-R=1+-H 1,836 463,439 2,481 65,481 30,132 1,667 (529,348) 35,688 (45,038) (9,350)
At 1 January 2023 W=E-=%-A-H 1,836 463,439 2,481 65,481 30,132 1,667 (529,348) 35,688 (45,038) (9,350)
Loss for the year gk - - - - - - (12616)  (12616)  (2483)  (15099)
Exchange differences arising on B EBHER 2]
translation from functional cureney ~ EMMELZER
to presentation currency 8 - - - (1,044) - - - (1,044) 1,040 @)
Release of translation reserve upon ~ (HE—TEIBAFIR
disposal of a subsidiary RRAEREE - - - (1,130) - - - (1,130) - (1,130)
Share of exchange differences of AME—FBERRZ
an assodiate ERER - = = (65) = = = (65) = (65)
Total comprehensive expenses TEERERTME
for the year - - - (2,239) - - (12,616)  (14,855) (1,443)  (16,298)
Disposal of a subsidiary E-RNBAR
(note 33(a)) (#330)) - - - - - - - - 758 758
Subscription of New Shares RERRD (F2 R
(as defined and described HLENE290)
in note 29(b)) 280 7,000 - - - - - 7,280 - 7,280
Issuance of new shares expenses BIHRER - (1) - - - - = 1) = (72)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=F
+-A=1+-H 2,116 470,367 2,481 63,242 30,132 1,667 (541,964) 28,011 (45,723) (17,682)
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Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FEHREER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

The share premium represents the amount subscribed for share
capital in excess of nominal value.

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for their acquisition at the
time of the group reorganisation in 1999.

The translation reserve represents gains/losses arising on
retranslating the net assets/liabilities of foreign operations into
presentation currency.

The statutory funds are required by the relevant laws applicable to
the Group’s subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"”) and can be utilised to offset the prior years’
losses of the PRC subsidiaries.

Other reserve represents the imputed interest portion calculated by
the effective interest method on the loan from a related party which
was provided interest-free and also the amount relating to the set-
off arrangement with a related party during the year ended 31
December 2021.

it -

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Bt (B 1 SR BB A AR & BRI (B 2 70R -

FrhlE R E BB AR 2 RO EEER
ARAR—NANANFETEEEERAKRER
BITZBRMEERZEZR -

BRERBERSIEBZEE BEFHE
MMER2FERmES 2 W EiE o

EEESERERANAEBEEREARANE
(TR ) RS 2 B AR 2 B REDIFTARE
F UARREBEZETENBARBES
B2 B -

HibEZEERRE —BHEALTZTFEE
FUABBRFEEAEZHEREID UK
REE-_ZT-_—F+_-_A=t+—RHItFEH
— BB AT ZIEE LB ARESE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEaRenE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=H —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEY
Loss before income tax Br TSR R E 1R (15,077) (20,386)
Adjustments for: FEE -
Interest income AEWA (81) (98)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBRZMNERAX 103 160
Fair value loss on financial assets at BAVEFABE Y
fair value through profit or loss BEEZ AT EEBE 593 375
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 1,016 1,360
Depreciation of plant and equipment B E REETE 11 9
Share of results of an associate D —REEE AT Z
E 4 362 (7)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  FLIEUWE Z BRI M E AL
trade and other receivables, net FE YR R HERR 2 BE
B - F8 19 315
Reversal of impairment loss in respect of ~ #[a] fE Uk /&8 X 7] FF1%
amounts due from non-controlling Bl AR R IR 2 RE
shareholders of subsidiaries B8 (31) -
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  BLRBEA N F) 2 RS
interests in associates R REEE 1.124 -
Loss on termination of lease contracts IFRES Y 2 EE 78 153
Loss on disposal of financial assets at HER AT ET ABR
fair value through profit or loss 2B EEZEE 65 -
Gain on disposal of plant HEME k& iE 2 e
and equipment (5) -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of a subsidiary HENB AR (W),
E8 (1,919) 942
OPERATING CASH FLOWS BEFORE EELESRBA 2 RKER
MOVEMENTS IN WORKING CAPITAL EHhE (13,742) (17,177)
Increase in inventories FEE M (1,040) (924)
(Increase) decrease in trade and FEUE Z R % H Ath FE Lk
other receivables AR (38 50) 3 (18,251) 6,008
Increase in amount due from non- JE B B8 &) FE 128 1) 1M iR
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries R 2 IR (125) (47)
Increase (decrease) in trade and JEN B Z R AR H A ERT
other payables BRFRIE 0 CRl ) 22,153 (3,817)
(Decrease) increase in amount due JE AR B 2 ) FE 42 1 1 A%
to non-controlling shareholders K2R CRD) 15
of subsidiaries (185) 559
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS REMARE (11,190) (15,398)
Income tax paid ERAER (30) -
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING KRETEMARS T
ACTIVITIES (11,220) (15,398)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ﬁ = IEQI)ILE

E-T_=HF+-A=1+—HLFE

==

2023 2022
—EB-= —_FT—_—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received B B 82 98
Purchase of plant and equipment BEWE MR (2) (13)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HEMRE ki&iE 2 A
equipment S5 5 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets — HEZAFEFABIREZ
at fair value through profit or loss W EEZFTERIA 2 -
Net cash outflow from disposal of HE—EHBATES
a subsidiary Tt FER (43) (98)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BRETEMB (A B
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES R 44 (13)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEE
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBBEZER (1,216) (1,648)
Net proceeds from Subscription of REBFTRAD 2 TS 5/18
New Shares %] 7,208 =
Advance from a related party RE—HRBEEATZBK 11,350 -
Repayment to a related party BE—R@EATZHE - (6,147)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM mﬂ:ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ (FTARE
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEE 17,342 (7,795)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH ReRESEEYEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OR2) #8 6,166 (23,206)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHAZHEERESZEEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 6,225 31,504
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXE o8 (525) (2,073)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZAESRREEEY
END OF YEAR 11,866 6,225
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReERASEENEH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 2 B
represented by
Cash and bank balances RE RIRTTEERR 11,866 6,225
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in Bermuda under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended). The shares of the Company are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company
is Future 2000 Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). Mr. Lau Siu Ying (“Mr. Lau”),
the Chief Executive Officer and executive director of the
Company is the controlling shareholder of the Company.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are distribution and trading
of mobile phone and electronic products and mining and
processing of celestite, zinc and lead minerals. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
("RMB"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") for the
convenience of the shareholders, as the Company is listed in
Hong Kong.

The English names of all the companies established in the
PRC presented in these consolidated financial statements
represent the best efforts made by the directors of the
Company for the translation of the Chinese names of these
companies to English names as they do not have official
English names.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TOHONG 2. ERS SN EBEEA(E
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B IR R |) 2 8ET
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

(a) MAFERFIERZHFTRE

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-

Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TOHONG 2. EREEBHERSERN(SE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B IR RS R |) > 55T (&)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

122

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments define
accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items
in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the
objective set out by the accounting policy. The
amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estimates and Errors clarify the
distinction between changes in accounting estimates,
and changes in accounting policies and the correction
of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements is amended to replace all
instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group's accounting policies set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TOHONG 2. EREEBHERSERN(SE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B IR RS R |) > 55T (&)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

124

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

The Group has a subsidiary operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under
certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes
mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee who
administers the assets held in a trust solely for the
retirement benefits of each individual employee.
Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of
the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP (the
“Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take effect on
1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition, under
the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of
the date of termination of employment) is used to
calculate the portion of LSP in respect of the
employment period before the Transition Date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2,
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

EREEMBHSER(E
B IR E 2R ) 2 85T (&)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance
for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this,
the Group has implemented the guidance published
by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and more
relevant information about the effects of the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising
from employer MPF contributions that have been
vested with the employee and which could be used to
offset the employee’s LSP benefits as a deemed
contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits to account for the deemed employee
contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the
period in which the related service is rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #E2 - - =F+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TOHONG 2. EREEBHERSERN(SE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B IR E |) 28T (@)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

126

mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long
Service Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (Continued)

Based on the HKICPA's guidance, as a result of the
Abolition, these contributions are no longer
considered “linked solely to the employee’s service in
that period” since the mandatory employer MPF
contributions after the Transition Date can still be used
to offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it
would not be appropriate to view the contributions as
“independent of the number of years of service” and
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19
Employee Benefits is no longer applicable. Instead,
these deemed contributions should be attributed to
periods of service in the same manner as the gross LSP
benefit applying paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19
Employee Benefits.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2,
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are

(b)

(a)

mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

The directors of the Company consider that the
changes in the Group’s accounting policy in the

current year had no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but

not yet effective

(b)

The Group has not early applied the following new

and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of

Assets between an
Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale

and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) 2

Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants?

Supplier Finance

Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability?

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #iZ2 - - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but

not yet effective (Continued)

1 for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated

128

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if participants
would take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability market at the
measurement date.

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use
in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. ZEUMBHRZIREEE &)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated () HZEHBHRRZFEREE (&)
financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value AN - BBt SRS mES - AT

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 EBit=REAEEAZZH A

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair B R r] B R IE B K g A K

value measurements are observable and the NI EAEZEREEE X558

significance of the inputs to the fair value BENR - F2RMNEIL 0 FH

measurement in its entirety, which are described as A

follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in . F1HE AETE BT RN
active markets for identical assets or liabilities = HERE ZMEEE
that the entity liability can access at the EXxBENERTS Z5H
measurement date; B (R&EFHE) ;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted ° FEIREABR BFE1H
prices included within Level 1, that are SEERNBREBIAIGEE
observable for the asset or liability, either directly o B & 0] B R ABIE
or indirectly; and (BExEE) &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
incurred a loss attributable to the owner of the
Company of approximately HK$12,616,000 (2022:
HK$14,372,000) and a net operating cash outflow of
approximately HK$11,220,000 (2022: HK$15,398,000).
In addition, as at 31 December 2023, its current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$21,758,000 (2022: HK$15,463,000).

The conditions described above indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and hence, its ability to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

3. FEMBRRZEREEE)

FEKE

RRABEZERERE MR
R AEMAHAEEA R
SE) B IR R T8 R R R R AR
e At EFNHRRES
MBRRGRAETRIE R

s
BRRERE -

(b)

BE T _=#+-_A=+—
HIEFE AEBELELRAQEA
HE AFELEEX 12,616,000
EIL(ZZT = 4 : 14,372,000
BT REER & MEHFEL
11,220,000 8L (Z T4 :
15,398,000 7T ) » L oh » B
—E-=F+=-A=+—H8"
AEBRRBBEBALRE
& E#X21,758,0008 (=&
© 15,463,000 7T) °

L ERRAFEERNTEE
A& e AREREL
ERNELEAEM @ LM
BERN-—REBBAERETERA
BENBITHAEBNES -

131



2023 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment (Continued)

132

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group. The
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow projections prepared by the management of
the Company. The cash flow projections cover a
period of at least the next twelve months from 31
December 2023. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group can meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due within the next twelve
months from 31 December 2023, after taking into
consideration of the measures and plans made by the
Group as detailed below:

(i)  As described in note 29(c), on 20 March 2024,
the Company entered into subscription
agreements with certain subscribers, pursuant to
which the subscribers have conditionally agreed
to subscribe, and the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, a total 30,000,000
shares of HK$0.26 each for a gross proceeds of
approximately HK$7.8 million. The directors of
the Company will consider to improve the
financial position of the Group and to enlarge
the capital base of the Company by further
conducting fund raising exercises such as share
placement, right issues or others as and when
necessary;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The Company obtained a letter of undertaking
(the “Letter of Undertaking”) dated 28 March
2024 from Mr. Lau, the Chief Executive Officer,
executive director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company that he agrees to
provide adequate funds to enable the Group to
meet its liabilities and to settle financial
obligations to third parties as and when they fall
due so that the Group can continue as a going
concern and carry on its business without a
significant curtailment of operations for a period
of at least the next twelve months from 31
December 2023 and details of which are set out
in note 35(a);

The Group will also continue to seek for other
alternative financing and bank borrowings to
finance the settlement of its existing financial
obligations and future operating and capital
expenditures; and

The directors of the Company will continue to
implement measures aiming at improving the
working capital and cash flows of the Group
including closely monitoring general
administrative expenses and operating costs.

In light of the above measures and plans implemented
to date, the directors of the Company are of the view
that the Group has sufficient cash resources to satisfy
its working capital and other financial obligations for a
period of at least the next twelve months from 31
December 2023 after having taken into account of the
Group's projected cash flows, current financial
resources and capital expenditure requirements with
respect to the development of its business.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of the
view that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern

basis.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Going concern assessment (Continued)
Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties
exist as to whether the management of the Company
will be able to achieve its measures and plans as
described above. Whether the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern would depend upon the
Group's ability to generate adequate financing and
operating cash flows in the near future and obtain the
continuous financial support from its controlling
shareholder.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to restate the values of assets to their estimated
recoverable amounts, to provide further liabilities that
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non- controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).

The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.

136

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

EXEHBEREN &)

REEXE(E)
AEEREEHE A AR 2 B E

AEERHBAR 2 EEEF T
BYAREERELE R R ZIEH
’fié A EERH AR - AEEE
E‘Jffﬁﬁfﬁiﬂﬁi*ﬁ o e FE R B 25 Y
Bﬁﬁfﬁa%aﬂ%‘ A B2 Bk ELTA S /B8

NAREHEREE  BRREA
KB EOE RS A L DI RTE R
R B IR s 2 R E T ACAR
B

FEEEENHESREDNHE
WREHNA J?TEZF‘?E’JEEJ%%EE
BEREmT R UEBRARA
B’AA -

e 7S 62 B 2K 5 P JBB 8 A) 2 P b

ZHB ARz BERABNIFHER
#aE(E) KR IEHER - RBRE
RZWBLBERERATREZE
B E (B WMHKERAFEREM
REBEE A FEZAE  Ri)AR
AEAAREHBEAREE (BER
B)REERMNBARBE 2B -
5T B EL At 2 T o 25 o 2% P B 2 A

BRAZMESERBUAKREDE
BEHEZMBARIZHEREELER
Bz T AR (ARER BB HHR
:./ﬁ,ﬁ' |PrETER, AR EH D EER

MR E S —EaER) o

R ARSI E BRI B A alR
BeEMAMEBEEZATE  BRESR
5%%5%#&%’—%5”%95)’;&@15:&

HEARRERBIPERZ AT
TE F(ER)RBE AR 2IRE
R ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —Z —

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- generating unit
within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the cash-generating unit)
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit (or
the group of cash-generating units) retained.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)
The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
When the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of the
relevant interest in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —Z —

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

] the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Further information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to revenue from contracts with customers is
provided in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 Leases at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand- alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease

Right-of- use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates that
do not result in the Group losing significant influence or
joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are recognised as other revenue, rather than reducing
the related expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
other PRC state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax
effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Plant and equipment are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Plant and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at
cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Sale proceeds of items that are produced while
bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management (such as
samples produced when testing whether the asset is
functioning properly), and the related costs of producing
those items are recognised in the profit or loss. The cost of
those items are measured in accordance with the
measurement requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

Construction in progress represents plant and equipment
under construction or pending installation and is stated at
cost less any impairment losses. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction in progress until such
time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for
intended use. Construction in progress is classified to the
appropriate category of plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following useful loves after taking
into account the residual value:

Leasehold improvements 5%-20% or over the term
of the relevant leases,
whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and 20%-33%

equipment

Motor vehicles 20%-25%
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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2023 Annual Report

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Club memberships

Club memberships with indefinite life are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Mining right

Mining right is stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Mining
right is amortised using the units of production method
based on the proven and probable mineral reserves.

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwiill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwiill
(Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash- generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

EXEHEREN @)

BERSHE ERAREERETLE
E(BERMN) 2BE (F)

Eﬁﬁi%i 5 (7 #E 178 E R

CHEEREVAER —BZoRE
£ AnEEEEIRZHAERS
EEEH BRI tEEESHE
EURVABEE—BZoREEY
BNBEEABMMAER - ATRE S
BIRGEEEMB I REEXEN
KB ELBMAERNET WA
BIRSELBEURREEELSEMA
A2 BREEELLES ©

A] W O] & 58 A3 X PR B AR
FEREEMETZRSE ° Ealfh
EREER [ ARXRERES
RARRERHSHEERHEER
REE(ZREELEM)FERR
ZRHEZ MR IR RKBIR EHR
B MZEE(KREELEMN)
fHETRBHE

155
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwiill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash- generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash- generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash

equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank

overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an

integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such

overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Provision for close down and restoration costs
Close down and restoration costs are provided in the
accounting period when the obligation arising from the
related disturbance occurs, whether this occurs during mine
development or during the production phase, based on the
net present value of estimated future costs. The cost is
capitalised where it gives rise to future benefits, whether the
rehabilitation activity is expected to occur over the life of the
operation or at the time of close down. The capitalised cost
is amortised over the life of the operation and the increase
in the net present value of the provision is included in
borrowing costs. Where there is a change in the expected
decommissioning and restoration costs, an adjustment is
recorded against the carrying value of the provision and
related assets, and the effect is then recognised in the profit
or loss on a prospective basis over the remaining life of the
operation. Provision for close down and restoration costs do
not include any additional obligations which are expected to
arise from future disturbance. The cost estimates are
reviewed and revised at the end of each reporting period to
reflect changes in conditions.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —Z —

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Interest/dividend income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and cash and cash equivalents
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.

Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RERERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4.
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

(i)

164

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 90 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
(iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)
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(iii)
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Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 180 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over one year
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Company’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —T —=

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

170

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a Group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Going concern consideration

As explained in note 3(b), the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
and have not included any adjustments that would be
required should the Group fail to continue as a going
concern since the directors of the Company are satisfied
that the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming year after taking into the considerations as detailed
in note 3(b). The directors of the Company also believe that
the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financing requirements for
a period of at least the next twelve months from 31
December 2023.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RERERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group performed impairment assessments on its
interests in associates. Determining whether impairment loss
should be recognised requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount of the relevant associates which is the
higher of value-in-use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value-in-use calculation requires the management of the
Group to estimate the present value of the estimated cash
flows expected to arise from dividends to be received from
the associates and the proceeds from the ultimate disposal
of the investment taking into account the discount rate,
revenue growth rate etc.

In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future cash flows estimation, a material reversal
or further recognition of impairment may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or further recognition takes place.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the
Group's interest in associates are set out in note 21.

Fair value measurement of financial assets measured
at FVTPL

The Group's financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value which are determined with reference on the available
market information, such as quoted market price and other
comparable market data. Where there is no such
information, the management of the Group uses their
judgements and estimates in the fair value calculation, with
reference to the other available information using valuation
techniques that are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and inputs thereof. Changes in
assumptions relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair value of these instruments.

s Es HIE R AR T EER
RZ2EBRKR @)

AT RERZNERRIR (&)

REBE QAR ERRE

AREBEUHENEBE ARNERET
AL - EE RS ERERRERS
Bl BT EEE S QR 2R K

Bl - BEAEEK D FERT
ERAZBRE T EEREEE

FAREEREH RSB E A
RURER 2 188 A R B4 1 42
BRI e R R 2
B - B RERE - M
AERES -

HWERBEEREERRKESRIAEL -
FFBENRBAEBEHERTRKHE
SREM  HBHBRERERK
E—FHERRE BEZERSE
—HHERELNHEANEE D

R o
R_E-_=F+-_A=+—H" ' &
SEERBERNR 2 EZZREES
RMEE21 °

BRAFPEIABRTBZHEEE
Z R FEE
AEBZRAVEFABR ZMBE
ERATERE  RFEDBEA
BHHEEMEE  WMmHHRENRE
A ELBEMIGER - WML EEH
BF ARBEEERSAEQFYE
Re2ZHMAMEN  ERMAE
iy LA SZ AR BE (R (E B ffn R L d A
B EREHE MG - BREZ
FREZBREGAIEEHZFT
B2 RFEHRERNAE -

173



2023 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND 5. B E:HEIRESTEER

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial assets measured
at FVTPL (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the
Group's financial assets measured at FVTPL are disclosed in
note 22.

Impairment of trade receivables

The provision rate of trade receivables is made based on
assessment of their recoverability and ageing analysis of
trade receivables as well as other quantitative and qualitative
information and on management’s judgement and
assessment of the forward-looking information. At the end
of each reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical
observed default rates, forecast of economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast of
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of debtors’ actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in note 7(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in note 25.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. EXREMEE &)
The directors of the Company consider that the capital WNANTEERE NEB ZENEE
structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes B e EER (BN E200b) ~ 35(a)
lease liabilities, amounts due to related parties and amounts k260 RIIRBECHERE « ENEE
due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries as AT HRIENENIELEEEE R
disclosed in notes 20(b), 35(a) and 26, respectively, net of H)  HBRRELRREEEBYEAN
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners BB AFE(EREZR (BEE BTN
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and KEEHE) °
reserves.
The directors of the Company review the capital structure NATEETHR T ERLERE o &
periodically. As part of their review, the directors consider S BEEZEEEANKA NI R
the cost of capital and the risks associates thereto. g o
Based on recommendations of the directors of the BEANRES  HEZRS  ANE
Company, the Group will maintain its overall capital BigHiEREARE - BITHEGD &
structure through the payment of dividends, new share BTHERKEERGEHREFH
issues as well as issue of new debt or the redemption of FREB R RTRRE o
existing debt.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior NEE 7 BRI B R F A N o
years.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. £E@MTAE
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) £BTEER
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-—
HK$000 HK$°000
FHET T
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at amortised cost ~ IRESER A EZ
G EE 30,884 6,894
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEETABRZ
MBEE 1,942 2,666
Financial liabilities MkaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1%k $5Ak AN+ £ 2 B
BRE 53,851 22,112
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. @I A&
(a) Categories of financial instruments () 2RI EER (&)

(Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments SR TAZ N FEGE

The fair values of financial assets and financial R EENTBEAGEZ ATE

liabilities are determined as follows: BEWT :

—  the fair value of financial assets with standard — BEZEEERRIEEHIAE
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid BregmaiEs 2MiKE
markets are determined with reference to EZNEEDZETMSR
quoted market price; and EBmET: &k

— the fair values of other financial assets and — HEMUBEELMEAGE
financial liabilities are determined in accordance ZRNTETIRIEARER
with generally accepted pricing models based on RAZALIRIB & R E 0T
discounted cash flow analysis. MEE °

HKFRS 13 requires disclosures for financial instruments EEM SRS ERE135HTE

that are measured at fair value by level of the BIATAFESN=EEBRZERX

following fair value measurement hierarchy: WELZAVTE=EZ228 T

A

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F1H - MHRAEEXKBGBRE

for identical assets or liabilities; BiisHEHRE (R&H
)

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included F2A EAREE N ERE LA
within Level 1 that are observable for the SN B ESKBEE
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; =g ASE (H B
and 2): &

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not FI WIEER AR5

based on observable market data. HEVEENBER
ABUR
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. @I A&
(a) Categories of financial instruments () 2RI EER (&)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and RSN EED N FEITEZ
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value KREFEHKEELBKEEZ
on a recurring basis RNEME
The following table provides an analysis of financial TRIEM|IZAFEEERZ SR
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value TEIZATFTEERBEEI D25
hierarchy: A
Level 1  Level2  Level3 Total

F1R B2 F3R st
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
FET  TAT  FET  TET

Financial instruments BATLESERZ
carried at fair value CRIA
At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=F
+=A=+-8H
Financial assets at FVTPL BEARESAERZ
BBEE
— Unlisted equity investments — JF F kiR & - - - =
— Unlisted fund investment ~ — FFEMEEKE - - 1,300 1,300
— Listed equity investments ~ — ETRERE 642 - - 642
642 - 1,300 1,942
At 31 December 2022 N-ZE__F
+=A=t-H
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABRZ
BBEE
— Unlisted equity investments — 3F_F iR 1EIE - - 67 67
— Unlisted fund investment ~ — FEETEESEKE - - 2,042 2,042
— Listed equity investments ~ — FHRAERE 557 - - 557
557 - 2,109 2,666
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 FRN BI1PNE24 2 B H
or into or out of Level 3 during the year. s JimE AgEEES
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. £RTH &)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) &RTEER (&)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets and R EMEEL N FHEHETEZ
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value KNEEBEEEREEREZ
on a recurring basis (Continued) NEE(E)
The following table provides information of the TRIBEHETEHEBHERN - B
valuation technique, key inputs and the correlation of S ASE AR A a B
key unobservable input to the fair value measurement EABEHIAANABESTED
of financial instruments carried at fair value: eI AR FEETFENEE
MEER :
Fair value  Valuation technique and Effect on fair value
ltem 2023 2022 hierarchy  key inputs for increase of inputs
RERTR BABEE e
HH ZBoZf CTCCF AVEER BEBAYE AVENTE
HK$'000  HK$'000
FRE TR
Listed equity 642 557  Level 1 Quoted bid-prices in an active market N/A
investments
TRERE F1R RTISRRE TEm
Unlisted equity - 67 Level 3 Asset-based approach adjusted by~ The lower the
investments marketability discount for the year ~ marketability discount,
2023: N/A (2022: 15.8%) the higher the fair value
ELmRERE F3R “EoCERmERBNEEL  mERBENERE
WBREREE  MER(ZZZZ QVERS
F:15.8%)
Unlisted fund 1,300 2,042 Level3 Discount cash flow method was use  The higher of the
investment to capture the present value if the discount rate, the lower

expected future economic benefits to  of the fair value
be derived from the ownership of this
investee. The discount rate applied is
40.45% (2022: 21.92%)
FIMEERE 38 FARRRERSIRERERE HBRXEDR ATE
FREREMTROEARRLE BE
WaMEE - MERCHRRER
40.45% (ZZF =% : 21.92%)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements
The movements of financial instruments, including
unlisted equity investments and unlisted fund
investment under Level 3 of fair value hierarchy are as

e MERRME

FH-A=t—RHILFE

7. €MTIA#E)

(a) &WMIEERI (&)
FIRNFETAEBZEH K
RFEERZEIRIET R
TE(BRFLTERERE R
FLEMESKRE)EHWT :

follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=fF T
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT BT
At 1 January ®n—H—H 2,109 2,578
Fair value change N EEE) (693) (272)
Disposal & (67) -
Exchange adjustments ME X B (49) (197)
At 31 December R+—HA=+—H 1,300 2,109
Financial risk management objectives and (b) MHEMEEEERBE
policies
The Group’s major financial assets included financial AEEZFEMBEEDRE

assets at FVTPL, trade and other receivables, amounts
due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s major
financial liabilities included trade and other payables,
lease liabilities and amounts due to related parties and
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk

180

(i)

Foreign currency risk management

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are exposed to
foreign currency risk primarily arising from bank
deposits, other receivables and trade and other
payables that are denominated in foreign
currency. The Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against currency risk.
However, the management monitors foreign
currency risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

At the end of reporting period, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s significant monetary
assets amounted to approximately HK$23,742,000
(2022: approximately HK$815,000) and monetary
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$21,935,000
(2022: approximately HK$3,731,000) are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign currency risk management
(Continued)

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation
of HK$. At 31 December 2023, if 4%
appreciation in functional currency of relevant
subsidiaries in RMB against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year and
equity would have been HK70,000 lower/higher
(2022: loss for the year and equity would be
HK$121,000 higher/lower), respectively. 4%
(2022: 4%) represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of reporting period for a
4% (2022: 4%) change in the exchange rates.

In the management’s opinion, the above
sensitivity analysis is not necessarily
representative of the inherent foreign currency
risk as the exposure at year end does not reflect
the exposure during the year.
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

182

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed rate lease liabilities (note
20(b)). The Group is exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to floating-rate bank
balances (note 27). The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

The management considered that the Group'’s
exposure to the interest rate risk on financial
assets is not significant due to short-term
maturities. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, and bank
balances. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all debtors
requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the debtor’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the
debtors as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtors operate. Ongoing
credit evaluation is performed on the financial
condition of the debtors. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from debtors.

=FTZA=F+—HIEFE

7.

QHEIECE
(b) EBiEMEREBZERBEKR(E)

5k ()
(i)  FIFEE
AEEREENEHEER

& (PfT 3 20(b)) H X A F
BENERER - REBBT
BARITHE &R (M 5E27) &
XEeREMNERE - &
5 I 2R BR5 NI 48 6 SR S I
ReoAMm ERESEE

MEER YEEEFER
R Z B 4 & A A X

4 o
AR

ERERA - MRHHE
RIS - B AL
B A IR AR R
X o Bl 309 258U
A -

s B
AEEZEERREIEREH
JEH&ZT%EE/TA&ﬁ/r&F&‘H&ﬁE
R U B 2 R SR # I M A
RZHRBNRITHES - BRE
REFERR  UFHEERR
SEZEEERR -

TR E 5 AR R E b B IR
RME - IBEEREBA—T
CRIEBALTEZERE
Bilh - BN EETRRER
AT EIBRIE 2 T8 RIR R
NRZEEN  UWREBREKEA
ZEBENKREHAEEMT
2 EERIR - NEBERHE
BAZTBARRETHEREE
Tl AEEBETEMER
AMCERIE 10 &y o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group'’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significant different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
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BRERTEEEEN  ZER
BHREZ BEBEETENA
SETREFERZEE—Z

B e

TREHBAAREAX ZE
E Rk & EWE SRz B

receivables: ZEEEER :
Gross
ECLs carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
BAHMER
BE=R RIREE  HERE
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFET TFET
At 31 December 2023 R-ZZZ=
+t=A=+-8
Less than 1 month past due I EJ D 118 A 0.00% 17,274 -
Over 12 months past due BHARR @12 @A 100.00% 3,166 (3,166)
20,440 (3,166)
At 31 December 2022 R-TBE—_—
+=A=+—A~
Less than 1 month past due  #1EF 7 118 A N/A 33 - -
Over 12 months past due B AR R 12 & A 100.00% 3,272 (3,272)
3,272 (3,272)
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

184

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

ECLs rates are based on actual loss experience. These
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the year over which the
historical data has been collected, current conditions
and the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
related to a number of independent customers that
had a good track record with the Group. Based on
past experience, management believed that no
impairment allowance was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had been no significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still
considered fully recoverable.

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of
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trade receivables during the year are as follows: PABRREEIIN T
2023 2022
—EZ=fF T

HK$000 HK$'000

FHETT FAET

Balance at 1 January R—A—B &R 3,272 3,572
Reversal of impairment loss R 2R EE B R E

recognised - (10)

Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FREAT (19) -

Exchange adjustments [ N E % (87) (290)
Balance at 31 December R+=—A=+—RH2

sEER 3,166 3,272
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group had no concentration of credit risk on the
trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
The Group has closely monitored the recoverability of
the receivables from these counterparties and taken
effective measures to ensure timely collection of
outstanding balances. The Group has not obtained
collateral from customers.

In addition, the Group had concentration of credit risk
on its liquid funds as 94% (2022: 94%) of bank
balances were placed with four (2022: four) banks.
However, the credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because management believes the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit quality.

The Group is exposed to the concentration of
geographic risk on revenue which is generated mostly
from customers located in Hong Kong. The Group has
closely monitored the business performance of these
customers in Hong Kong.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

186

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, and other receivables are measured at
amortised cost. The directors consider that those
parties have a low risk of default and a capacity to
meet contractual cash flow. Besides, the credit risk of
these financial assets is considered have not increased
significantly since initial recognition. They are subject
to the ECLs model and the loss allowances limited to
12 months ECLs. After applying the ECLs model,
impairment loss recognised in respect of trade and
other receivables, net of HK$19,000 has been debited
and reversal of impairment loss in respect of amounts
due from non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries,
net of HK$31,000 has been credited to the profit or
loss during the year (2022: Nil).

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. The
Group's equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity instruments quoted in the PRC stock exchange.
Management monitors the price risks and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arises.

The management considered that the Group’s
exposure to the equity price risk on financial assets at
FVTPL is not significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
closely monitors the borrowings as well as the cash
flows from operating activities on timely basis. Having
considered the factors and circumstances set out in
note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are satisfied that the Group will have
sufficient liquidity to meet its cash flows requirements
for the next twelve from the end of the reporting
period.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its derivative and non-
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities and the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 7. ®MITH @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEEBREEREREE (&)
policies (Continued)
Equity price risk (Continued) TEELREE (E)
Liquidity table TREES Xk
Carrying
Weighted More than ~ More than amounts
average Ondemand  1yearbut 2 years but Total as at
effective orlessthan  lessthan  less than undiscounted 31
interest rate 1year 2 years Syears  cashflows  December
Rt=A
nEFS  REXSE SMME SR A¥E  =1-H
BRRE  HME  BIMF  BORSE RERELE  REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T T AT THET
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+=h=1-A
Non-derivative financial ~ FfT4HEEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables EREAEAREL  NATER 40,562 - - 40,562 40,562
R
Amounts due to a related party R —fBE S 258 NATER 11,663 - - 11,663 11,663
— non-interest bearing — R
Amounts due to non- ERMBADESS  NATER 28 - - 28 28
controlling shareholders of A& 2 F8
subsidiaries — R
— non-interest bearing
Lease liabilities HERRE 5.07-10.09 1139 543 - 1,682 1,598
53,392 543 - 53,935 53,851
At 31 December 2022 R-B-ZF
TZA=t-A
Non-derivative financial ~ FfT4HEER
liabilities
Trade and other payables ERESEFREL  NATER 19,824 - - 19,824 19,824
R
Amounts due to a related party FER—fIBES 2508  NATER 313 - - 313 313
— non-interest bearing — A58
Amounts due to non- ERMBATDFERES  NATER 973 - - 973 973
controling shareholders of TR 2 FUA
subsidiaries — R
— non-interest bearing
Lease liabilities HERE 475-11.29 614 497 - 1,111 1,001
21,724 497 - 2,1 2,11
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(@) Reportable segments and reconciliation of

reportable segment revenue, profit or loss,
assets and liabilities

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-makers (the “CODM"), being the executive
directors of the Company throughout the year that
are used to make strategic decisions.

Prior to 31 December 2022, the Group has two
reportable segments: (i) Mobile phone business; and (ii)
Mining business. The segments are managed
separately as each business offers different products
and services and requires different business strategies.

During the year 31 December 2023, the Group has
also engaged in the sales of electronic products and
components and thus, the Groip has two reportable
segments for the year: (i) mobile phone and electronic
products business; (i) Mining business. The following
summary describes the operations in each of the
Group’s reportable segments:

o Mobile phone and electronic products business
— Sales and marketing of mobile phone and
electronic products and components.

o Mining business — Exploration, exploitation,
refining and asset investment of mineral
resources.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Reportable segments and reconciliation of

190

reportable segment revenue, profit or loss,
assets and liabilities (Continued)

As explained in note 19, the Group is in considering to
resubmit a new application on the extension of the
mining operating permit for the Group’s mine located
in the PRC and hence, no revenue was generated from
the Company’s Mining Business during the year ended
31 December 2023.

Corporate expenses, corporate assets and corporate
liabilities are not allocated to the reportable segments
as they are not included in the measure of the
segments’ profit or loss, segments’ assets and
segments’ liabilities that are used by the CODM for
assessment of segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. NEpER (#)

(a) Reportable segments and reconciliation of (@ TERITHRAZHD B
reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, w-BE EEREEZHE
assets and liabilities (Continued) (#&)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZE_=F+-A=+—
HiFFEE
Mobile phone
and electronic
products Mining
business business  Unallocated Total
BHEER - .
ETEmEHR FRER KO o
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEx AT TEr TET
Reportable segment revenue FEEGETE 81,542 - - 81,542
Reportable segment loss i 285 HEE (1,633) (937) - (2,570)
Unallocated corporate income RABRLERA 4,707
Unallocated corporate expense RARERR (17,214)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (15,077)
Reportable segment assets 2EnHEE 27,686 475 - 28,161
Corporate and unallocated assets rERRAEREE 10,741
Total assets EERS 38,902
Reportable segment liabilities FEEGE =Y (20,560) (14,773) - (35,333)
Corporate and unallocated liabiities ~ S¥RAAEEE (21,251)
Total labilities ARAS (56,584)
Other segment information At HER
Depreciation of plant and equipment BB R E - 9 1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 326 690 1,016
Impairment loss recognised in respect  RLENE Bk E
of trade and other receivables, net RS R R
BR ¥ 13 - 6 19
Reversal of impairment loss in respect B EIfEMF B A Bl 32 4
of amounts due from non-controling ~ #REFBZ RESE
shareholders of subsidiaries (31) - - (31)
Share of results of an associate DE-RBERAZEE 362 - - 362
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBATR Ma (1,919) - - (1,919)
Loss on termination of lease contract X IHREA X2 B - - 78 78
Additions to non-current assets FRBEERE - - 1,756 1,756
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Reportable segments and reconciliation of
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repo

rtable segment revenue, profit or loss,

assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The unallocated and corporate income mainly included
miscellaneous income and other corporate income.

The unallocated and corporate expenses mainly
included fair value loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, salaries and allowances and
other corporate expenses.

The unallocated corporate assets mainly included plant
and equipment and deposits for the headquarter in
Hong Kong.

The unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included
lease liabilities for the headquarter in Hong Kong,
accrued salaries, professional fee and audit fee.

Additions to non-current assets consists of additions to
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

8. AMEWN &)

(@) TEHRSHBRAZH D AW
#w BE EERABGZHER

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Reportable segments and reconciliation of
reportable segment revenue, profit or loss,

assets and liabilities (Continued) (#&)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_F_—_F+=-HA=+—
HIEFE
Mobile phone Mining
business business  Unallocated Total
BESEED KBRS AAR o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEL TET TET
Reportable segment revenue S vilen 80,576 - - 80,576
Reportable segment loss RN HEE (5,791) (1,018) - (6,809)
Unallocated corporate income ROMEERA 2,49
Unallocated corporate expense RARERR (16,073)
Loss before tax BREtAIER (20,386)
Reportable segment assets 2EnHEE 10,422 999 - 11,421
Corporate and unallocated assets PERROREE 4,326
Total assets BEES 15,747
Reportable segment liabilities 2EnHak (4,737) (14,734) - (19,471)
Corporate and unallocated liabiities ~ +¥RRAREE (5,626)
Total labilities ARAS (25,097)
Other segment information Ethn HER
Depreciation of plant and equipment R R XENE - 2 7 9
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREERE 368 - 992 1,360
Impairment loss recognised in respect ~ EME ZEF KL
of trade and other receivables, net W BAZRE
BR R 305 - 10 315
Share of results of an associate AME-FEBE AR EE ) - - )
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE-BMBAR BB 942 - - 942
Loss on termination of lease contract £ IFFEA X2 Eif 153 - - 153
Additions to non-current assets ERBDEERE 1,031 - 1,227 2,258
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Reportable segments and reconciliation of
reportable segment revenue, profit or loss,
assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Continued)

(b)
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Notes:

(a)

The unallocated and corporate income mainly included
miscellaneous income and other corporate income.

The unallocated and corporate expenses mainly
included fair value loss on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, salaries and allowances and
other corporate expenses.

The unallocated corporate assets mainly included plant
and equipment and deposits for the headquarter in
Hong Kong.

The unallocated corporate liabilities mainly included
lease liabilities for the headquarter in Hong Kong,

8. AMEWN &)

(@) TERSBRAZH D W
mwRaE EERAREZHE

(40)
HE-€-——#+=A=1-
A1k ()

et

(a)

(b)

(0)

(d)

ADBEEERAT2REEHER
WA R E R YA

APBEEERXEIBEEERA
FEHFAFABSZHBEEZ R
FEER FokRMEEM
PEEFX -

ADECEEETRBRES
KBREREBRRES -

APECEREIRZEBRER
B HERE  BEHS B

accrued salaries, professional fee and audit fee. XERRZEE -
(e)  Additions to non-current assets consists of additions to () REBIRNDEEREREHE
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. RREBARERREEE -
Geographical information (b) ig&
The following table sets forth the Group's revenue TR AEBIRT P AN
from customers by geographical location of customers: BEEIDHEFPIA :
2023 2022
—EB-=F =
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FAET
PRC H 14,876 41,054
Hong Kong BB 66,666 39,522
81,542 80,576
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. DEER (&)
(b) Geographical information (Continued) (b) I ER (&)
The information about the Group’s non-current assets EAERREENEE S 2
by location of assets are detailed below: IERFEE2FAMERE Y @0
™
2023 2022
—EB-=F —F-
HK$°000 HK$°000
FH% FHT
Hong Kong BB 1,311 919
PRC H 2,000 3,551
3,311 4,470
() Information about major customers (0 BEBEXEEFZER
Revenue from major customers, where each of them REFERFPORE(BES
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue, B h A& B W % 2 10% 3k BA
are set out below: b)) FHAOR
2023 2022
—EZ=fF T
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Mobile phone and electronic BHEFENLE
products business: EmFE%
Customer A EPA 66,666 39,522
Customer B =FB 14,876 N/ATEA*
Customer C EFC N/ATRER* 21,698
Customer F EFPF N/ATRER* 10,935
* The corresponding revenue in the year for this o REARNZE P 2 e i RIER
customer did not contribute over 10% of the total SEBKEBR10% °

revenue of the Group.

# The revenue in the year for this customer did not 8 REARNZE P 2 e i RGN
contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the EEBWEEIB10% °
Group.
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=F+-A=T—BILFE

9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 9. BEE&SHIRZ
CUSTOMERS
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (a) BEFEHNWREDIF
with customers
(i) The Group derives revenue from the transfer of () AEFWFEBEEEERESR
goods and services by categorise of major KRG (EFTEESENR
product lines and business HFESHE)
Revenue from contracts with customers EBEEIFEERE15
within the scope of HKFRS 15 SFEEANEFES NS
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET T
Major product FEER
Trading of mobile phone EERHEFR
and electronic products EFEm
Mobile phone and electronic ~ BEEZENETEM
products 81,542 80,576
(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of (i) AEBBERERLRE
goods and services by timing of revenue FT 15 W A (e W A B 3R e
recognition AEl5)
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT FET
Timing of revenue Wi 225 e 58 BF T
recognition
Trading of mobile phone EEBEEFR
and electronic products EFEm
At a point in time NE R 2, 81,542 80,576
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REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 9. BERESHWES &)
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (@) BEEAWEDIF(E)
with customers (Continued)
(i)  The Group derives revenue from the transfer of iy AEFEBERNIRSH
goods and services by geographical markets B GRS E D)
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF -
HK$°000 HK$°'000
FHAT FHTE
Geographical market & T 5
Trading of mobile phone EERHEFR
and electronic products EFEMm
PRC a3 14,876 41,054
Hong Kong BB 66,666 39,522
81,542 80,576
(b) Contract balances (b) EX&E
As at 31 December As at
R+=—A=+—H iy
2023 2022 1 January 2022
—EF -
—g=-= —E-—F —H—H
Note HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
His FHT FHT FHT
Trade receivables EWE SRR 25 20,440 3,272 9,982
Less: Allowance for & : [EEEE
credit losses B (3,166) (3,272) (3,572)
17,274 - 6,410
Details of the Group’s trade receivables are set out in AEERNEWE ZERFEFBEHR
note 25. BIEE25 ©
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9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c)

198

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group's activities.

The Group’s revenue is measured based on the
consideration specified in a contract with a customer,
less discounts and sales related taxes.

The Group recognises revenue when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of any goods and
services have been transferred, and the Group’s
performance obligations for contracts with customers
and revenue recognition policies are as follows:

(1) Revenue for trading of mobile phone and

electronic products

Revenue for trading of mobile phone and
electronic products generally includes only one
performance obligation. The Group has
concluded that revenue from trading of mobile
phone and electronic products should be
recognised at the point in time when control of
the products is transferred to the customer,
generally when the products are delivered to
and the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to customer.

The directors consider the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself and thus, the Group is a
principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred
to a customer.

9. BEFGHIWE &)

(0 BEFEHNNBREERWKERE
AR
AEER W R A S5t
B ORREEMBZRAERA
ERRAEBRELIHNER
FEIRER R S o

AEEN RS RIBEEET PRI
B & K FTR] R RE BT
SHEMRTIAR & °

REEBRENEmERBE
REH) B K 3 fa K% o] SR 8 A B
Rz MAEBEEFEL
BB K0 B 1E S M e FE SR 3R 4R
T

(1) BEBDEFRETES
e
BERDEERETES
—RERE—AROE
fF - AL B BRA
BOEERETERES
2 4 FE A BE AR UM 98
BT R HE%®E -
—RAEERRNTES
AR IBES T AR
FREE -

EERA AKEHETH
AEHEEEE RAT R
HIEE & ma R EA
BfE - Bt HAKER
EEEmIRBEZETE
PRI 3% & a2k AR 75 -
AIREESERFEA °
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9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c)

Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

(1)

)

Revenue for trading of phone and electronic
products (Continued)

The Group enters into sales contracts with
customers for each transaction. Revenue from
the sale of goods and services rendered is
recognised based on the price specified in the
contract when the goods are delivered and titles
have passed and services are provided. The
Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods to the customer and payment
by the customer exceeds one year. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to
the specific location in accordance with the
contracts with the customers.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the
principal outstanding at the applicable interest
rate.

9. BEFAHWE#)

EFENNBHEER KRR
RBE (&)

(c)

EEBHEARETER
Wzt ()
AEEREBREARZEEP
RIMHERXN - HER M
KR ARTS 2 Wt X & i
R RFBEER A NE
HIRBEREAQORIHZ
BrgiER - AREREHT
BRI FAGEMEET
EFE2EPNRAHEER
—FENEMEH c RER
EmBEREPRIING
[ 48 X 2 15 7E Mo 3 B 2
B o

(1)

FERA

) B Mo A F2 B ) B 3
REBEZ A RBERAF X
Rt

(2)
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9. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(d) Translation price allocated to remaining

200

performance obligation

The Group has applied practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, to exempt the disclosure of revenue
expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting
date due to the majority of the Company’s revenue
contracts are short-term contracts and have a duration
of less than one year, the practical expedient for
contracts with durations of one year or less is applied
and therefore the effect of the time value of money is
not considered.

Further information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to revenue from contracts with
customers is provided in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

9. BEFAHWE#)

(d)

TRERGEBNEENREE

REECEAEBIMIEHRELE
BIESSREF A AIMAE 121
BNERERER L HRelE
REBRFENEREHE
A K T8 5B A8 P R SR FE R A UK
A RERAR B KA U
ABHABEHEHBER IR
—F - MASEHBERAE—F
FATHENERERERS
% AT EREREEER

By 48R
R E o

BRAASEREZFPANKRAR
FAR SR BURRE — F B R
RER A B MRMIFES
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10. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 10. Hik BB IE - (54
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF -
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET

Exchange gains b X e 19 51
Fair value loss on financial assets at ~ ZAFEFT ABZE 2B

fair value through profit or loss BEZANTEEE (593) (375)
Impairment loss recognised in B E 5 IR R H A

respect of trade and other JE WK BR SRR 2 Rk (B

receivables, net EiE - F8 (19) (315)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised 1 o] fi& U B /&8 2 &)

in respect of amounts due from FEFZE I M AR R RIE 2

non-controlling shareholders of BIEEE

subsidiaries 31 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect FAR B A Bl 2 HEZSHERR

of interests in associates ZREEE (1,124) -
Loss on termination of lease contract  #X [FFAE A #) 2 E5 18

(note 20(a)) (Htat20()) (78) (153)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of a subsidiary & —EMB AR Z

(note 33) Wz, (&18) (K1at33) 1,919 (942)
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERATEGFABEL

at fair value through profit or loss MBEEZER (65) -
Gain on disposal of plant and HE R E & & e

equipment 5 —
Others HAit 474 47

569 (1,687)
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11. FINANCE COSTS

11. MERAR

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGEZHE 103 160
12. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 12. BRI HRAIGE
2023 2022
—EC=F —E-—
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss before income tax is arriving at ~ BRETE R BIEEE Ik
after charging (crediting): (Bt A) ToI%IE -
Staff costs 8 TRAK
Directors’ emoluments (note 14) BEEXME (Wit 14) 3,370 3,388
Other staff costs H b8 TR
— Salaries and allowances for —HMETITHE K
other staffs ERE 5,504 8,346
— Performance bonus — RIVIEAL = -
— Retirement benefit scheme — RIREFIFTEI K
contribution (excluding (TBIEES)
directors) 139 176
9,013 11,910
Auditor’s remuneration =S AN & 1,386 979
Cost of inventories recognised as EERAEAIZFE
expenses PN 81,166 80,273
Depreciation of plant and equipment [R5 M & EITE 11 9
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 1,016 1,360
and after crediting: REETA :
Interest income FLEUA (82) (98)

202



13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income
represents:

13. FREHIRIX

@Aﬁm&EEWA%WZ% S
et Ei

2023 2022
—EC=H —E-=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Current tax BN ERFH 18
— Hong Kong Profits Tax 5B IS 22 3
Bermuda and the BVI BRERKBELEHE

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the
BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax under these
jurisdictions for both years.

Hong Kong

Under the Hong Kong two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporations
are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million are
taxed at 16.5%.

PRC

The Group’s major operations are being carried out through
its subsidiaries established in the PRC and subject to the
Enterprises Income Tax (“EIT") rate of 25% (2022: 25%),
unless preferential rates are applicable in the cities where
the subsidiaries are located.

No PRC EIT has been provided for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil) as there was no assessable
profits incurred by the Group for the year.

REAREMRBREZHESHRA
FOER  NEBRMIESESHHA
BNz L R AR ER TSR -

&8

BRIBBEEFNEHE MRS - & E®KDE
% 2,000, ooo/% TT 2 A i iR
825% M M X G M- m H B
2,000,000 7% 7T 2 % A1l Bl 454 1%2 16.5%
BT SR BT

F

REBFEBERPEAKYL 2 HER
AETEEER - WAEK25% (=
T F 1 25%) 2 ERBH (1
EMBHDMEMT  HEBEH X
BERRZEN B A R FTEm m RIRR
4R o

HRAEEREE T _=ZF+=
A=1+—BILEFEIWEEEERT
Al A R B RS BT
REHE(CTSZF &) -
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the loss before income tax per the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and comprehensive income as follows:

13. RSB (&)

REZZEHAS ] EBE KR
ABEMMW AR ZBRFTS BRI E 18 %
RO :

2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Loss before income tax BRET1S B A & 18 (15,077) (20,386)
Income tax credit at the domestic RS TR 25%

income tax rate of 25% (2022: —E - :25%)

25%) (note below) FEZFEHER

(FxXHizt) (3,769) (5,097)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A]FIFF X 2 B & 5,372 2,136
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMBAZ RIEE (4,108) (109)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised &R T IE K18 & &)

and utilisation of tax losses and 75 B 18 K AT 07 s

deductible temporary differences ERBBREE 1,755 3,273
Effect of different tax rates of REMRIEEREEZ

group entities operating in SEERTRATEZ

other jurisdictions me 704 (184)
Tax effect of tax concession HKEENT BT E (22) (15)
Tax effect of share of results NME—REMEAREEZ

of an associate MG 2 90 (1)
Income tax expense s i = 22 3

Note: The domestic income tax rate represents the EIT rate where
the Group's operations are substantially based.
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

At the end of reporting period, the Group had estimated
unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$167,716,000
(2022: HK$183,564,000) available for offsetting against
future profits. The tax losses are subject to the final
assessment by the tax authorities in the respective
jurisdictions where the tax losses arising from. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of the estimated
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately HK$15,133,000 (2022: HK$30,981,000) that
may be carried forward for a period of five years from their
respective year of origination. The remaining unrecognised
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of reporting period, the Group also had
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$4,545,000 (2022: HK$4,952,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to these deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

13. RSB (&)

REREBR - AEBHE AT AEER
HARREF 2 MR ERHIBEEEL
#167,716,0008 L (T = —F :
183,564,000 70) ° FIB BB AR
EAETIEBENHB R EERNT
BHEBEIERBTN o BN EETEA
P R O .3 R e e
MARB AR EBERRECRIEE
Bt ARERBIEBEZEEL
/15,133,000 (=T = Z F :
30,981,000/87T) ' JEEAERFE
REERF - T THARBERHRIEE
18RI ] R B A5 9E o

RIEBR AEBTMBAINHE
s ZRE494,545,0008 L (—ZE ==
% :4,952,00087C) c AT AA
BB R TR E Sy R A LA S
AR A M E R E AR
R EERERELEHIBEE -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

14. EERTHAHME

Directors and CEO remuneration for the year, disclosed

RIBER LR LB B R RRD
BEREZAFEEZNTTRAEZMNE

pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance, is as follows: [N
Performance  Retirement
related benefit
Salariesand  incentive scheme
Fees allowances  payments contribution Total
FEEE  BAER
Be BEREE  BNKE  HEMR @zt
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
FET FEr TEr TEr TET
Year ended 31 December 2023 Bz-E-c%
TZA=t-HLEE
Executive directors: UrES:
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (note () below) DEERE(FXHE) - 2,284 - 3 2,287
Mr. Wang Yu I R%kE - 433 - 34 467
Mr. Li Jianwu (note (ii) below) TEREE(F X (i) 107 - - - 107
Mr. Hou Zhenyang (note (i) below) REERE(F XM () 134 - - = 134
Independent non-executive directors: ~ BUFHTES !
Mr. Law Chun Kwan BifpEL 125 - - - 125
Mr. Lo Wai Shun SRERE 125 - - - 125
Mr. Leung Wai Hung DEELE 125 - - - 125
Total emoluments He6R 616 2,717 - 37 3,370
Year ended 31 December 2022 T -2
TZRA=1T-RLEE
Executive directors: YiTES:!
Mr. Lau Siu Ying (note (i below) ANERE(TXHR) - 2279 - 6 2,285
Mr. Wang Yu T R%kE - 45 - 36 438
Mr. Hou Zhenyang (note (i below) BEFLE(TXHE () 240 - - - 240
Independent non-executive directors: U FH{TES
Mr. Law Chun Kwan RifEET 125 - - - 125
Mr. Lo Wai Shun LA 125 - - - 125
Mr. Leung Wai Hung PEESE 125 - - - 125
Total emoluments GeBE 615 2731 - 4 3,388
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 14. EERTRETEMS (&)

OFFICER’'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Lau Siu Ying is the Chairman and executive director of
the Company.

(ii) Mr. Hou Zhenyang resigned as the executive director of the
Company on 21 July 2023.

(i)~ Mr. Li Jianwu was appointed as the executive director of the
Company on 21 July 2023.

The Chies Executive Officer and executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive officer waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

Kt

iy BINEXEBRNAREFRNTES -

(i) EEFEENR-_ZE-_=F+A_-+—
ABIARRMITES -

(i) FRRAEER-T-_=F+H-+—
HEZERARARNITES -

EXRIRITRAARNAITESR ZM

ERBEEHREERARRNAEES
B Pt i 2 B

EXFRIRBMIFRITES 2 ST
BRRSERARRIEST 2RI -

TR BMEEERITRBHMEX
AEREEAMEZ 28k -
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15. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 15. EE#M$
Out of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in REBRNGESHEALTH - HHRR
the Group, two (2022: two) were directors of the Company N(ZE-—F : M) AARAT=E
whose emoluments are included in note 14 above. The EHMESEHR EXHE140 82T
emoluments of the remaining three (2022: three) individuals = (ZEBE-_—F: =) AL ZE
were as follows: SO0
2023 2022
—EB=fF -
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances ¥re koRR 1,882 1,859
Performance related incentive ~RMARREE
payments - -
Retirement benefit scheme R ET 2K
contribution 54 54
1,936 1,913
Their emoluments were within the following band: ZERERBEZMEN T TIEE :
2023 2022
—EB=fF T
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEHA EE®E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000 7T 3 3
None of the five highest paid individuals waived any RAFENBAFEARN AlUmxe
emoluments in current and prior years. AT EEWEERAE -
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no HE-_T-_=Fk-_FT-_—_F+=
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid A=+—HBIEFE  AEBEHER
individuals and directors, as an inducement to join or upon Al fxe 3 A LT MEE AR
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. & EABEBREMASEMAR

SEE 2 BE SKIERBERR(E -

16. DIVIDEND 16. g2
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders MNZT - =FHM XA R W ET
of the Company during 2023, nor has any dividend been BRI EIRM S BRI E B3R
proposed since the end of reporting period (2022: Nil). HHRURMEERERRE(ZE
—CF I E)

208



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss attributable to

17. BREE

ARBHEAAREERREEEE

the owners of the Company is based on the following data: TR A N &Rt E
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF -
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Loss %]
Loss for the year attributable to MAEERERREEE
owners of the Company for the BmE - AREHEB A
purpose of calculating basic and FE1HF A &R
diluted loss per share (12,616) (14,372)
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-—
number of shares in ‘000
REEE (X FKRET)
Weighted average number R 43 hn#E S 19 B
of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary FR&HE &R EA
shares for the purpose of calculating — ##& &5 18 R I @A HnE
basic and diluted loss per share 2K 197,441 183,556

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of calculating basic loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2023 has been adjusted Subscription of
New Shares of the Company and details of which are set
out in note 29(b).

No diluted loss per share is presented as there are no dilutive
potential ordinary shares in issue for each of the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

MFEHE_ZT_=F+_-AH1

+—BLEFEERELREEM
5 OEBERNETFHHEE AR AR
BARRFRGD  #FBHEHNKE
29(b) °

RBE_ET_=FRKR_T_—
+Z A=+ —HBLESFEIEDH
TEBEEEEBRR WABEIE
REEEEE o
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18. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. MME N K&

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor Construction
improvements  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BH - £B
HEHE &L ] AE KEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
cosT D%
At 1 January 2022 A
—HF—H 4,453 2,290 2,129 6,686 15,558
Exchange adjustments B 5 3% (341) (144) (41) (543) (1,069)
Additions N - 13 - = 13
Disposals e - 2) - - 2)
At 31 December 2022 RZTEZ—F
+-F=1+—H 4,112 2,157 2,088 6,143 14,500
Exchange adjustments B 5 R (102) (48) (13) (163) (326)
Additions INE - 2 = = 2
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBAT - (278) (50) - (328)
Disposals e — 4) (435) - (439)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB_=F
+-A=+—H 4,010 1,829 1,590 5,980 13,409
ACCUMULATED R ERRE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 RZBEZZF
—HF—H 4,435 2,282 2,107 6,686 15,510
Exchange adjustments B %, 58 (341) (143) (39) (543) (1,066)
Provided for the year FEERE 4 5 - - 9
Eliminated on disposals I I 5 - (2) - - (2)
At 31 December 2022 i
+-F=1+—H 4,098 2,142 2,068 6,143 14,451
Exchange adjustments ERTIECES (102) (48) (12) (163) (325)
Provided for the year FEREE 4 7 = = 11
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEHB AR = (278) (32) = (310)
Eliminated on disposals HE R 8 - 4 (434) - (438)
At 31 December 2023 i ——
+-A=+—H 4,000 1,819 1,590 5,980 13,389
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=
+=-A=1+-H 10 10 - - 20
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ—F
+=-A=1+-H 14 15 20 - 49
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R e RGHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

19. MINING RIGHT 19. g
HK$°000
FAET
COST 5%
At 1 January 2022 R-—TEE-——€—HA—H 452,640
Exchange adjustments ME B (36,800)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-_ZTE-_—_F+-_A=+—H
—E-=F—H—H 415,840
Exchange adjustments ME 38 (11,040)
At 31 December 2023 R_B_=F+_HA=+—H 404,800
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt B REE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—HF—H 452,640
Exchange adjustments bE W SR (36,800)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-EZ—F+=-—HA=+—H
—E-=%—H—H 415,840
Exchange adjustments ME 5 SR (11,040)
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+="A=+—H 404,800

CARRYING VALUE
At 31 December 2023

BREE
R-_ZE-_=F+—-_A=+—H

At 31 December 2022

R-E-_—_F+=-_HA=+—H

The mining right represents the right of & A B EEER A
Al (Huangshi Sifa Mining Company, “Sifa Mining”) to
conduct mining activities in Huangshi City, Hubei Province,
the PRC which was acquired during the year ended 31

December 2009.

REREEANEREARAR ([48%
BEDRPEHILEE LM ETRES
BHERN  RAREBE_TTEAF =
A=1T—AL-FERKE -
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19. MINING RIGHT (Continued)

Mining exploitation/operating permit

After the expiration of a 5-year mining exploitation permit
on 25 September 2012, Sifa Mining renewed the mining
operating permit for 2 years from the Ministry of Land and
Resources of the PRC ({2 A R HAEI B + & RHE) (“MLR"),
under which Sifa Mining was allowed to carry out
exploration activities only, but not exploitation activities. The
latest 2-year mining operating permit was expired on 25
September 2016. Since then, the Group had been preparing
for the application of renewal for the mining operating
permit.

On 21 December 2017, the Department of Land and
Resources of Hubei Province of the People’s Republic of
China (the “DLR") issued an announcement (the “DLR
Announcement”) in respect of the deadline of application of
renewal for the expired mining operating permit. The DLR
instructed the owners of the expired mining operating
permits as identified in the DLR Announcement had to
furnish the application procedures for the renewal before 28
February 2018. If the owners fail to do so, they were
required to de-register the mining operating permits before
31 March 2018 by themselves or the DLR will de-register
their permits instead. The Group, through its lawyer,
submitted a letter on 8 February 2018 to the DLR for the
clarification of the Group’s situation on whether the Group
was allowed to extend the renewal application deadline or
submit a new application for the mining operating permit in
future.

Up to the date of the 2017 Annual Report, the Group had
not received the reply from the DLR and was not able to
furnish the application before the deadline. The directors of
the Company were of the opinion that there was a material
uncertainty on whether the Group would be successful in
the future application for the mining operating permit
because of the DLR Announcement.
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19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

RUERE (&)

PRIRRT AT &
hFHRBHAAIER_T—_FN
A-t+thaAEmRE NBEBEXEE
REARAMBEE L ERM(TEL
BIRER ) & 73 HA PR 4R B0 R R A
ORI SRREREEEETH
BRI MIERAREE - &M FH
REFAZECR-_ZF—R"FENIA
“thBEE®R - Bl AEELEE
R RERRBETAE

R_E—+F+_A=-+—H &
EARAMBBILERLERE
(BE+XBREDEMREFEEDE
MR B2 xR E L QM
((BELBREAM])  -BLERE
R BETEREAMIBERZER
MEBHUBZHEBAERE
—N\FZ_AZ+N\HBHRREEEZ
HBERF - WA ARETHEE
BF AREAR-_ZE—N\F=A
=+ BATBTHEEETE
GRIE T B RERFEETE -
AEBR-_ZE—N\F_AN\BER
HEeEMmMELIERERR — K
B URASERCRAECRESE
REZ&EHRHN B RERITN
PR E AR AEE 2B

BEE_T—tEFRAY X£H
TARKHBETERR2EE BR
EER KA L BE - AAF]
EZRA ARBERKETHKIYEH
AAPRTERT Al 58 A B = & JREE AN
FEEBRTHEEN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZT =

19. MINING RIGHT (Continued)

Mining exploitation/operating permit
(Continued)

The directors of the Company had factored this into their
assessment of the recoverable amount of the Group’s
mining right and related plant and equipment, and the
carrying amount of the related deferred tax liability (the
“mining activities related assets and liability”) as at 31
December 2017, and on the assumption that the Group
could not renew the permit, provided a full impairment of
the mining right of HK$174,589,000 and related plant and
equipment of HK$8,965,000 and derecognised the related
deferred tax liability of HK$41,116,000 in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group,
through its lawyer, has tried to approach DLR by telephone
calls and resubmission of the letter sent in February 2018 for
the clarification of the Group’s situation. However, DLR did
not make reply to the Group’s enquiries. The directors were
advised by the lawyer that, in accordance with the rules and
regulations in the PRC, the Group has lost its mining right
and no longer entitled to any benefit to be derived from the
mining right and thus, full impairment loss has been
recognised in prior years.

The directors of the Company had carefully reassessed and
reviewed the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit of the mining business (the “CGU") to which the
mining right is allocated to and the related plant and
equipment regarding the mining business at the end of the
reporting period and thus, the recoverable amount of the
CGU should be remained as HK$ Nil. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group had provision for close down
and restoration costs for the mine and details of which are
set out in note 28.

e MERRME

FH-A=t—RHILFE

19. ERIERE (@)

PRIRFT O % ()

ARREENTHAEBRR
—tF+=-A=1+— EIZT“’EE%E%&
R M % 18 AT Y (2l & 58 M A5 B8
EEF B BEREE(RBEEBE
BEEKBER]BEFG RILEIER
= VBRI AEEREEEDT
7%+ Bl BLEEHE £ 174,589,0007% T
N AR = K 5% % 8,965,000 7 JTrat
REBRERE THREBEZ-Z
—tF+-_A=+—HLEFERE
mPEBCEEREEEEHREAE
41,116,000/ 7T ©

REBEE_T—-—N\Ft+-_A=1+—~H
IFFE - AEBEEBEEMER
NERELREBHEINR —FT—/\F=
H?é‘u”jZI_I#ZHTTﬂ%liéf/ﬁ
B ABBAKEZIBR - A
iéﬁ@%liﬁ@}%ﬁ$%2§
e EREARMEN  REPEZ
ERNBRG > AEEDREERE
BETBEERBREEL ZEMA
@ Bt 2EREEBER E—F

ARAREZDHFAENTENEH
RS R D L RERE 2 RIEXTS

ReEABM([BEEEEMN]) X
EERBESNRE K& E 27U

CLBATET BERSHR
768 B LR 55 B B S IR AR PR AN HE T
B BEAIBENMHE28
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ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

19. MINING RIGHT (Continued) 19. HIERE (&)
Mining exploitation/operating permit PRIES O (&)
(Continued)
Though the DLR is unlikely to grant the mining operating BREHRTERET KA fER AN T
permit extension to the Company nor mining operating R BEH - BRI A]
permit to other market participants at this moment, M EM T ISR EE S B EEA]
management is continuously communicating with its lawyers B BB EEEREGES R ET
to resubmit a new application on the extension of the B AT EAR SR E IR R HT R
mining operating permit in the near future. BT B EEARE o
20. LEASES 20. A&
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEEE
Properties lease for own use
BRAY¥*HEE
2023 2022
—E=fF T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
At 1 January n—H—H 980 1,049
Additions NE 1,754 2,245
Depreciation e (1,016) (1,360)
Termination of lease contracts KIEHESH (107) (906)
Exchange adjustments bE 5, SR B (15) (48)
At 31 December R+—HA=+—8H 1,596 980
Expenses relating to B HIHE R
short-term leases i 289 588
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

20. LEASES (Continued)

(@) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group has lease various office premises and staff
quarters for its operations. Leases contracts generally
have lease terms of two years. Other office premises
generally have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or
is individually of low value. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, the Group terminated a lease
contract for an office premise in the PRC. The early
termination resulted in a loss of approximately
HK$78,000 (2022: HK$153,000), which is the net
effect of the derecognition of the carrying amount of
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$107,000
(2022: HK$906,000), the derecognition of
corresponding lease liabilities of approximately
HK$29,000 (2022: HK$864,000) and the deposit
forfeit of HK$ Nil (2022: HK$111,000).

20. HE @)

EREEE (&)

AEECHEZHBRREME
RETEENMHEZEZR -
HESHNBEY—KRBME -
HE i AEEROBH—RA
1218 A3 A T R,/ S AE R RIE
B{E - HER (E R B R -
WA NEHRR S R - RE
TE T & F B K 5115 1 AT A B
e RER  AEBRAEH
ZEEKMETFE A KRR HIATT
ZHE - —RMmE - AEED
BRAKEIIEENEHEE

(a)

HE_T-_=F+-_RA=+—
AR-—FE-_—_F+=_HA=+—
HIEFE  AEBKRIERPE
W—REHASFNEEER -
IRE X IEEHEE4)78,000%8
(=& = — % :153,000/8
TL) RIEEERERAEEE
BR M 18 4)107,0008 T ( =&
— =% :906,000/87T) * &1k
HERAEHEESEX) 29,000
T( =T = = 5 : 864,000/
L) RBRWIEE BTET(ZE
111,000 7T) 2 F %

2,

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

20. LEASES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

216

=FTZA=F+—HIEFE

20. HE @)

(b) BHEEE

2023 2022
—EC=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amount analysed as: DA
— Non-current — 3ERE 535 466
— Current — & 1,063 535
1,598 1,001
Lease liabilities payable on: ENATHEARS :
— Within one year — R 1,063 535
— Within a period of more than —BE—FEN ER
one year but not more than k3
two years 535 466
1,598 1,001
Less: Amount due for settlement B OmBAREET
within 12 months shown 12 &8 A W EIHA
under current liabilities HEERIE (1,063) (535)
Amount due for settlement after ERBEBEE TR
12 months shown under non- 12 B A& 2 E 2
current liabilities EE A 535 466
Interest on lease liabilities MEBGEZNE 103 160
Total cash outflow for leases HEZReRHRSE 1,216 1,648
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate HEBBFERZ INEXSIE
applied to lease liabilities is 5.07%—-10.09% (2022: 1825 ' A5 07% % 10.09%
4.75%-11.29%). Z T F:475%=%F
11.29%) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

20. LEASES (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)
Lease obligations are denominated in the following

20. HE @)

(b) HEEE#E)
HEAEATIEEIIE

currencies:

2023 2022
—EC-=H —_ T

HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
HK$ BT 621 205
RMB AR 977 796
1,598 1,001

As at 31 December 2023, lease liabilities of
HK$1,754,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of HK$1,754,000 (2022: lease liabilities of
HK$2,245,000 and related right-of-use assets of
HK$2,245,000). The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants in other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

RZEBE-_=F+=-_A=+—
H - BHEREEEE1,754,000
BT REBEEREEREE
1,754,000 t(—Z T ==
& & 1&2,245,0007%8 5T & 48
% F B & & E 2,245,000
) RHEHBABENHEESR
ENERERN  HEHZEL
REIEMRZE - HEBET
FRAEERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 21. REE AR 2=
2023 2022
—EB-o=F —EF -
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
HaF FET FET
Cost of investments in FFE LB E A A 2%
unlisted associates B 2,815 2,815
Share of post-acquisition BB EIREEEN
results and other Hih 2 EKE= - kR
comprehensive income, net MWL S
of dividend received (429) (67)
Impairment loss recognised ~ F AR Z EEIE
during the year (1,124) -
Exchange adjustments PE X FR 2 (247) (182)
1,015 2,566
Interests in associates N AN s ey
comprise: B -
— Guangzhou Tianping — BM KT @) 1,015 2,566
— Beijing Feiying — L RARE (b) - -
1,015 2,566
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

2T =

FH-A=t—RHILFE

21. REFE DT 2% (@)

R -_=F+_A=+—8BKk=
T-__F+-_A=+—H  K&EH
ﬁﬁﬁﬂjﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁlﬂ—

Form of Place of Proportion of nominal
business incorporation/  value of issued capital
Name of associate structure operation held by the Group Principal activities
ML, AEBRAERTRAEE
- NIEE ERERE  EERE NEDL TEXH
2023 2022
—E-=f —ZT-Z
T RREGEREAERAR Limited liability  PRC 33.5% 335% Trading in second-hand
(“Beijing Feiying”) company mobile phones and
provision of marketing
services
TRREGEREERAR BREAAR HE 33.5% 335% EBEE_FHDHTENE
(THERREL) SRR
BMNATRERSBMAF Limited liability  PRC 25% 25%  Provision of fifth
(“Guangzhou Tianping”) company generation wireless
communications
technology and related
artificial intelligence
services and short-form
video production
ENXERERBEERAR AREARA HE 25% 5% RESTIRERBER
(TEMRF ) T RAEEA TE 8Pk
AR SAEHE

219



2023 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —Z —

21.

220

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Interest in Beijing Feiying

In view of the Group's share of losses of Beijing Feiying
exceeded its interest in Beijing Feiying and thus, the Group
discontinued to share of the losses of Beijing Feiying and the
financial information of the unrecognised share of losses of
Beijing Feijing is summarised below:

=F+-A=T—BILFE

21. REFE DT 2% (@)

fifez -

(a)

RIE RS 2 ik
ERAEEEEIERRESREBE
RIERRE 2 s - MAKEERLE
FEMEIE R E B R - TR FERR e L
AREEROFHERBRNT -

Post-acquisition

Year ended results up to
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
BE-Z_-= BEEZT-—F
+=—A=+—H +=ZA=+—H
IHEE ol gt
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unrecognised share of loss of associate ~ KHERDHHE QA2 F,/
for the year/period B &R = =
Accumulated unrecognised share of RERFEREMGIL R
losses of Beijing Feiying FE &8 (11,797) (11,797)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had an
amount due from Beijing Feiying of HK$224,000 (equivalent
to RMB200,000) which was unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand. This amount due from Beijing Feiying
was fully impaired in prior year based on the accounting
policy stated in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. There were no movements of the amount due
from Beijing Feiying and the related impairment loss
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year, management of Beijing Feiying submitted
the application to the relevant PRC government authorities to
deregister Beijing Feiying and up to the date of this report,
the deregistration procedures have not yet been completed.

RZBEZ=FR=_FT=_=—F+=A
=+—8 AEEEKILEARERIE
£224,000% T( M E R AR
200,0007T) * AEEHR  EERIRE
KAEIE o IRIBARA MR M 4 Fridt
ZEEEE  BRIERRERER 2
HRE - BE_T=-_=F+=A8
=+—HLEFE  BRIEEARERIE
MEMERZERRESETEES -

FRN - AERIRE E L E R AR T B
FEERPIRARERGE - B R s
MBEARE BB - FEHEF AT
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —Z —

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Interest in Guangzhou Tianping

Impairment assessment of Guangzhou Tianping

As at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company
conducted an impairment assessment of the Group's interest
in the associate with reference to a professional valuation
based on value-in-use basis using discounted cash flow
approach performed by an independent professional valuer
by comparing the carrying amount and the recoverable
amount of the associate which was based on certain key
assumptions. The directors of the Company assumed that the
associate will continue to provide 5G wireless
communications technology and related Al services with its
major customers according to the cash flow projection
prepared by the management. The calculation uses cash flow
projection based on financial budgets prepared by
management covering a 5-year period by applying growth
rate of 3%, (2022: 2%) and a pre-tax discount rate of 28.0%
(2022: 28.1%). The cash flow projection during the budget
period are also based on the expected servicing income
during the budget period. Expected cash inflows/outflows
have been determined based on historical data of past
performance and the management'’s expectations for the
market development.

Based on the valuation, the recoverable amount of the
company was lower than its carrying amount and thus,
impairment of approximately HK$1,124,000 has been
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

All these assumptions and estimations are based on the best
information available to the management of the Company.

RERERRME

=F+-A=T—BIFE

21. REEENT 2R (F
Bt - (48)

(b) REMXTZER
M K B A
RZB-=F+-A=+—080 ' XA
RIEE2EB/ X HERMEKARR
RenesRBEEEMEHANEER
B AR TR E TS - Wi
BIREE T ERENEE A RIRE
BRI EEEE - @F%ﬁﬁﬁﬁz
RERETER  RARESBRKZ
M”Th%#ﬁﬁfy%ﬁhﬁmﬁ
BERMREEATEERE -
ﬁwﬁi%%aﬂﬁﬁ§2£¢%%
BZ Mj%gigziﬁﬁmuil’éﬁu ?;{FH
3%(ZBEZZF 2%) 2 HRER
28.0% (=T =% :28.1%) Z B Al
BRER K - THE AR 2 IR & 7 £ 78R 75
RIETEE BAf 2 TEHARR IS UL A - TE Hf
BemA/ mb REBEREZE
EERREEEHMISER 2ERE

-
TE °

BEEE - ANARZ KBS AER
HEEEE BAREE—_T_=F+=
AZ+ - BALEERRBUED
1,124,000 T (B —4F : &) o

A %EBRERGAORERARFE
BEA S 2 XEERMEDL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 21. RIS AT 21X (®)

Notes: (Continued) Ktat : (&)

(b) Interest in Guangzhou Tianping (Continued) (b) REMNKXEZREZE)
Summarised financial information of the Guangzhou EM X FE B SR E

Tianping

For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting,
the management of the Guangzhou Tianping prepared a set
of financial statements based on a realignment of its financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

AEREZEE BNXEEEE
BEHBRE-_ZE-__FR_T_=F
+TZA=+—BLEFENBHRENA
BEHT —HOMBERE

Guangzhou Tianping is accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

BINKFRZERE HIBRER A AR
AR ©

Summarised financial information in respect of Guangzhou
Tianping is set out below which are prepared in accordance

BRBEMNRTZHBEER B ZEH 0
T DREEEM SR E LRS-

222

with HKFRSs.

2023 2022

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$000

FERT FHET

Current assets MENE E 9,757 6,023

Non-current assets ERBEE 317 343

Current liabilities mEEE (7,907) (2,666)

Non-current liabilities FERBEE = -

Net assets BERE 2,167 3,700

Revenue Wz 16,146 23,632

(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(EBB), 5 (1,447) 26

Other comprehensive expense FEHEMEEMS

for the year (85) (326)

Group's share of (loss)/profit for the year A& ERE(EF A (E518),&5F (362) 7
Group's share of total comprehensive AEEELMFEEEM B

expense for the year (65) (198)

Dividend received from the associate
for the year

FABBEARRRZRE




21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

et - (&)

Interest in Guangzhou Tianping (Continued) (b)

Summarised financial information of the Guangzhou

Tianping (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information

to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Guangzhou

21. REFE DT 2% (@)

REMNR P 2 s ()
BMX-FR9 B ERELE (&)

R BER M ERREERGS M
BHRERZEMNR T ERREEY

Tianping recognised in the consolidated financial statements: BE :
2023 2022
—B-= —E__F
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FEr
Proportion share of net assets of AEEMRTEEEEFELZ
Guangzhou Tianping attributable to EEfI (R T S BT -
(see note below):
— The Group — rEE 2,139 2,566
— Other shareholders of Guangzhou — BMRFE 2 B ARER
Tianping 28 1,134
2,167 3,700
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 31 Hiid: BE-T-_=F+-A=1+—

December 2022, the Company’s issued share capital
was RMB4,192,000, the Company and the other
shareholders own RMB2,500,000 and RMB1,692,000
issued share capital of Guangzhou Tianping,

respectively.

AR=—ZT=—F+=-RA=+—
B AARIZBEETRABA
R #4,192,0007C © AR K
HA IR D RIHEA BN K TFH
B #1724 A R % 2,500,000
TR AR 1,692,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. MAFEGAEBES 2B EE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
—E-=F T
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Hiat FHETT FET
Financial assets at fair value  ZAFEF ABZE
through profit or loss ZHMBEE
— Unlisted equity investments ~ — JF_ EMARIEIRE @) - 67
— Unlisted fund investment —LmESKRE (b) 1,300 2,042
— Listed equity investments — Rz kT ()
in the PRC PRAER & 642 557
1,942 2,666
Analysed as: DR
Current assets MENVEE 642 557
Non-current assets SEMENEE 1,300 2,109
1,942 2,666
Notes: Kzt -
(a) Unlisted equity investments (a) FLTRERE
Unlisted equity investments are investments in couple of RETRAZE BN TR EERE R T
private entities incorporated in different jurisdictions that MRz B ETREBNZHELRE 2
engaged in different businesses. RE o
(b) Unlisted fund investment (b) FLFESEE
Unlisted fund investment is the investment of 13.3% in the REMESKRERR —HETRME
equity interest of a fund which focuses on the investment in i (BRERPEETHN—ENEER
the property market, including a property development BEH)HESH 13.3% s 21RE » A
project carried in PRC. The directors of the Company intend DA EEFR B ZFREFER AR
to hold these investments for long term strategic purpose. R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZT =

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) Listed equity investments in the PRC
The amounts represent the Group listed equity investments
in the ordinary shares of entities listed on Shanghai/Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2023, the fair value of the investments is based on the bid
prices quoted on the Shanghai/Shenzhen Stock Exchange at
the end of the reporting period which are classified within
level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Details of the fair value measurement of the Group's
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are set out

e MERRME

FH-A=t—RHILFE

22. RAVEFABEMBEE
(&)

Hiat - (&)

(0 RHBEZETRERE
ZEEEAEER L8 RIIES
LM ERZE LHxJ:mHXZ!STx
BE-R-_ZB-_—_F+-_HA=+—-BEK
—EC=F+RA=+—H #ZEFR
B2 N HEDRBERERRN L8R
ﬂl\ B X BB ZEAEHE X

DBRBATERRNE 1R -

AEBZRAVEFABRZMBE
EZ N EAEFTHNHEG)

in note 7(a).

23. CLUB MEMBERSHIPS

23. EFSE

HK$°000
FET
COST jo#N
At 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-Z—_F—H—H 1,389
Exchange adjustments I N AR (18)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZE-_—_F+=-A=+—H
NZ_FTZ=%—H—H 1,371
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33) HE—HWB AR (AaF33) (187)
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 2L (8)
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+=-—A=+—H 1,176
IMPAIRMENT RAE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R-ZE-_—F—H—H
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 —E-—F+-_A=+—
E —T=F—-H—HK
—E-=F+=-A=+—H 496
CARRYING AMOUNT IREE
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+-HA=+—H 680
At 31 December 2022 RZFEZZF+=HA=+—H 875

225



2023 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

23. CLUB MEMBERSHIPS (Continued) 23. EFFEE &)
Club memberships are stated at cost less any identified & e SRR AR AR D 3R E
impairment loss. For the purpose of impairment testing on EiBFE - AemesEs S HE
club memberships, the recoverable amount has been RS :\ﬂH&@égﬁiﬁﬂqzﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁz
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal which . RO o
[==1. j:EI Ea:T\E 3
represents the second-hand market price less cost of $§E TRED =35 (LR E Y
disposal.
4
24. INVENTORIES 24. #H
2023 2022
—g=-= T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T#ET
Mobile phone business BE)EEER
— Finished goods — &pm 2,341 1,301
Less: Impairment & EE (377) (377)
1,964 924
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. FEUL 5 5 BE R % H 4th FE Uk BE 2k
2023 2022
—E=F T
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHETT FET
Trade receivables JE W B 5 BR X 20,440 3,272
Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEEERE (3,166) (3,272)
17,274 -
Value-added-tax recoverable FEMIE BT 309 269
Prepayments to suppliers T R R 23,493 24,024
Other receivables and deposits HMERERRIZE 8,464 8,697
32,266 32,990
Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEEERE (30,061) (31,712)
2,205 1,278
19,479 1,278
The Group generally requests for full prepayment from its AEE-REKEHEFPENEZEH
trade customers but it also allows credit period of 30 to 90 HE-EBNGTETESRERP=T
days for certain trade customers. Before accepting any new ZENTHZEER BEREAFE
customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit Fal ARBEgNHEEREP 2B
quality and defines its credit limits. Limits attributed to EEE AERTEERE  TH
customers are reviewed periodically. Majority of the trade BAERTEP ZREE - KEBHBEK
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have no 280 HA T R ORL (B 2 FE W B 5 BR SR A
default payment history. R 408K o
The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade debts. REFWEGLE FHERTE EME
Wan o
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ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EWEB SR EMEIBRER
(Continued) (48

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of

RS HR 2 FRWE 5 8R5K (B R

allowance for credit loss) presented based on the invoice EEEBEE IRRELHILCE
date at the end of reporting period: BOTINT :
2023 2022
—_E-= S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
0 to 30 days 0&30H 17,274 -

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in

B EWE 5 MR R E M RE W R

respect of trade and other receivables RG> B E
Trade Other
receivables receivables Total
BUESER - HttEWRR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Balance at 1 January 2022 R-T-—F
—A—Bz&e 3,572 37,725 41,297
Impairment losses recognised AR Z FE
during the year B - 325 325
Reversal of impairment loss RZBEEE
recognised & (10) - (10)
Written off s - (3,499) (3,499)
Exchange adjustments RS (290) (2,839) (3,129)
Balance at 31 December 2022 WR=T=—
and 1 January 2023 +-A=+—-B8k=
To=f
—A—B2#&5H 3,272 31,712 34,984
Impairment losses recognised AR ZFfE
during the year BB - 30 30
Reversal of impairment R REBERE
loss recognised - (11) (11)
Written off i35 (19) (889) (908)
Exchange adjustments b 5 % (87) (781) (868)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RZZ==%
TZA=t—Rz#&&H 3,166 30,061 33,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. FEU S 5 BE 2K % H fth Uk BE 2k
(Continued) (#&)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts in EEE I E 5 BR 5 B 1t FE I BRE =k
respect of trade and other receivables (Continued) REEBEZE (/&)
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other FEUN B 5 BR Tk I Ho b FE IR BR 30 2 A
receivables are set out in note 7(b). BB E R EE7(D) ©
26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO NON- 26. FEW FE(SKIE A REZER R
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OF R2I18
SUBSIDIARIES
2023 2022
—_E-= —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEURLA T AR AR R
shareholder of: FKIE -
— Sifa Mining (note 19) — 8RB (HaF19) 386 386
— Fortune Telecom Supply Chain —RESEHERESE
Limited LEE/NE] 344 219
730 605
Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEBERE (390) (421)
340 184
Amounts due to non-controlling FERT AT FEFE IS R
shareholder of: KIE -
— Zhuhai Reminda — KB BERE
(note 33(a)) (BtaE 33(a)) - 756
— Beijing Daizhangmen — IEREERM 28 217
28 973

The balances are unsecured, non-intere
repayable on demand.

st bearing and

3 -

e AERWE - TRENRARER
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27.

28.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 27. BERBEEEEY
The cash and cash equivalents of the Group are mainly NEBZIREMBESEEWEE
denominated in RMB and HK$, which are the functional NEBEBETE ZINGEE AR
currencies of the relevant entities of the Group. KA TTEHE ©
Included in cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2023 N—_ETE-—_=%F=+_"H=+—H ' &
are the amounts in RMB of approximately RMB5,977,000 S hESEBYBRTEAARE NG E
(2022: RMB5,129,000) and USD of approximately USD4,000 T EZFENETRES  DRA
(2022: USD6,000) in form of cash on hand and at banks, ARBEL)5 977,000 (=& ==
respectively. A B #5,129,000 7T ) K £94,0003
JL(ZZF-—% :6,000%7T) °
RMB balances are not freely convertible into other AREBEASTN SR B AEME
currencies. W o
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had HK$4 million time RNR-_E_=F+—-_HF=+—H ' ' &K
deposit bearing an interest rate at 4.7% per annum and will EE S F HI1F 54,000,000 & T
be matured within 1 month after the end of reporting REFEKA4T% 2 - iGRERE %,
period (2022: nil). The remaining cash at banks earns RE—EBRNEHB(—E - —
interest at floating bank deposit rates. M) o B2 NRITIR S IIEHRITER
R BRERFS, ©
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ENE R NEMESERR
2023 2022
—EZ=fF T
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET TET
Trade payables FETE SRR 19,141 954
Value-added-tax payables FEATIG(ETS 2 22
Prepayments from customers B P ENRIE 1,025 1,204
Other payables and accruals H B R ERT
gH 9,638 7,100
Provision for close down and A PR R IR 1B R A s
restoration costs (note 19) (Htat19) 11,783 11,771
41,589 21,051
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

29.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of reporting

R e RGHRERME
ECRC=F+A=+T—RIEFE

(&)

28. BN EZRAREAEN KRR

RBEMRZENESRFTIRER
BHZ25 2 REDMTIAT

period:
2023 2022
—EB-=F =
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHETT FET
0 to 90 days 0290 H 19,141 924
Over 90 days #8390 H - 30
19,141 954
SHARE CAPITAL 29. IR
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital
EBRHE &S
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EBZ=f T — —E-=f 2
‘000 ‘000 HK$°000 HK$°000
K ThR FET FET
Ordinary shares of BREEO0.10%
HK$0.10 each TRZEBR
Authorised: SETE
Ordinary shares Rl
Atbeginning and at theend ~ RAIRE T KRS
of the reporting period HiZR 20,000,000 20,000,000 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE:
Ordinary shares B
At the beginning of the RSB
reporting period 183,556 183,556 1,836 1,836
First Subscription of New BIRRERN
Shares (note (b)(i) below) (TFXXHIEE b)) 18,000 - 180 -
Second Subscription of New % — /KRB IR
Shares (note (b)(ii) below) (T XXHiaE b)) 10,000 - 100 -
At the end of the R ER
reporting period 211,556 183,556 2,116 1,836
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

232

During the year ended 31 December 2022
The Company did not have any changes of the authorised
and issued share capital for the year ended 31 December

2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023
The movements of the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are as following:

(i)

First Subscription of New Shares

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 27
March 2023 (the “First Subscription Announcement”),
at the same date, the Company entered into certain
subscription agreements (the “First Subscription
Agreements”) with certain subscribers (the “First
Subscribers”), pursuant to which the First Subscribers
have conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue
an aggregate of 18,000,000 subscription shares (the
“First Subscription Shares”) to the First Subscribers at
the subscription price (the “First Subscription Price”) of
HK$0.26 per First Subscription Share (the “First
Subscription”).

The First Subscription Shares represent (i) approximately
9.8% of the existing issued share capital of the
Company as at 27 March 2023; and (ii) approximately
8.9% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the First
Subscription Shares.

The First Subscription Price is fixed at HK$0.26 per First
Subscription Share, which represents (i) a discount of
approximately 11.9% to the closing price of HK$0.295
per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 24
March 2023, being the last full trading day prior to 27
March 2023; and (ii) a discount of approximately
11.9% to the average of the closing prices per share
of HK$0.295 as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
last five consecutive trading days immediately
preceding the date of the First Subscription
Agreements.

29. IR (4%)

FifeE -

(a)

(b)

BE-_ZT_—_H+-_HA=+—HLHEF
B
HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—HIF
B ARQRRETE REBITRAL &
EfEE) -

BE-_Z_=f+=-HA=+—HL#F
E
HE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—HILF
& RRRRAEEF T ¢

(i) BRZEFRG
BEAARBHAZZT_=F
A=+ tAMAE((HRR
BAL])  RAA - AAREE
FREATEHRREADGIZ
ETRERE(TEARER
&) B BRRBAGKY
AERBERARABDEGKEGERE
fic 2% X ¥ 47 & #£ 18,000,000 &
RERMTERRERSG ] T
BARBA RBE(TERR
BEE ) AEREXRIERDO0.26
BrT((ERRE] -

BRARBBROBEODAARRN =
E_=F=HA-_ttBZHA
BETRAL9.8% : K()AR
AREERBETERRERD
BRIEBEBANE HTRAL8I% -

BEARBEECAERANRE
f& 70267 v Bl &)= T
Z=F=AZ+WmHAAZZE
—=F=A=t++tHAxE—
EEEEAZ 5 B ) B3 TR ik
B8 & MR0295/8 T 1 & &
11.9% : RINBREZEEHRXRE
HEBHARERAEAEERS
BB TR B R
B0.295 B THTEA 11.9% ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e RGHRERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE
29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 29. FRZA(4)

Notes: (Continued) Hiat : (48)

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

(b) BE-EB-_=Ft+-A=t-—-HLF

E(#)

(i)  First Subscription of New Shares (Continued) (i) BXRREFRG (E)
The First Subscription Shares would be issued under BRARERGBRERRN =
the general mandate granted to the directors of the T _FRAA=T—RETZ
Company by the Shareholders at the annual general RARAARFBERG LR TR
meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2022. RAERZ —MBEET AT -
The directors consider that the First Subscribers are EEZRRERARBARBIYLE
independent third parties. =

(i)  Second Subscription of New Shares (i) BZIRBBEHRG

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 30
March 2023 (the “Second Subscription
Announcement”, together with the First Subscription
Announcement, the “Subscription Announcements”),
at the same date, , the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Second Subscription
Agreement”) with a subscriber (the “Second
Subscriber”, together with the First Subscribers, the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Second
Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue an aggregate of 10,000,000 subscription shares
(the “Second Subscription Shares”, together with the
First Subscription Shares, the “Subscription Shares”) to
the Second Subscriber at the subscription price (the
“Second Subscription Price”) of HK$0.26 per Second
Subscription Share (the “Second Subscription”,
together with the First Subscription, the “Subscription
of New Shares”).

The Second Subscription Shares represent (i)
approximately 5.5% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company as at 30 March 2023; and (ii)
approximately 4.7% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the Second Subscription Shares.

REALNGHPA ST —_=F
“A=+HENAETERR
BAS] ERE-—AREBEA
L EBIREASD  RE
H  ARARHE—ZRBA(E
ZRREA] ERE-RRE
A G IREADIRER
F(EDRRERZD - Bt
FEZRRBAEGGERERE
RAQNAEGGRERE R
77 A 10,000,000 A% 72 B8 A% {7
(IBZRRERD ] ERE—
RRBRG - 578 [ ZERER
7)) REERERE ZXRE
& 0.26 % ([EZRRE] -
ERIE—IRRE - 558 [RE
B 1)

B RBBBEOAR BN
—TE=F=A=1tHZREA
BBEITRALS.5% : R)AR
AREERETE _RABR
DRIEBANE EITRALAT% °
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ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 29. B (4#)

Notes: (Continued) Hiat : (48)
(b) During the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued) (b) BE-—ZT-_=5+=-—B=+—-HLHF
E(#)
(i)  Second Subscription of New Shares (Continued) (i) FEZRBBEIFIRG (HE)

234

The Second Subscription Price is fixed at HK$0.26 per
Second Subscription Share, which represents (i) a
discount of approximately 11.9% to the closing price
of HK$0.295 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 29 March 2023, being the last full
trading day prior to 30 March 2023; and (ii) a discount
of approximately 11.9% to the average of the closing
prices per share of HK$0.295 as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of the Second
Subscription Agreement.

The Second Subscription Shares would be issued under
the general mandate granted to the directors of the
Company by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2022.

The directors consider that the Second Subscriber is an
independent third party.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 4
July 2023, the Board of Directors of the Company
consider that all the conditions precedent set out in
the First Subscription Agreements entered into as at
27 March 2023 and the Second Subscription
Agreement entered into as at 30 March 2023
(collectively, the “Subscription Agreements”) have
been fulfilled, the completion of the Subscription of
New Shares took place on 4 July 2023 in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Subscription
Agreements. An aggregate of 28,000,000 Subscription
Shares, representing approximately 13.24% of the
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by
the issue and allotment of the Subscription Shares,
have been allotted and issued to the Subscribers at the
subscription price of HK$0.26 per Subscription Share.
The net proceeds (after deduction of all relevant
expenses) from the Subscription of New Shares of
approximately HK$7.16 million would be applied as
general working capital of the Group as disclosed in
the Announcements.

FIRRBEEREBERE-R
BB (02678 T BNEG=
T-_=F=A-+AHABHBEI=Z
—=F=A=t+HARE @
TR S5 H )RR T E
FAR0.295B T ITELV11.9%
MNBBEE - AREWHEH
M AEEER S B EH
RFTET IR IR T M 0.295
PETLHTAEAI 11.9% ©

FZRREROBBERER
R FRA=+—HE1
ZARDBBREBAFAE EET
RRAFEE 2 —MRERETAE

7o

EERREARRBBARBYL
F=J5-

REALGHPA ST —_=F
tAMBMA AL ARARES
BRANZZT_=F=A=++t
BRIV BEARERERR =
TE-_=F=ZfA=1+HIJUWNSE
ZRRE G (FE RERED
FTER AT SO RGO B &R
FRHRBERBERBHZEN
BEREREER - E =%+ A
/M A 5ERK > & $£28,000,000 %
R (RS ETREERE
B 5 KK AR A B EITAR
RNE#13.24%) ERERRE
f& 17 0.26 7% JT By SR B (B il 3 &
BIOITREA - BUOZERMH
FTiEeE  REBFRODBOAER
BER(HBmERERRE)
#77,160,000 % 7T #% FRfE AN & B
H—REEES -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE —Z —

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(9]

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (Continued)

(i)  Second Subscription of New Shares (Continued)
The new issued First Subscription Shares and Second
Subscription Shares shall rank pari passu with the
existing shares in all respects.

The details of the above are set out in the Company'’s
announcements dated 27 March 2023, 30 March
2023 and 4 July 2023.

Saved as disclosed above, there were no movements
of the Company’s authorised and issued share capital
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Changes of share capital subsequent to 31 December
2023

The movements of the share capital of the Company
subsequent to 31 December 2023 are as following:

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 20 March
2024, on 20 March 2024, the Company entered into the
subscription agreements (the “2024 Subscription
Agreements”) with the certain subscribers (the “2024
Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue to the 2024
Subscribers, and the 2024 Subscribers have conditionally
agreed to subscribe for an aggregate of 30,000,000
subscription shares (the “2024 Subscription Shares”) at the
subscription price (the “2024 Subscription Price”) of HK$0.26
per 2024 Subscription Share under the general mandate
granted by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 23 May 2023 (the “2024
Subscription”).

RERERRME

=F+-A=T—BIFE

29. IR (#%)

HiaE - (4)
(b) BE-E-_=F+=ZA=+—HLHF

E (&)

(i) BZIRBBHRG (B)
FBETHERARBERO RS
/Awugﬁﬂxﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁifﬁﬁﬂx
DEFRFMAL

FRFBEHRARR B RS
F-=F=A-t+tH -%
—=F=-A=+HEK=ZT==
FEAMBHAE -

B EXFIEREN BEZZ
—=F+-A=t+—HItEE
ANRAREE R B BETRABE

BE o
(0 =Z-=Ft+-A=t+-—H#&REE
3]
ARBIR-_ZE-_=F+-"F=+—8H
BHRAZBIT ¢
BEAABR=ZZE-_MNFE=A=1+H
ZRE R-_ZE-_WF=A=+H"

ARAHEETRBA(TZZZ2HEFR
BADIURER = ZZ-NFR
Bzl Bt AAREBKER
BER-ZTNFEREARERET
M-E—NFREACEBGKERER
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wEE ZREE( S -NFRE
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(9]
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Changes of share capital subsequent to 31 December
2023 (Continued)

The 2024 Subscription Price of HK$0.26 per 2024
Subscription Share represented: (i) a premium of
approximately 10.6% over the closing price of HK$0.235 per
share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
2024 Subscription Agreements; (ii) a premium of
approximately 1.6% over the average closing price of
approximately HK$0.256 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange for the last five (5) trading days immediately before
the date of the 2024 Subscription Agreements; and (iii) a
premium of approximately 88.4% over the unaudited
consolidated net asset value attributable to the Shareholders
of approximately HK$0.138 per share as at 30 June 2023.

The 2024 Subscription Shares have an aggregate nominal
value of HK$300,000. The gross proceeds from the 2024
Subscriptions will be HK$7.8 million. The net proceeds from
the 2024 Subscriptions, after deduction of relevant costs and
expenses, is estimated to be approximately HK$7.76 million.

The new issued 2024 Subscription Shares shall rank pari
passu with the existing shares in all respects.

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the 2024 Subscriptions have not yet been
completed and details of which are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 March 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 28 May
2014 which was effective at the same day and will expire on
28 May 2024. The primary purpose of the Scheme is to
provide incentives to directors, eligible employees and other
qualified persons who in the opinion of the board of
directors has made or will make contributions which are or
may be beneficial to the Group as a whole.

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may,
subject to certain conditions, grant to any directors,
employees, suppliers, agents, customers, distributors,
business associates or partners, professionals or other
advisors of, or consultants or contractors to, any members
of the Group or any associated companies who in the
opinion of the board of directors has made or will make
contributions which are or may be beneficial to the Group
as a whole, options to subscribe for shares in the Company
at any price but not less than the higher of (i) nominal value
of a share, (ii) the closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange on the day of grant, and (iii) the average of the
closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the options, subject to a maximum of 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

30. AR AERNTR RS

ARER_ZT—MNERA =1+ /\H
RN — IR 8] - ZETEIRNE
BAEM YR _ZE_MWEHA
“t+NAHER - FEZEEENAE
MEETRAHAEEEENED
{EH S 1E I B R 2k 1] B B 1Y & BR
2EE GEREEREMEER
AL T HER -

RIFFHE - B TIHREZRSEIT -
ARREZANEZTERA/YEASE
EIES FllEaR= R cheE g S (S =)=
AEBRERMZARBEIMAKER
AREFBERRZEMNES &
E-ftER K2 TP 2
B EBBEASEN  FEEM
HEMBER A AAREARERT
AR ERERRBEAR R RN ZE
Pt - ERBERIFOR0O KN
HE{E (i) B R B BR3P
Z W B R (i) B £ T BR % B B X
H A AT R AR 5 A AR
B mEzEREE  MREZER
BARBZBRNEBERZIARRAF]
TR EHITRAZ10% RR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

31.

(Continued)

Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, (i)
the total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, and (i) the number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time.

Options granted must be taken up within the time period
set out in the offer letter and upon payment of HK$1 for
each lot of share option granted.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no options have been
granted or agreed to be granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Under the rules of the Scheme, the employer and its
employees are required to make contributions to the
Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the Scheme is to make the
required contributions under the Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a fixed rate of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

32. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 32. FEFRERH
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had HE-_T-_=F+-A=+—81t
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities FE - ANEBRRS THAZTER
of HK$1,754,000 and HK$1,754,000, respectively, in HEZHESRFGIEREAEFH
respect of lease arrangements of certain office premises EEENMEERE,754 000,%75&
(2022: HK$2,245,000 and HK$2,245,000). 1,754,000 T( = T = =

2,245,000/%75&2,245,0005%75) °

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 33. HE—RIKE AT
(a) For the year ended 31 December 2023 () Bz2=—F-_=F+=-A=+-—
BEFE

On 30 June 2023, Fortune Wayal Holdings Limited E’\_ T -——#FxHA=+H &
(formerly known as Fortune Telecom Retail Chain NAZEE2ENB AT EER
Holdings Limited, “Fortune Wayal”), an indirect )—Xﬁq RER AT (FEER
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered EEEMEERAERE AT [ &
into an agreement with a non-controlling shareholder REVER ) BT EEERA
of KM EREBAERMEAR A A (“Zhuhai ?’Lﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ—j((ﬁ}@?u%i“
Reminda”), pursuant to which Fortune Wayal agreed B — 2 IR AR R AT S ik
to sell the remaining 49% equity interest of Zhuhai = ﬁLW;’éﬂf\l«/{}\Eﬁg
Reminda for a total consideration of RMB1 (the 1 TR BB ER G EBE
“Zhuhai Reminda Disposal”). B8R T 49% REkE ([BRE B 8%

HESHE]) °

The Zhuhai Reminda Disposal was completed on 6 July LEEEELTESTHEIR =
2023. Z=FtANHETEK
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 33. HE—RIMBAT (&)

(@) For the year ended 31 December 2023 (a) BE=E=-=F+=ZH=1+—
(Continued) HIEFE (&)
The net assets of Zhuhai Reminda at the date of KEEEENHERRNEE
disposal were as follows: SEEMR
HK$’000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over REEHEZEERAE
which control was lost: D
Plant and equipment &R M 5% 1 18
Club membership LA 187
Trade and other receivables FEUS B 5 BR 3R % B A R S BR 3K 25
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFEFEY 43

240

Trade and other payables JE 1~ B 5 BR R e EL At 5 BR K (1,820)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEREFE (1,547)
Gain on disposal of Zhuhai Reminda: HEKBEREZWE :
Consideration received BEWRE ="
Net liabilities disposed of EHEaEFE 1,547
Non-controlling interests FEHE I MR 2 (758)
Reclassification of cumulated translation HHEREEREZRFEL

reserve upon disposal of Zhuhai Reminda  FEEEH D EEIEE

to profit or loss 1,130
Gain on disposal of Zhuhai Reminda HERBERE 2 W 1,919
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRSREIFH:
Cash consideration ReENRE —*
Less: Bank balance and cash disposed of B ERERITERKRES (43)

(43)

*  Less than HK$1,000.

* DFN 1,000 T ©

\



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

33. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2022

On 9 September 2022, E/EREZBHEE S HER A A
("Shanghai Yuanjia”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement
with a non-controller shareholder of TR % (z 2 ft
B A R A 7 (“zZhejiang Aoying”), pursuant to which
Shanghai Yuanjia agreed to sell its remaining 70%
equity interest of Zhejiang Aoying, for a total
consideration of RMB1 (the “Zhejiang Aoying

33. HE—BKNELT @)

(b) BE-_ZE-_—F+=-A=+—
HIEFE
RZE-_—_FhLAIB AR
AINEEZEE2ENB AR EER
ZEBRESERAR( LER

2 DEMTBRIAEFEEREER

ANE) ([ATIRE |) B — R IEHE

PRAR R AT ek - WRIB R

FTEEEREUARE1ITH

MEHBLEENIBRENG T

il

N

Disposal”).

70% Iz 4 ([ MR & B E =

H]) o
The Zhejiang Aoying Disposal was completed on 20 WMITHRELEESHEIR _-Z
September 2022. T THFAA-THEK -
The net assets of Zhejiang Aoying at the date of T RE RN HE BN EEE
disposal were as follows: EROENE
HK$'000
FAET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEEZHEZEEREE
which control was lost: Al i
Trade and other receivables FEUS ' 5 BR R % B FE U
AR 42
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 98
Trade and other payables FEATE 5 RN S B FE A~
AR (18)
Net assets disposed of EHEZEEFRE 122
Loss on disposal of Zhejiang Aoying: HEWNTRIE 2 &S :
Consideration received BElLE —*
Net assets disposed of EHECZEEFRE (122)
Non-controlling interests FEFE I MM A \ (672)
Reclassification of cumulated translation A E DR K 18 2 RETHHE
reserve upon disposal of Zhejiang Aoyingto  HIEBEF D EZER
profit or loss (148)
Loss on disposal of Zhejiang Aoying HEAT TR E 2 B8 (942)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZHSREFEHE
Cash consideration ReRE =
Less: Bank balance and cash disposed of B EHERTTESRKRSE (98)
(98)

*  Less than HK$1,000.

* 01,0008 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —T —=

FH-A=t—RHIFE

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 34. AIREE
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no R =FN T —F+_H
contingent liabilities. =+T—H AEEUEERHAE
= o
35. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES 35. BEATZHE
Saves as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial MGARGE B EHRREMIL D A E
statements, the Group had the following transactions and EHN REBRERNEBEALTA
balances with related parties during the year. ARG R &SRR o
(a) Amounts due to a related party (a) FEWEE AL ZFIE
2023 2022
—EC=F g
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Amount due to Mr. Lau FEAS 81| 55 A RRIB 11,663 313
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The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

The Company obtained the Letter of Undertaking
dated 28 March 2024 from Mr. Lau, the Chief
Executive Officer, executive director and the
controlling shareholder of the Company that he
agrees to provide adequate funds to enable the Group
to meet its liabilities and to settle financial obligations
to third parties as and when they fall due so that the
Group can continue as a going concern and carry on
its business without a significant curtailment of
operations for a period of at least the next twelve
months from 31 December 2023.

AR M_—_ZE-_WWE=A
“HN\BETRER  #$TE
ERANRERBREZILEERN
AR RAERERERH
MESSASEREAEITE H
BERE=FUBKEL At
REBE ] ABEFELETR
B _=Ft+=-H=+—H
FRAR R+ {8 A AL HE KR
R EZ ESHBER THESE
7% o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #iZ2 - - =F+_-_A=+—HILFE

35. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

35. AEAT ZIE @)

(Continued)
(b) Compensation of key management (b) TEEZEAE
personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of FRNESNHEMFESEAERKES
the key management during the year was as follows: ZEeunT
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
Short-term benefits %2 BRfE A 4,217 4,230
Performance related incentive ~EREERER
payments - -
Post-employment benefits RIKIERET] 55 60
4,272 4,290
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e M B RRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

36. ERMEEBELE 2B BHK

TRHAJNASRERBE S S EE
ZAEEE  BERERIRSE
B MALTHELNRERERS
MERFIARKACREHREH O

SRELDELNESRENEE -

For the year ended 31 December 2023 8- -_=%=+-—A=+-—H1L
FE
Amounts
due to
related Lease
parties liabilities Total
FETRE &
ATZHIE MHEAE mEt
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 RZT-=4%F
—H—H 313 1,001 1,314
Changes from cash flows: RERERH !
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBBZERK - (1,216) (1,216)
Advance from a related party KE—B@EEAT
Z B 11,350 - 11,350
Total changes from financing BEReRES
cash flows: HE 11,350 (1,216) 10,134
Other changes: Hiy %5 :
Addition of lease liabilities ANEHERE - 1,754 1,754
Interest expense on lease liabilities ~ FAE&EF 2 F8
Fx - 103 103
Termination of lease contract BIEFHESY - (29) (29)
Exchange adjustments ME 5 A % - (15) (15)
Total other changes HhEs)1azss - 1,813 1,813
At 31 December 2023 i
+=-A=+—H 11,663 1,598 13,261
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i & B 35 R =P 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36, BBl S EBHELA > EEYHE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued) (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E-——F+=-—F=+-—-H1
B

Amounts
due to
related Lease
parties liabilities Total
JE 1< A 3
ATz®E MHEEERE HEt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FEIT FEIT FAET

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-——F

—H—H 6,460 1,162 7,622
Changes from cash flows: ReEREEH :
Repayment of lease liabilities HEBBEZER = (1,648) (1,648)
Repayment to a related party BE—2ZEEAL

3R (6,147) — (6,147)
Total changes from financing BERERELY

cash flows: KEE - (6,147) (1,648) (7,795)

Other changes: Hiy &5 :
Addition of lease liabilities RNEHEBE - 2,245 2,245
Interest expense on lease liabilities ~ FHEBEZF &

FA S - 160 160
Termination of lease contract BIFHESH - (864) (864)
Exchange adjustments ME 5 B - (54) (54)
Total other changes Hib & 8@ — 1,487 1,487
At 31 December 2022 i

+TZA=+—H 313 1,001 1,314
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37. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 37. BER AR BARRER
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+=-H=+—H
2023 2022
—E-=4F —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MiaF FET FEIT
Non-current Asset ERBEE

Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE - =

Current Assets RBEE
Other receivables H b pE UL BR 3R 223 205
Amount due from el —REIMB AR Z
a subsidiary FIE 11,763 7,023
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY 13 10
11,999 7,238
Current Liabilities REBaE
Other payables H M FERTBRFK 2,487 2,485
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN PN
KIE 26,507 24,553
28,994 27,038
Net Current Liabilities REBEEFHE (16,995) (19,800)
Net Liabilities =R 920 (16,995) (19,800)
Capital and Reserves EXRRE
Share capital A& A 29 2,116 1,836
Reserves ] (19,111) (21,636)
(16,995) (19,800)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;

38. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The movements of the reserves of the Company are as

38. KA TFHE

2T =

AARFEEEBOT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

FH-A=t—RHILFE

followings:
Share Contributed Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
DR 1E BB RitEE st
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET T
(note (i) below) (note (ii) below)
(B TX (B TX
izt () Fitat (i)
At 1 January 2022 A
—HA—H 463,439 40,948 (520,334) (15,947)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FRBEREE
expenses for the year Fx 8% - - (5,689) (5,689)
At 31 December 2022 and R_B__F
1 January 2023 TZA=+—H
RZFTZ=%F
—H—H 463,439 40,948 (526,023) (21,636)
Subscription of New Shares RETRN
(see note 29(b)) (B st 29(b)) 7,000 - - 7,000
Issuance of New Shares expenses  Z1THT% {7 7 32 (72) - - (72)
Loss and total comprehensive FRAEEREA
expenses for the year Fx 85 - - (4,403) (4,403)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F
+=A=1+—H 470,367 40,948  (530,426) (19,111)
Notes: Kt -

(i) The share premium represents the amount subscribed for
share capital in excess of nominal value.

(i) The contributed surplus represents the difference between
the consolidated shareholder’s funds of the subsidiaries at
the date on which they were acquired by the Company, and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation less the
amount applied to pay up the 1,000,000 nil paid shares at
the time of the group reorganisation.

() BOEEEIABRASEFEELEEZ

FRIA ©

(i) EHBRREBINERAREARFK

BERZEA

RERE 2 EARRRE

EEARG EMREmEITRG ZE
BERAABERE B EMHEEET
1,000,000 A& R #5 BR A< B 17 B 5% 2 7K IR
W 2= o
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

39. TENMBLREHR

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, all of which

are incorporated with limited liability as follows:

ARREENB AR (B AEMAL
ZBERRB)FBWAT

Proportion of nominal

Place of Issued and fully paid value of issued share
incorporation/ share capital/ capital/registered
Name of subsidiary ~ establishment registered capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activity
BRARME AARMBERTRARE
WEAREE MR,/ B B Ba/GMEL AMER LA ITEXRK
2023 2022
=  —E——
Express Fortune BVI Ordinary US$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited
Express Fortune RBRENHE L@ 100%T 100% 100% WEZRK
Holdings Limited
Express Fortune Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10 Non- 100% 100%  Provision of
Limited voting deferred management
HK$5,000,000 services
(note (i) below)
REBRAAF &b LER10ET 100% 100% REEERSE
ERFERITRN
5,000,000/ 7T
(FXHE()
Fortune (Shanghai) ~ Wholly foreign owned US$28,100,000 100% 100%  Trading in mobile
International Trading  enterprise established phones
Co,, Ltd. in the PRC
RELBERES  RPEKLHING 28,100,000% 7T 100% 100% EEBHE:
BRAF BELE
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i & B 35 R =P 5

ET - FFA=+—HLEFE

39. TEMNMEBLITER (@)

Proportion of nominal

Place of Issued and fully paid value of issued share
incorporation/ share capital/ capital/registered
Name of subsidiary  establishment registered capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activity
BREARAR ARAFBERTRARE
WEAREE MR B Ba/EMEE EmER LA TERHK
2023 2022
“E-zZf T
Sifa Mining Sino-foreign equity joint RMB1,000,000 50.80% 50.80%  Exploration and
ventures established extraction of
in the PRC mining resources
BERE RPERUHPIEE  AR%1,0000007T 50.80% 5080% HREARBRES
ReEtx R

Eagles Fund Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology
Investment Limited

EEESHBRE BB L@k 10,0007 7T 100% 100% REER
BRR7A

HABMEREMRAR  Sino-foreign equity joint RMB10,000,000 - 51%  Trading of mobile
BEERRA ventures established in phones
(“Zhuhai Reminda”)  the PRC
(disposed on 6 July
2023)

REMEGEEAR ReEKLMHTIEE  AKRK10,000,0007T - 51% BERHER
AR Rz
(IREERE])

(R=F_=F
tASBHE)

Fortune Telecom Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 51% 51%  Trading in mobile
Supply Chain phone and
Limited electronic

products

REBEHRER & L3RRk 1,0008 T 51% 51% EEBHTARE
BRAR7A TEm
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

39. TEMNMEBLITER (@)

Proportion of nominal

Place of Issued and fully paid value of issued share
incorporation/ share capital/ capital/registered
Name of subsidiary  establishment registered capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activity
BREARAR ARAFBERTRARE
WEAREE MR,/ B L B Ba/EMEE EmER LA TERHK
2023 2022
“E-zZf T
Shanghai Yuanjia Wholly foreign owned US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
enterprise established
in the PRC
tEER Salelpava: b 5,000,000 %7 100% 100% REER
BELR
IEREREFREBR  Sino-foreign equity joint RMB20,000,000 60% 60%  Advertising and
‘A7 (“Beijing ventures established in (note (ii) below) subscription
Daizhangmen”) the PRC services
HFREFRE RPERLHPIEE  AKE20,000,0007T( 60% 60% [EENRBBRS
BRAT Ratx XK i)
(MHERREM])
Notes: it :

(i) The deferred shares carry practically no rights to dividends or
to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general
meeting of the respective company or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.
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e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)~ Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Beijing
Daizhangmen, the registered share capital of Guangzhou
Tianping was RMB20,000,000. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group and non-controlling shareholder
of Beijing Daizhangmen made a contribution of
RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to HK$7,260,000) and
RMB4,000,0000 (equivalent to HK$4,840,000) to Beijing
Daizhangmen respectively. As at 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022, the issued capital of Beijing Daizhangmen
was RMB10,000,000, the Group and the non-controlling
shareholder of Beijing Daizhangmen owned RMB6,000,000
and RMB4,000,000 issued capital of Beijing Daizhangmen
respectively.

The Company directly holds the interest in Express Fortune
Holdings Limited. All other interests shown above are
indirectly held by the Company.

The principal activities are carried out in the place of
incorporation/establishment except for Express Fortune
Holdings Limited which mainly carries out its business in
Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results or net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

39. TEMMBLRER (&

Hiat - (%)

(i) MELEREMZAHKSEMA - E
MRXFZEMBERAEARE
20,000,000L e HE=ZZT = —F+=
A=+—HLLEFE A£ERILEH
207 IR S B M4t R 2P
& A R #6,000,000T( # & »
7,260,000%7T) & A R ¥ 4,000,000 7T
(FHE 74,840,000 TL) - R=F==
F+_A=+t-—BRkR-_ZT_—F+—
A=+—8 " tEZREMBEHITRA
A AR #10,000,0007C © AN & E &L
RREMZIEEBRBRRES AEGIER
KREFZ B ETIRA AR 6,000,000
7T & AR ¥ 4,000,000 7T °

N A A B ¥ 5 A Express Fortune
Holdings Limited 2 ## o Ll FT A
Hi g m AR RIEERA

B Express Fortune Holdings Limited
TEEFBRERKIN L2
FEEIRETMBCSL AL BE A

&I A TR RS 4 A FE (5 R
BT AEBES -

ERAIEDESTRREAKEZ
XELBEEFEREARFEZAR
AE AR - EERE - I EHAM
MEBARZFEESHEHEERER
TR o
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40.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

=—F—

ECECCFT-A=t+—HIEFE

40. FFERAER

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests are set out below:

AREBERGERFZERER ZHME
RAEFIFERSIAT -

2023 2022
—E=F T
Percentage of equity held by LR R FTIF R
non-controlling interests: Both
Sifa Mining RBEE 49.20% 49.20%
Zhuhai Reminda (Note 33(a)) RGBS E(H1iF336) - 49.00%
Beijing Daizhangmen IER&RER 40.00% 40.00%
2023 2022
—EB=F -
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Loss for the year allocated to non- DEEEIFERERZ
controlling interests: FAEE :
— Sifa Mining — REER (2,462) (2,591)
— Zhuhai Reminda —KEERE 1,555 (24)
— Beijing Daizhangmen — I RREF (1,432) (2,893)
— Individually immaterial subsidiaries — 2345 IS 4EE %5 2 1@ B
with non-controlling interests FERMBEAA] (144) (509)
(2,483) (6,017)
Accumulated balances of non- RiE BE - JEEiR iR
controlling interest at the ZREHEER
reporting date:
— Sifa Mining — REER (43,915) (42,418)
— Zhuhai Reminda —KEERE - (2,362)
— Beijing Daizhangmen — L RERE (1,318) 104
— Individually immaterial subsidiaries — 2345 IS4 =5 2~ 1@ B
with non-controlling interests FEEAMNE QA (490) (362)
(45,723) (45,038)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set our below. The summarized financial

40. FFEERRERS (A)

AEBEMBRARERERIFER
REZHHEMBERIT o A
THHENBREIE R BRI HAZ

information below represents amounts before intergroup GEA o
eliminations.
Sifa Zhuhai Beijing
Mining Reminda Daizhangmen
RBBE HBERE  EEREM
HKS000 HKS000  HKS'000
FET FET FET
As of and for the year BE-ZT-=F
ended 31 December 2023 +=-H=+—H
EBZEZALE
FE
Revenue g - - -
Total expenses MRS (5,005) (45) (4,446)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF, (&) (5,004) 3,173 (3,582)
Total comprehensive income/  FRZEU A,

(expense) for the year (FAX) %5 (2,671) 3,273 (3,557)
Current assets MENVEE 475 - 31
Non-current assets EMEBEE - - 560
Current liabilities mEEE (89,292) - (3,987)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE - - (178)
Net cash flows used in L EES AR E

operating activities mEFER (534) - (86)
Net cash flows generated from X &/EEFTIFE S

investing activities mE R - = =
Net cash flows used in BMEEBFARE

financing activities mEFER - - (91)
Net decrease in cash and RekBREEEY

cash equivalents VERPE R (534) - (177)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #Z - -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFE

40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)  40. JriEpRiEsS (&)

Sifa Zhuhai Beijing
Mining Reminda Daizhangmen
BBREE KEERE  ERREM
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000
FETT FET FET
As of and for the year BE-ZT—-—F
ended 31 December2022 +=-A=+—H
EEZEZALE
FE
Revenue e - - -
Total expenses BHEX (5,269) (100) (8,423)
Loss for the year FREE (5,266) (48) (7,233)
Total comprehensive income/  FRZEU A,

(expense) for the year (FAX) s 2,039 376 (7,692)
Current assets MENVEE 996 71 1,969
Non-current assets EMEBEE 2 215 -
Current liabilities mENBE (87,143) (5,100) (1,705)
Non-current liabilities EmEBE - - -
Net cash flows used in KL ESFTARE

operating activities ME R (677) (52) (7,138)
Net cash flows generated from X &/EEFTISE S

investing activities mEFHR - - 9
Net cash flows used in REESFTARS

financing activities mEFER - - (763)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBEeEED

cash equivalents A ERE (677) (52) (7,892)
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41.

42.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE —ZT =

EVENT AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD

On 20 March 2024, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with independent third parties (the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Subscribers have
conditionally agreed to subscribe, and the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, a total 30,000,000
shares of HK$0.26 each for a cash consideration of
approximately HK$7.8 million (“the 2024 Subscriptions”).
At the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the 2024 Subscriptions have not been
completed. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 20 March 2024.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2024.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41.

42.

e MERRME

FH-A=t—RHILFE

BEHREE

RZZE_MF=R=+H &R
BBV E=(READ LR %
e Bt - REABBRAERER
BMARTA GRS E N
& #£30,000,000 % & 1% 0.26 7% JT #Y

ix1n - MERE X A7,800,0007%8 7T
(ZZE_MEFRBEFE]) - RZE
,mAﬁﬁﬁ%qfﬁ?%ﬂZt/ﬁElﬁﬂ _7_@
FRESHEEARTK - E—FFE

I TAVIN/N TE%%_?_EE A
iy o =1 SE7N (i

BIERS P HRER

mEMBHRRENR - _WNF=A
T N\BEESESRAENRIRETE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RESULTS E
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“E-NF ZT-TF —T--F “T-_F ZR==F
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
FET FET FEL FEr FET
Revenue Wie 108,455 80,949 79,172 80,576 81,542
Loss for the year FEEE (32,776) (4,624) (14,274) (20,389)  (15,099)
Attributable to: FEfS -
Owners of the Company EARHEB A (26,093) 219 (9,928) (14,3720 (12,616)
Non-controlling interests RS (6,683) (4,843) (4,346) 6,017) (2,483)
(32,776) (4,624) (14,274) (20,389)  (15,099)
Total assets BERE 70,937 39,335 47,512 15,747 38,902
Total liabilities BfELsE (89,562) (64,627) (36,373) (25,097)  (56,584)
(18,625) (25,292) 11,139 9,350)  (17,682)
Equity attributable to owners NG RS DN e
of the Company 13,992 16,763 53,854 35,688 28,041
Non-controlling interests JEERR i (32,617) (42,055) (42,715) (45,038)  (45,723)
(18,625) (25,292) 11,139 (9,350)  (17,682)
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